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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

ERBE

Dear valued shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Kin Yat Holdings Limited (the “Company” or
“Kin Yat”, and, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”),
| am pleased to present to you the results for the year
ended 31 March 2023 (the “Year” or 'FY2023’).

MARKET OVERVIEW

FY2023 represents a tough year for most of the
companies from every industry, with consumer goods
and manufacturing businesses particularly hard-hit by the
drastic macro changes during the Year. In early 2022,
the Russia-Ukraine conflict has created notable supply
chain disruptions across the globe, drastically increasing
commodity prices and logistic cost. The potential of a
sustained war, growing inflation, rising interest rates,
along with the lingering COVID-19 impact, have also
casted further uncertainties on future economic outlook.
Consumers, especially those in Europe and the U.S.,
reacted by becoming increasingly conservative and price-
sensitive over purchases of non-daily goods. As a result,
sales of most consumer electronic products subsequently
dropped, prohibiting retailers and distributors from
ordering replenishment. The Group’s branded customers
were also being forced to delay or reduce their orders
amid the lack of visibility.

On the production-end, China, being the world’s largest
manufacturer as well as the Group’s major production
location, also saw unprecedented challenges during the
Year. In the hope to avoid mass infections and incur a
growing burden on its medical system, the country has
pursued a zero-COVID policy that was typified by strict
and frequent lockdowns. Raw materials and parts supply
became difficult within the country, with labour availability
also becoming a growing bottleneck. As a result, the
Group’s production in Shenzhen and Shaoguan were
also unavoidably affected, suffering from significant cost
pressure and diseconomies of scale.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

MARKET OVERVIEW (continued)

The consumer pessimism also extended to China’s real
estate market. The weak demand has led to a notable
adjustment in real estate prices, and the drop has, in turn,
led to even more hesitation from homebuyers or investors,
who faced decreasing affordability amidst a bear market
sentiment. Particularly, in 2022, sales from the 100
largest property developers in China were RMB7.6 trillion,
representing a decrease of 41.3% from last year. The poor
sales conversion and dropping prices also created notable
impairment from real estate projects across the industry.

Facing such unfavourable environment, the Group’s
priority for the Year has been resources consolidation,
cost re-engineering and improving financial position.

RESULTS OVERVIEW AND KEY
ACHIEVEMENTS IN FY2022/23

Amidst the unfavourable economic environment
dominated by inflation concerns, rising interest rates and
the COVID-19 pandemic and lockdowns, the Group was
inevitably affected, resulting in a year-on-year decline
in revenue by 47.8% to HK$1,209,602,000 (FY2022:
HK$2,316,315,000) for the Year. In line with the decrease
in revenue, gross profit (before impairment) decreased
from HK$245,532,000 last year to HK$126,665,000 for
the Year, with a gross profit margin to 10.5% (FY2022:
10.6%), mainly attributable to improving revenue mix, with
growing contributions from higher margin clients, along
with the weakening of the Renminbi (“RMB”). However,
affected by the one-off impairment loss from changes in
fair value of the Group’s real estate development projects
in Dushan County, and the manufacturing business
segments as a whole amounted to HK$297,075,000,
net loss attributable to equity holders of the Company
for the Year was HK$294,169,000 (FY2022: net profit
HK$56,858,000). If excluding such impairment, the Group
would record a net profit attributable to equity holders
of the Company of HK$2,906,000 for the Year (FY2022:
HK$56,858,000).
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

ERBE

RESULTS OVERVIEW AND KEY
ACHIEVEMENTS IN FY2022/23 (continued)

In order to better prepare for the unexpected future,
one of the key focuses during the Year was to realise
non-core assets in order to strengthen the Group’s
financial position. To this end, the Group has entered
into the Lands Resumption Agreement with Shixing
County Bureau of Natural Resources, pursuant to which
the Group would surrender the land use rights of three
parcels of land (of which around 45,000 sg.m. out of
a total of 66,000 sg.m. is attributable to the Electrical
and Electronic Products Business Segment) situated at
Huang Hua Yuan Industrial Area, Tai Ping Town, Shixing
County, Shaoguan City, Guangdong Province, along with
the erection, construction, machinery, and other relevant
assets thereon, for a cash compensation of RMB104.6
million (equivalent to HK$120.2 million) (the “Disposal’).
More details of the Disposal were disclosed in the relevant
announcements and the circular to shareholders of the
Company. The management of the Company believes the
Disposal reflects the prevailing market value of the assets,
and would greatly enhance the Group’s liquidity.

On the other hand, in response to the challenging
operating environment, the Group has since long been
implementing various measures to consolidate resources
and streamline procedures, in order to enhance efficiency
and minimise indirect expenses. The Disposal, given that
the utilisation rate of the production facilities in the Shixing
Production Centre prior to the Disposal was estimated to
be below 20%, would allow the Group to consolidate its
orders and restructure its supply chain in a more effective
manner. The move would also greatly reduce overhead
expenses, boosting production line utilisation, and in turn,
delivering operating efficiency improvement and margin
enhancement in the short-term. In summary, notable
cost re-engineering was done from top-to-bottom, from
management function to production facilities, with the aim
of maintaining a lean operating structure.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

RESULTS OVERVIEW AND KEY
ACHIEVEMENTS IN FY2022/23 (continued)

Other than cost re-engineering, the Group also strived
to expand its technology applications and product
enhancement, while improving its product quality
in order to better serve the different niche markets.
Specifically, supported by the Group’s growing reputation
and technical expertise, its Electrical and Electronic
Products Business Segment saw increasing sales from its
healthcare sector. There was also growing enquiries and
pipeline for products such as the Electronic Parking Brake
under the Motors Business Segment, where the Group
remains in keen discussion with potential partners to co-
develop new products that require strong technological
know-how, eventually boosting the Group’s margin profile.
All these should provide signs of optimism for the Group’s
short-term performance.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIES

According to the latest data from the U.S. Commerce
Department, retail sales from April 2023 in the U.S. has
reported an increase of 0.4% month-on-month for the
first time in three months. Despite the European market
remained stagnated, with February 2023 reporting a
modest sales volume drop of 0.8% month-on-month,
according to Eurostat, it highlights the fact that consumers
still have the means to spend. In expectation of a gradual
market recovery in 2023, the Group will closely follow
up with its new product pipeline, such as product co-
development opportunities from its Motors Business
Segment, in order to bring new business and revenue
streams. In addition, the Group will also resume client
acquisition and retention, so as to drive sales growth
and capacity utilisation. To enhance the Group’s financial
position, the Group would also further refine its existing
cost structure, and explore other resources consolidation
opportunities to reduce overhead expenses and improve
financial liquidity.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

ERBE

¥EMERR=-ZSE-=/=-=%
FANEERR (2

B Ak N B AR 1 o 7 o B IR B h HE A L R A e
FARNEER RBEALERRE UE
RS FIETS BBHE - B3RA
EETHEANSBNEMEE BR2RE
FEQEL DB T BRI 275 85 & B 18
ol BREBSBETHETHE4E
SEEEQMMBMEBMARNES mAL
B BB A R BRI 0 LA LR
REBRARMABOTER BT RKIE
HAEEMFIBRR - FERSREEER
NEENGHEERBLE -

RIR R R

BEEZEEETINGEIEE B =-=F
MAK  EBENZTEHEE-M@AREXNIE
A R0.4% - EABMMMBINATER IR
BEEGTENEE T -=F—" AN

BHERINFE -BAH_FT_=—Fm5EHH
BEHER  AREBEYREENERRE
(WERXBDENERSFREKRS) X
R A R AR o SN - REE IR
BIRERRREEES  HHHEEELER IR
FERERR - RRARNKEOMBEAR
AEBITRKE - FTEBEEREXNIERE &
REMBERBAHS  URIEBRI RN
EVHRIME -

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &#&EE AR A a]



CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

ERBE

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIES
(continued)

In the medium-to-long term, the Group remains cautiously
optimistic over the consumer markets in Europe and the
U.S. To better meet its customer demand, the Group will
explore the possibility of further expanding its production
base outside of China and potentially in Southeast Asia,
providing customers with more flexible and automated
manufacturing solutions that can in turn, raise customer
stickiness and drive order volume. The Group will also
explore the possibility of introducing its own original brand
manufacturing business, that can complement existing
customers’ portfolios to enhance brand awareness and
profit margin.
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management team and our dedicated employees who
devoted themselves to the Group during the Year. Their
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partners and shareholders, for their dedicated support
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products, more insights, and more fruitful returns in the
near future.

CHENG Chor Kit
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Kin Yat is one of the leading industrial enterprises engaged
in the development and production of niche, advanced
and quality electrical and electronic products, as well
as electric motor drives and related products under its
own house brand. In recent years, the Company also
embarked on the development of two real estate projects
in Dushan County (“Dushan”), Guizhou Province, China.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 March 2023 (the “Year” or
“FY2023”), it represents yet another challenging year to
the Group as a result of the harsh operating environment.
Since COVID-19 first broke out in early 2020, it continued
to bring lingering impact to both demand and supply side.
In the case of China, where the Group’s manufacturing
facilities are situated, it has implemented a set of rather
comprehensive anti-epidemic measures during the Year.
The sustained lockdowns have in turn created notable
pressure on the Group’s operation, affecting labour
availability, raw material supply, production efficiency,
and export logistics. Meanwhile, the Russia-Ukraine
conflict has triggered a reshuffle in the global supply
chain and a surge in commodity prices. The uncertainties,
compounded by the rising interest rates and inflation, have
together made global consumers be more conservative,
prioritising savings and necessities instead of purchases.
As a result, brand owners in the United States of America
(“U.S.”). and Europe also became more prudent in
placing orders and new product development, leading to
a decrease in sales volume, especially for the Group’s
Electrical and Electronic Products Business Segment.
The Group’s overall turnover during the Year decreased
by 47.8% vyear-over-year (“YoY”), from approximately
HK$2,316,315,000 to approximately HK$1,209,602,000.
The Group’s total external turnover by segment is
analysed as follows:

° Electrical and Electronic Products Business
Segment (“E&E Segment”): HK$459,846,000,
representing 38.0% of the Group’s consolidated
turnover for the Year (for the year ended 31 March
2022 (“FY2022"): HK$1,267,957,000, 54.7%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWNR DT

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

o Motors Business Segment (“Motors Segment”):
HK$745,516,000, contributing 61.6% of the
Group’s consolidated turnover for the Year
(FY2022: HK$1,044,052,000, 45.1%).

° Real Estate Development Business Segment:
HK$4,240,000, representing 0.4% of the Group’s
consolidated turnover for the Year (FY2022:
HK$4,306,000, 0.2%).

To counter the impact of a decreasing order book in
its manufacturing business segments in general, the
Group swiftly streamlines its operations in order to
maintain operation efficiency and margins. Overall gross
profit (before impairment) decreased 48.4% YoY to
HK$126,665,000 for the Year, yet gross profit margin
hovered at 10.5% (FY2022: 10.6%) despite a decreased
turnover. This highlights the combination of improving cost
control, the absence of a previous significant client which
has a low margin profile, as well as the depreciation of
Renminbi (“RMB”) against the U.S. dollars (“US$”) during
the Year. After the inclusion of the non-recurring and
non-cash impairment losses incurred by the Real Estate
Development Business Segment and the manufacturing
business segments as a whole of HK$240,078,000 and
HK$50,790,000, respectively, the Group reported a gross
loss (after impairment) of HK$164,203,000 (FY2022:
Gross profit HK$245,532,000) for the Year.

In face of the uncertainties, the Group also strived
to control its indirect expenses. The Group further
consolidated its production bases to reduce overheads;
at the same time, it also monetised some idle, non-core
assets in order to boost cash level. Nonetheless, the
results of the Group for the Year was impacted by the
non-recurring and non-cash impairment losses incurred by
the Real Estate Development Business Segment and the
manufacturing business segments as a whole amounted
to HK$297,075,000, due to the long-suffering China’s
property market and the tough manufacturing market
landscape. After the said impairment losses, the Company
have a loss for the Year of HK$294,169,000 as compared
to a profit for the year of HK$56,858,000 for FY2022.
Basic loss per share for the Year was HK67.01 cents
(FY2022: Basic earnings per share HK12.95 cents).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATIONAL REVIEW

Manufacturing Businesses

The Group operates two manufacturing business
segments on three major production centres in China.
Two of which are based in Guangdong Province,
situated in Songgang, Baoan District, Shenzhen City
(“Shenzhen”) and Shixing County, Shaoguan City
(“Shixing”), respectively, with the third located in Dushan,
Guizhou Province. The Group’s production bases are also
supplemented by two production facilities in Malaysia for
the Motors Segment and the E&E Segment, respectively.

Electrical and Electronic Products Business Segment
The E&E Segment provides development, design, and
manufacturing services for four main product categories:
(i) robotics, (i) juvenile products and baby care products,
(iii) smart products and (iv) healthcare products.

FY2023 continued to present the business with
unparalleled difficulties. Within a span of merely twelve
months, the global community encountered sporadic
outbreaks of COVID-19, manufacturing bottleneck from
China’s nationwide lockdowns, slowdown of economies,
weakened customer sentiment, growing inflation and
interest risks, as well as supply chain disruptions.
The turbulent FY2023 has also led to a prevailing
conservatism among brand owners, particularly those
based in Europe and the U.S., where inventory backlog
issues have become increasingly pressing. Brand owners
understandably reduced their order volume in face of
the shrinking demand, and chose to wait for a more
welcoming economy before placing orders and developing
new products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWNR DT

OPERATIONAL REVIEW (continued)

Manufacturing Businesses (continued)

Electrical and Electronic Products Business Segment
(continued)

Despite such challenges, FY2023 is the first year of the
Segment, in the absence of a previous significant client,
for its transition from high single-client contributions
with low margins, to a set of diversified clients from
various applications that can offer margins at normal
market norms. Although this strategic move has led to a
temporary decrease in sales volume and revenue from the
robotics sector, the Company expects it would lay a solid
foundation for future sustainable growth, by freeing up
the necessary production capacity and resources for new
applications and new clients.

As a result of the aforementioned factors, external
turnover of the E&E Segment decreased by 63.7%
to approximately HK$459,846,000 for the Year
(FY2022: HK$1,267,957,000), accounting for 38.0%
(FY2022: 54.7%) of the Group’s overall revenue
(for illustration purpose only, such external turnover
in FY2023 as compared to the adjusted external
turnover of HK$645,937,000 in FY2022 before the
turnover contributions from the aforesaid significant
client, representing a drop of approximately 28.8%).
Overall segment results were turned from a profit of
HK$37,648,000 in FY2022 to a loss of HK$15,211,000
during the Year, reflecting the untypical cost structure of
the operations during this transitional period.

With regard to sectors, the recently built healthcare
products sector exhibited promising growth potential,
despite being in its early stage of development. It has
successfully secured several new projects with various
clients, including a niche medical product that would
further diversify the Group’s product offerings. The
Group views the sector as a potential diversification and
growth driver in the long-term, and intends to leverage its
expertise and experience in the Internet of Things (“loT”) to
develop innovative and smart healthcare products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATIONAL REVIEW (continued)

Manufacturing Businesses (continued)

Electrical and Electronic Products Business Segment
(continued)

For Future View

Looking ahead, while the overall consumer market
continue to show hesitation and uncertainties due to the
global economic slowdown, the Segment is committed
to, taking this opportunity, laying foundations by building
up its portfolio of diversified client base, strengthening
its management team, and consolidating its production
facilities as well as prudently implementing its “China
Plus One” strategy so that it is well poised to gain from
the ensuing economic recovery and improved consumer
market sentiment.

To cater the growing demand for a “China Plus One”
manufacturing solution, the Segment first consolidated
its production facilities in China during the Year, and at
the same time, expanding its capacity in Malaysia, in
order to make good use of the comparative advantages
of each country, as well as providing customers with a
more flexible and cost-competitive solution. Given the
synchronised infrastructure already in place, it is expected
that once the utilisation ramps up, the dual-production
across China and Malaysia should yield notable
operational efficiency and margin enhancement. In the
long run, the Segment will also continue to explore other
possible destinations across Southeast Asia that would
allow quick regional market penetration and cost-effective
production.

On that front, the Segment leverages on its existing
credentials to enhance its position particularly in juvenile
products and baby care products sector in various
markets. It is endeavour to specifically target growing
sectors, and allocate more resources to the newly-
developed healthcare business to increase scale and
market share with focus on research and development
(“R&D”) capability enhancement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWNR DT

OPERATIONAL REVIEW (continued)

Manufacturing Businesses (continued)

Motors Business Segment

The Motors Segment focuses on the development,
design, manufacturing and sales of electric motor drives
and related products, ranging from direct-current (“DC”)
motors to encoders and related products. Recently, its
product offering was extended to larger-sized motor
drives, brushless DC motors and gearbox, which is
under the category “Motor Plus”, as a means to capture
the latest technological trends and market demand and
to drive up the average unit price of its products sold.
Supported by its major production facilities located in
Shixing county, which is supplemented by the production
facility in Malaysia, the Segment has essentially
established a production and R&D platform, able to
provide customers with innovative, flexible, closer-to-
market, yet cost-competitive manufacturing solutions.
The Segment has been categorised into four sectors
of application, namely automobiles, office automation
equipment, toys, and household appliances.

Since the outbreak of COVID-19, various governments
have imposed relevant restrictions which brought notable
changes to people’s everyday lives. Work-from-home
became a trend, and the increasing exposure at home
setting also boost the demand of household appliances.
Yet, there was a notable change in consumer behaviour
in 2022 as restrictions were lifted in most countries, with
people embracing a blended working style that generally
requires fewer appliances support at home. Compounded
by the surging commodities’ prices and growing cost of
living, demand for such appliances, especially in Europe
and the U.S., suffered a drop in sales volume during the
Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATIONAL REVIEW (continued)

Manufacturing Businesses (continued)

Motors Business Segment (continued)

In addition, affected by the long-tail effects of the supply
chain crisis from COVID-19 and the Russia-Ukraine
conflict, inflation soared during the Year, which notably
affected consumer sentiment around the world. Given
the contraction in downstream demand, most of the
Segment’s clients have also decided to adjust their
orders to avoid over-investment and excess inventory.
Thus, external turnover for the Segment for the Year
was HK$745,516,000 (FY2022: HK$1,044,052,000),
representing a decrease of 28.6% YoY.

Facing the challenging operating environment, the
Segment took swift action to adjust its production
schedule, while closely monitoring its inventory level and
hedging key raw materials prices and RMB exposure to
maintain operation efficiency and margins. The Segment
also has been consolidating the resources of its two major
production facilities in Shixing and Dushan, in an effort
to increase the overall utilisation rate of the production
facilities in China and thereby further enhance production
efficiency.

After taking into account the significant non-recurring
impairments on property, plant and equipment of
HK$36,714,000 related to the consolidation of production
facilities and optimisation of product mix, which shall
path way for reduced depreciation in the coming financial
years, the segment results for the Year was HK$322,000
(FY2022: HK$71,350,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWNR DT

OPERATIONAL REVIEW (continued)

Manufacturing Businesses (continued)

Motors Business Segment (continued)

Looking ahead

Looking into 2024, bloated retail inventories and the
battle against inflation are likely to continue. To stay
competitive in this difficult environment, the Segment
will streamline and consolidate its production capacity in
China with an effort to enhance the production utilisation
rate so as to in turn optimise the operation efficiency,
and will maintain constant communication with its clients
in order to raise order book visibility. It will also continue
its stringent cost control measures, and retain a health
cash level in case of any uncertainties. The “China Plus
One” long-term expansion plan will also be prudently
evaluated and implemented given its long-term benefits
yet heavy investment, while the Segment will also continue
to increase overall automation level to enhance its
competitiveness.

In terms of sales acquisition, benefited from early sales
planning, the Segment was able to obtain certain new
pipelines and further diversify its product portfolio. Unlike
bare motors which are standardised products, most of
them are potential Motor Plus projects, that represent
tailormade solutions with higher price point.

The Segment will also continue its R&D investment to
support with its product diversification strategy to continue
to build up its presence in sectors and applications
including water pump and automotive door handle
presenter with higher price point and margins and stable
business volume. During the Year, its Electric Parking
Brake (“EPB”) motors received recognition from the
market for its good quality on current and noise control.
Due to safety reasons, EPB has higher requirements for
its components, and that also translates to higher motor
price point and margins. As China reopening its economy,
consumer sentiment is expected to gradually recover.
The Segment will actively promote its products to more
potential clients from the automotive sector, aiming to
capture more market shares.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATIONAL REVIEW (continued)

Non-manufacturing Business

Real Estate Development Business Segment

During the Year, the Segment continued to hold two
residential property development projects in Dushan
Economic Development Zone, namely The Royale
Cambridge Residences and The Jardin Montsouris.

In 2022, China’s property market remained sluggish.
Despite the rollout of a flurry of policies to assist
homebuyers and property developers, the market lacks
confidence and momentum to recover. According to the
National Bureau of Statistics of China (“NBS”), China’s
nationwide property sector fell 5.1% YoY in 2022. The
property market in Dushan, being an underprivileged
county in China, was even more adversely affected. As
disclosed in our MD&A of the Group’s FY2023 interim
report, the management of the Group made a strategic
decision to shelve the further development of Phases
1B, 1C, and 1D of The Jardin Montsouris (the “Shelved
Phases”), after taking into account the evaluation of
the Segment’s valuation and prospect. On account of
such decision, the whole finance, development, and
construction costs attributable to the Shelved Phases
in the amount of HK$120,373,000 were fully written
off in FY2023. Given the sluggish property market
sentiment in Dushan, an aggregate impairment loss
of HK$119,705,000 of both the unsold inventory of
the completed properties for sale and the properties
under development with respect to both residential
units and commercial properties of the two projects
due to diminution in value was incurred and recognised
in the Year. As a result, after the non-cash and non-
recurring impairment provisions mentioned above of
HK$240,078,000 in total, the Segment recorded a
loss of HK$257,521,000 during the Year (FY2022:
HK$13,503,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWNR DT

OPERATIONAL REVIEW (continued)

Non-manufacturing Business (continued)

Real Estate Development Business Segment
(continued)

The Royale Cambridge Residences

With a total site area of approximately 83,166 sq.m., the
project is divided into two phases. As of 31 March 2023,
completed gross floor area (“GFA”) of the residential
properties of the first phase for sale was 35,338 sqg.m.,
comprising 116 units of villa, while the Segment kept on
putting on hold the development of the second phase in
the Year. During the Year, 4 units were sold, bringing the
total number of sold villas to 48 as of 31 March 2023.
Out of the 4, 3 units sold were for the settlement and
offsetting a part of the outstanding construction and
development costs of The Jardin Montsouris. Due to
the sluggish property market sentiment in Dushan, the
prevailing relevant comparable property prices were below
the carrying amounts of properties under development
and completed properties for sale with respect to both
residential units and commercial properties, an impairment
loss of HK$48,774,000 (FY2022: Nil) for this project was
therefore incurred during the Year.

The Jardin Montsouris

With a total site area of approximately 66,666 sq.m., the
Segment is currently on course to complete its Phase
IA development, which comprises a total of 460 units
of apartment with a total GFA of 64,427 sqg.m. for sale
upon completion. The Segment proactively managed
to negotiate and agree with construction contractors
to partly settle the outstanding construction and
development costs by selling 34 residential units to the
contractors, bringing the aggregate number of residential
units contracted for sale to 280, with a total consideration
of approximately RMB120,186,000. As of 31 March
2023, approximately 61% of 460 units of Phase 1A were
contracted for sale. However, contracted sales were not
able to be recognised as revenue, as the final acceptance
certificates for such project have not been issued during
the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATIONAL REVIEW (continued)

Non-manufacturing Business (continued)

Real Estate Development Business Segment
(continued)

The Jardin Montsouris (continued)

In consideration of the gloomy outlook of the property
market in China and particularly in Dushan, along with
other reasons as mentioned in our MD&A of the Group’s
FY2023 interim report, the Segment has decided to
discontinue the further development of the Shelved
Phases during the Year. The site of the Shelved Phases
comprises a land area of 45,869 sqg.m., with 275,867
sg.m. of gross floor area of the properties yet to be
developed. On account of such a decision, the whole
finance, development, and construction costs (except
for the related land parcel which value was assessed
and appraised in accordance with the relevant valuation
conducted by an independent valuer) attributable to the
Shelved Phases in the aggregate amount of approximately
HK$120,373,000 was fully written off in the Year (FY2022:
Nil). Due to the sluggish property market sentiment
in Dushan, an impairment loss of HK$70,931,000 of
properties under development and completed properties
for sale with respect to both residential units and
commercial properties was incurred during the Year.
This, together with the abovementioned written off of
HK$120,373,000, has resulted in a total impairment loss of
HK$191,304,000 for this project during the Year (FY2022:
Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWNR DT

OPERATIONAL REVIEW (continued)

Non-manufacturing Business (continued)

Real Estate Development Business Segment
(continued)

For Future View

According to the latest statistics from NBS, new-home
prices in 70 cities, excluding state-subsidised housing,
dropped from 0.44% in March to 0.32% in April 2023.
Despite sales and prices enjoyed a short-lived rebound
following a historical slump of about 18 months, signs
of weakness remain obvious in the residential property
market. The latest Reuter survey also reported that
China’s deeply troubled property sector is set to see home
sales fall by a median of 8% for the second straight year
in 2023, despite a slow down in drop when compared to
the slump of approximately 25% in 2022. As a result, the
Group remains cautious over the outlook of the Segment.
Looking into the next financial year, the Segment expects
to complete the remaining minor construction work and
auxiliary works of Phase 1A of The Jardin Montsouris,
bringing it to practical completion. It is estimated that
the relevant final acceptance certificates will be issued in
the third quarter of 2023, and the Segment will continue
its efforts to sell the remaining already and soon-to-
completed property units. In light of the prevailing
depressed residential market condition in Dushan, the
sales of the property units of two real estate property
development projects are a very challenging task although
we cautiously expect there might be a boost in the sales
growth when the Guiyang-Nanning high-speed train
station near the sites of the projects is operational soon
this year. The Segment has been exploring the possibility
for realising the projects as a whole for a reasonable
consideration while the Segment is endeavour to sell
property units to individual end-users.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK

The International Monetary Fund has recently published
the “World Economic Outlook April 2023” report, outlining
a forecast of 2.8% growth in 2023 compared with 3.4%
in 2022. Global inflation is also set to fall from 8.7% in
2022 to 7.0% in 2023, on the back of lower commodity
prices. It further raises 2023 economic outlook for Asia in
May, seeing China and India making up half of the global
growth, with the reopening of China and growth of its
economy likely generating positive spill-overs.

In light of China’s reopening, the Group will actively
extend its customer reach in China, in order to seize the
opportunities from subsequent economic recovery. As
consumer sentiment recovers, the Group believes that
the automotive and household appliance sectors will
also enjoy bottom out, providing the Group with more
opportunities particularly for its business relating to EPB
motors.

Meanwhile, the Group will cautiously manage its working
capital, and continue to adopt stringent cost control
measures to retain a higher cash level for any upcoming
uncertainties. At the same time, the Group will also
constantly review its assets, and keep a keen eye on
monetisation opportunities for its non-core resources,
allowing it to consolidate resources for future R&D
investment and market penetration.

DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to declare any final dividend
for the Year (2022: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWNR DT

FINANCIAL CONDITIONS, LIQUIDITY
AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group primarily used its internally generated cash
flows and banking facilities to finance its operations
and business development. The Group has always
been executing a prudent and conservative strategy
in its financial management. As at 31 March 2023, the
Group had time deposits of HK$10,006,000 (31 March
2022: HK$13,355,000), cash and bank balances of
HK$203,372,000 (31 March 2022: HK$256,934,000),
and net current assets of HK$257,905,000 (31 March
2022: HK$525,724,000). As at 31 March 20283,
shareholders’ equity was HK$1,104,685,000 (31 March
2022: HK$1,589,910,000). Total consolidated banking
facilities of the Group from all banks as at 31 March 2023
amounted to approximately HK$548,486,000 (31 March
2022: HK$661,742,000). As at 31 March 2023, total bank
borrowings amounted to HK$351,265,000 (31 March
2022: HK$529,147,000).

As at 31 March 2023, the bank borrowings of the
Group was repayable within one year amounted to
HK$269,065,000 (31 March 2022: HK$417,347,000) and
the remaining balance of HK$82,200,000 (31 March 2022:
HK$111,800,000) was repayable within second to fifth
years.

As at 31 March 2023, the current ratio of the Group
(current assets divided by current liabilities) was
maintained at 1.31 times (31 March 2022: 1.46 times)
and the gearing ratio of the Group (total bank borrowings
divided by total equity) was 31.8% (31 March 2022:
33.3%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2023, the total issued share capital of
the Company was HK$43,896,000 (31 March 2022:
HK$43,896,000), comprising 438,960,000 (31 March
2022: 438,960,000) ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each.
There was no change in the share capital of the Company
during the Year.

CHARGE ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

The Group did not have bank deposit (31 March
2022: HK$12,326,000) and investment property (31
March 2022: HK$46,789,000) pledged to a bank for
banking facilities as at 31 March 2023 (31 March 2022:
HK$61,631,000). Part of the Group’s other borrowings
amounting to HK$12,882,000 as at 31 March 2023 were
secured by certain properties under development and
certain completed properties held for sale in an aggregate
amount of HK$19,651,000 (31 March 2022: Nil).

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and transactions
are principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
RMB or U.S. dollars. The Group does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy on it. In order to manage and
minimise the foreign exchange risk, the management shall
from time to time review and monitor the foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging the significant foreign
currency exposure when appropriate and necessary.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s financial facilities are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars and RMB and interests on bank borrowings
are chargeable based on certain interest margin over the
Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate and the People’s Bank
of China lending rate which are therefore of floating rate in
nature. The Group has not entered into any interest rate
risk hedge to mitigate exposure to interest rate risk during
the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN WK D

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 March 20283, the Group employed around 4,600
full-time employees, of which less than 70 of them were
stationed in Hong Kong headquarters with the remaining
working mainly in the PRC and Malaysia.

The Board’s remuneration committee of the Company
made recommendation to the Board on the policy and
structure of the Company for all remuneration of Directors,
reviewed and determined the remuneration package of
individual executive Director and senior management of
the Company with reference to the Board’s corporate
goals and objectives, responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere within the Group and in the
market. The Group remunerates its employees largely
in accordance with prevailing industry standards. In
Hong Kong, the Group’s employee benefits include staff
retirement scheme, medical scheme and performance
bonus. In the PRC and Malaysia, the Group provides its
employee’s staff welfare and allowances in accordance
with the prevailing labour laws.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Register of Members will be closed from Wednesday,
23 August 2023 to Monday, 28 August 2023, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will
be effected. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at
the annual general meeting of the Company to be held
on Monday, 28 August 2023, all transfers of shares,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be
lodged with the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong,
Tricor Tengis Limited, at 17/F., Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, for registration not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 22 August 2023.

Cheng Chor Kit
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS

ESERHE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheng Chor Kit, aged 71, is the chairman and the
chief executive officer of the Company. He is the founder
of the Group and is responsible for the Group’s overall
operation and strategic planning. He is also a member
of the Board’s remuneration committee and nomination
committee. Mr. Cheng served as a member of the
Guangdong Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference (the “CPPCC”) and a
Standard member of the Shaoguan Committee of the
CPPCC. Mr. Cheng has over 50 years of experience in the
toy industry.

Mr. Liu Tat Luen, aged 58, is an executive Director since
December 2009. Mr. Liu holds a Bachelor Degree in
Science (Quantity Surveying) from the University of Hong
Kong and a Master Degree in Business Administration
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Liu served as a director and
a responsible officer in a corporate finance advisory
firm (type 6 regulated activities under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) in Hong Kong and
has over 20 years of working experience in the financial
industry in Asia as a whole.

Mr. Cheng Tsz To, aged 36, is an executive Director
since June 2014. After graduating with a Master’s degree
of Engineering in Mechatronics with honors from the
University of Sheffield, the United Kingdom, Mr. Cheng
joined the Group in 2010 and is the chief executive officer
of the Electrical & Electronic Business Segment of the
Group. He is the son of Mr. Cheng Chor Kit, the executive
Director and the controlling shareholder (as defined under
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)) of
the Company and is the younger brother of Mr. Cheng Tsz
Hang, the executive Director of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Cheng Tsz Hang, aged 39, is an executive Director
since March 2016. After studied Physics and Mathematics
in the Loughborough University, the United Kingdom, Mr.
Cheng joined the Group in 2007. He is the chief executive
officer of the Motors Business Segment of the Group since
July 2013. Mr. Cheng is the son of Mr. Cheng Chor Kit,
the executive Director and the controlling shareholder (as
defined under the Listing Rules) of the Company and is the
elder brother of Mr. Cheng Tsz To, the executive Director
of the Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr. Fung Wah Cheong, Vincent, aged 67, was appointed
as an executive Director in August 2005 and a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. On 1 April 2021,
Dr. Fung resigned as the executive Director and all the
directorship of the subsidiaries of the Company, and
was simultaneously re-designated as a non-executive
Director of the Company. Dr. Fung has been, and shall
remain as, the member of the Board’s remuneration
committee and nomination committee prior to and upon
his re-designation. Dr. Fung holds a Master of Science
Degree in Engineering Business Management from
the University of Warwick, and a Doctoral Degree in
Engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
Dr. Fung has over 30 years of experience in the toy
industry. Prior to joining the Group, he worked as an
engineering director in a sizeable toys manufacturing and
distribution company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS

ESBERFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Chi Wai, aged 57, has been an independent
non-executive Director since September 2004. He is
the chairman of the Board’s nomination committee
and a member of the Board’s audit committee and
remuneration committee. Mr. Wong currently serves as an
independent non-executive director of C&D International
Investment Group Limited (stock code: 1908) and Arts
Optical International Holdings Limited (stock code:
1120), all of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. From June 2003 to September 2020,
Mr. Wong also served as an independent non-executive
director of Bonjour Holdings Limited (stock code: 0653).
Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor’'s Degree in Social
Science and was awarded a post-graduate certificate in
laws by the University of Hong Kong in 1988 and 1993,
respectively. He is a practising certified public accountant
in Hong Kong and an associate member of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He
has over 30 years of experience in the accountancy
profession. Other than his private practice in accounting,
Mr. Wong has been admitted as a solicitor at the High
Court in March 2019 and currently practices as a
consultant in a law firm.

Dr. Sun Kwai Yu, Vivian, aged 61, has been an
independent non-executive Director since September
2004. She is the chairperson of the Board’s audit
committee and a member of the Board’s remuneration
committee and nomination committee. Currently, Dr. Sun
is a fellow member of the CPA Australia.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Cheung Wang Ip, aged 62, has been an independent
non-executive Director since July 2014. He is a member of
the Board’s audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee. On 20 September 2022, he was
appointed as the chairman of the Board’s remuneration
committee. Mr. Cheung is a Chartered General Practice
Surveyor by profession and has over 30 years of
professional work experience in the property industry and
related fields, including valuation and feasibility study. Mr.
Cheung is a corporate member of both the Royal Institute
of Chartered Surveyors and the Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors (General Practice) as well as a member of
Associacao da Avaliacao da Propriedade de Macau.
He is a member of the China Real Estate Chamber of
Commerce Hong Kong Chapter and a member of China
Real Estate Appraiser in the PRC. In addition, Mr. Cheung
served as a member of the Shanxi Provincial Committee
of the CPPCC. Currently, Mr. Cheung is the Operation
Head of Hong Kong and Macau and an executive director
of Vigers Appraisal and Consulting Limited (“Vigers”), he
is also an executive director of Vigers Macao Company
Limited (Vigers is an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of
a listed company whose shares listed on the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited). Prior to joining
Vigers in 2006, Mr. Cheung was a senior director of the
Valuation and Consultancy Department in Savills Hong
Kong Limited, where he held the position of the Head
of Hong Kong and Macau valuation team. He had held
various positions in companies including the Mass Transit
Railway Corporation, Guangzhou Investment Company
Limited and Jones Lang Wootton.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

ESERE

The Directors of the Company present their report and the
audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. Details of the principal activities of the Company’s
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 14 to the financial
statements. The principal activities of the subsidiaries
consisted of the design, manufacture and sale of
electrical and electronic products, motor drives, other
manufacturing businesses and real estate development.
There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group’s principal activities during the Year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s loss for the Year and the Group’s financial
position at that date are set out in the financial statements
on pages 93 to 239 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend to the shareholders for the Year.

DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable donation of
HK$62,000 (2022: HK$30,000).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business and the performance of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 is provided
in the chapters of “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages
4 to 8 and pages 9 to 25, respectively, of this annual
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group’s main operations are carried out both in Hong
Kong and Mainland China and are regulated by the local
laws and regulations accordingly. During the Year and up
to the date of this annual report, the Group has complied
with the relevant laws and regulations that have significant
impact on Hong Kong and Mainland China.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES

The Group faces various risks and uncertainties in
operations. To cope with the risks, the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems are in place
to ensure the principal risks are continuously identified,
monitored and managed on an established basis.

COVID-19 global pandemic

The global economy has been hit hard since the outbreak
of the COVID-19 pandemic. The epidemic changed
ultimate customers’ confidence and their buying habits,
resulting in reducing our customers’ purchase orders,
and ultimately, a drop in overall sales of our products.
Meanwhile, the sustained lockdowns on the mainland also
affected our labour availability, supply chain and export
logistic were also considerable. Under such interlocking
circumstances, the risks faced by the Group’s businesses
at all levels have been exacerbated. Even though the
epidemic prevention measures have been gradually
relaxed since the beginning of 2023, the years of the
epidemic have left us with many unresolved problems, and
it will take time for the resumption of normalcy.

Macroeconomic and political environments

The turbulent factors in the world order, such as the
Russia-Ukraine conflict, the impact of the epidemic, and
the game between great powers have contributed to
global inflation. Since 2022, the global economies have
adjusted their base interest rates to control the high
inflation risks brought about by their quantitative easing
policy. Doubtlessly, the action not only slowed down the
post-epidemic economic resumption but also significantly
increased the Group’s cash outflow, eroded its operating
performance and increased its financial pressure.

Details of the Group’s foreign currency exposure
and interest rate risk are provided in the chapter of
“Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages
9 to 25 of this annual report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

ESERE

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES (continued)

Supply chain risks

As a manufacturing corporation, a stable supply of quality
materials is a prerequisite for and pivotal to the production
of excellent products. The disruptions in the supply chain
and logistics caused by the epidemic have now stabilised
but the strong demand for a variety of products collided
with persistent supply shortages and drives widespread
prices of materials up. Nonetheless, through the long-
term business relationships with a number of suppliers, we
perceive the risk of the supply chain to still be manageable
and are confident that we can secure a stable supply
of required materials at reasonable prices to fulfill our
operational needs.

People risks

The Group’s future development strongly relies on
recruiting the right talents. As discussed above, during
the epidemic, many employees decided to quit their jobs
and return to their hometowns, resulting in a shortage
of skilled employees. A shortage or loss of talents with
suitable skills or experience may pose a potential risk to
the Group’s achievement of its strategic objectives. Other
than providing competitive salaries and benefits to attract
and retain qualified talents, the Group also took this
opportunity to improve automation to fill the shortage of
manpower.

The abovementioned do not present an exhaustive
picture of the risks and uncertainties facing the Group.
The Management of the Group would closely monitor
these factors and evaluate their impacts on the Group’s
operation from time to time, and formulate and devise
appropriate policies and measures to cope with the
threats of the risks posed to the operation.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAFF,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND
SHAREHOLDERS

The Group’s success depends on the support from
key stakeholders which comprise our staff, customers
suppliers as well as our shareholders.

The Group values our employees as the most significant
and valuable assets to the Group, a comprehensive
benefit package is offered to each employee for
recognising their efforts. The Group also has a significant
mission for providing a healthy and safety workplace to
all employees. During the Year, no significant accident
occurred due to workplace accident.

The Group commits to provide quality services and
products to each customer, any complaints from our
customers are handled and investigated in thorough and
efficient manner.

The purchase of goods and contracting of services are
based solely on need, quality and price of the goods and
services. A fair and open competition in procurement with
high ethical standards promoted by the Group assure
high products quality at all times to gain the confidence of
customers.

For details of relationship with the shareholders of the
Company can be found in the chapter of “Corporate
Governance Report” set out on pages 51 to 78 of this
annual report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results, assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set
out on page 240 of this annual report. The summary does
not form part of the audited financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of the Group’s bank borrowings as at 31
March 2023 are set out in Note 28 to the financial
statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the share capital and the share
options of the Company during the Year, together with the
reasons therefor, are set out in Note 30 and Note 31 to
the financial statements, respectively.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and
the Group during the Year are set out in Note 32 to the
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity, respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-Laws”) or the laws of
Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2023, the Company’s reserves available
for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie,
comprising the contributed surplus and the retained
profits, amounted to HK$448,956,000. Under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the Company’s
contributed surplus of HK$104,750,000 may be
distributed under certain circumstances. In addition, the
Company’s share premium account with a balance of
HK$156,015,000 may be distributed in the form of fully
paid bonus shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for 52% of the total sales for the
Year and sales to the largest customer included therein
amounted to 17% of the total sales.

Purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for 20% of the total purchases of the Group for
the Year and purchases from the largest supplier included
therein amounted to 5% of the total purchases.

As far as the Directors are aware, neither the Directors,
their associates (as defined under Listing Rules), nor
those shareholders which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital, had any beneficial interest in the Group’s
five largest customers and suppliers.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EBAR A7

B s e
ARFARKEEZRARBREL B HER
B8 7 R 5 BI85 R ESOR M i
31

(R
ARABRAGERAFREZFREDFBD
RIER B R 32 R r A s BB R A

BrBERE
REARRZABAMA(TARTAA HER
EEDIMEEHARBARLIIMRARE
REHBENDZEBEEERIMAE -

Al 7 Ik fa 8
R-ZTE-_=F=A=+—H AQFAE
REDEE/ SEYHRZEE BESH
A& NMIREB & - 5448,956,000/% T °
BEBRE-NAN—FRAE RETFTEBR
AR A A 9k A& E0104,750,0000 JT 2 8
AB# I KRB ZRMDBEREHSR B
156,015,00078 7T + 7] LA %K 2 AR AT A% 2 2 =
Dk °

FERXFRMER

KEERN AEBRAAEFEZHERGAT
EHEBRES2% HA R AT ZHEREL
THEBTE17% o

AEBDIAREEZRBREAKE ZANF
EREBE20%  EPHAHER 2 RKEBR
EERIBAATEE S o

REFEAA BBF REIHMBEA(EER
EHRA) HREFEMARFEARADEITR
KEBAEZBR EREAKERARERP
Rt EE 2 MBS

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z ¥



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Chor Kit (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Liu Tat Luen

Mr. Cheng Tsz To

Mr. Cheng Tsz Hang

Mr. Lee Kim Wa, Winston*

Non-executive Director
Dr. Fung Wah Cheong, Vincent

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Chi Wai

Dr. Sun Kwai Yu, Vivian

Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul**

Mr. Cheung Wang Ip

* Mr. Lee Kim Wa, Winston resigned as an executive
Director on 2 December 2022.

> Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul deceased on 12 September
2022.

Biographical details in respect of the Directors at the
date of this annual report is provided in the chapter of
“Biographical Details of the Directors” set out in pages 26
to 29 of this annual report.

In accordance with the Bye-law 87(1), Mr. Cheng Tsz To,
Dr. Fung Wah Cheong, Vincent (“Dr. Fung”), Dr. Sun Kwai
Yu, Vivian (“Dr. Sun”) and Mr. Cheung Wang Ip, being the
Directors who should retire by rotation, will retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, and,
being eligible, offer themselves, with the exception of Dr.
Fung and Dr. Sun, for re-election at the aforesaid annual
general meeting.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Dr. Fung and Dr. Sun expressed their intention not
to seek re-election as the non-executive Director and
independent non-executive Director respectively. The
Company confirms that Dr. Fung and Dr. Sun have no
disagreements with the Board, and nothing needs to
be brought to the attention of the shareholders of the
Company due to their retirement.

The Directors confirm that the Company has received from
each of its independent non-executive Directors an annual
confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule
3.18 of the Listing Rules, and the Company considers the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Bye-Law 166 of Bye-Laws, subject to
the applicable laws, every Director shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which he/she may incur or sustain
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in
or about the execution of his/her office. The Company
has taken out insurance against the liability and costs
associated with defending any proceedings which may be
brought against the Directors.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EBAR A7

BEE ()
BT REBLIE SRR EBEAE
HTEERBYFPITES - AARHER -
BRIRABITRESE  HATEERS
I MEAERESRINETAREAAT
B ESE -

EXHER ARFEREESBIUIFNTE
FRAZFERRE  RELHRAUES13
FERKFSEENBL S D ARF THHER
BRIUFNTESTRBIAL -

EEFRERX
RIBARIMAF1661K - HEREEMRT
BEEHARMEARBETEBBRIESL -
REZHTEHREZ B RS AR
EXARIZMEFMR BR REXH
BLX BEMHAXBARBZEETESHE
B RREE - ARAICHATEHHESR
hZ EMERFRZBEEREETREAR
BRR

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z ¥



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Cheng Chor Kit, the executive Director and the
chairman of the Board, entered into a service contract
with the Company commencing from 1 August 2005
without a fixed term but subject to termination by either
party giving not less than six months’ notice in writing to
the other party.

Dr. Fung Wah Cheong, Vincent, the non-executive
Director, has renewed his service contract with the
Company commencing from 1 April 2023 (for a term
of two years), subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company
in accordance with the Bye-Laws. The service contract,
unless terminated by either party giving not less than
one month’s notice in writing to the other party, the
termination of which should not be later than the end of
the two years.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
(continued)

Saved as disclosed above, all the Directors entered
into a service contract with the Company for a term of
three years, subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at the annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Bye-Laws. Each of the executive and
independent non-executive Directors, unless terminated
by either party giving not less than six months’ notice and
three months’ notice, respectively, in writing to the other
party, the termination of which should not be later than the
end of the three years.

Apart from the foregoing, no Director proposed for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2023, the interests of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO
which are required (a) to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
he/she is taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or (b) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c)
pursuant to the Model Code of Securities Transactions
by directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as
follows:
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEGRE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EERESTRAEBRKG - H
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN RO REESZERRAR @

SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (continued)

(a) Interests in the shares of the Company and its (a) RAEAQXTRHEMEBEIE 2RO HER

associated corporations

Number of ordinary shares held

FREERROHA
Approximate
percentage
Personal Spouse Corporate of shareholding
interests interests interests Total BAE R RE
AR REES LEER st WEDH
(Note 1) (#7321)
The Company &2 7
Mr. Cheng Chor Kit 26,634,000 3,700,000 252,920,000 283,254,000 64.52%
b pey (Note 2) (Hfs22)
Mr. Liu Tat Luen 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 0.45%
BiEELE
Mr. Cheng Tsz To 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 0.68%
BrELsE
Mr. Cheng Tsz Hang 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 0.68%
BrEis
Dr. Fung Wah Cheong, Vincent 8,152,000 - - 8,152,000 1.85%
BEEHL
Mr. Wong Chi Wai 500,000 - - 500,000 0.11%
Dr. Sun Kwai Yu, Vivian 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 0.22%
REMEL
Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul* 80,000 - - 80,000 0.02%
(deceased)
BB % 5
(E§tt)
Mr. Cheung Wang Ip 200,000 - - 200,000 0.04%
REEFE
* Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul deceased on 12 = g s R —_FE - —F A+ —H
September 2022. BEH o
All interests stated above represent long positions. FHipTE RS BIFAE -
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (continued)

(a) Interests in the shares of the Company and its
associated corporations (continued)

EERBESTHRAERRSG A
RO REER 2ERZR AR @)

(@) REQXARHEEBZIEZRHONES

(%)

Number of ordinary shares held

FEEERROYA
Approximate
percentage
Personal Spouse Corporate of shareholding
interests interests interests Total B IR
8 A% BEER EEER @t MWEDH
Associated Corporations &% E
Padora Global Inc (“Padora”)
Mr. Cheng Chor Kit 520 160 - 680 68.00%
HRAEE
Mr. Cheng Tsz To 160 - - 160 16.00%
HrErE
Mr. Cheng Tsz Hang 160 - - 160 16.00%
Bk E
Notes: Vokza
(1) The approximate percentage of shareholding is (1) BEBOBSHEIBREBEARAFTR -
calculated based on 438,960,000 shares, being —=Z#=ZRA=+—H E%’éﬁjat f Ak 48

the total number of issued ordinary shares of the
Company as at 31 March 2023.

As at 31 March 2023, Padora, through its wholly-
owned subsidiary, Resplendent Global Limited
(“Resplendent”), indirectly held 252,920,000 shares
of the Company. Mr. Cheng Chor Kit is interested
directly in 52.0% of Padora, and the remaining
shares are held equally by his spouse, and the
Directors of the Company, namely, Mr. Cheng Tsz To
and Mr. Cheng Tsz Hang.

Save as disclosed in Note (2) above, all Directors
of the Company have confirmed that they had no
interests in any of its associated corporations of the
Company as at 31 March 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (continued)

(b) Interests in the underlying shares of the

BEENBEETHRAENRKRG 8
EAROREESEZEZRAE &)

(b) RAXFTFHERG zER

Company
Number of
underlying shares Price of
in respect of Company's
share options held shares
and approximate immediately
percentage of hefore the
shareholding Vesting period Exercise grant date
fsBREL Date of HEH Exercise priceper  KAFRA
Name of Director Capacity RBROZER Grant from to period share  REERE
B3t 5t RREBAEAL RS ] z fig®  SRORE PHAZRE
HK$ET  HKSET
Mr. Wong Chi Wai Beneficial owner 400,000 1112017 71712017 - 2.262 2.220
gk EREAA (0.09%) 6/7/2027
100,000 1017 1017 12/9/2017 18/9/2017 - 2062 2200
0.02%) 6/7/2027
100,000 9/7/2018 9/7/2018 12/9/2018 13/9/2018 - 2470 2470
0.02%) 8712028
Dr. Sun Kwai Yu, Vivian Beneficial owner 100,000 9/7/2018 9/7/2018 12/9/2018 13/9/2018 - 2410 2470
FEmET EREEA (0.02%) 8/7/2028
Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul* Beneficial owner 100,000 11712017 11112017 - 2.262 2.220
(dceased) EXREN 0.02%) 61712027
gty 100,000 9/7/2018 9/7/2018 - 2470 2470
(B&t) (0.02%) 8/7/2028
Mr. Cheung Wang Ip Beneficial owner 100,000 9/7/2018 9/7/2018 200712018 20112018 - 2410 2470
REXRE EREAA (0.02%) 8/7/2008
g Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul deceased on 12 # B AR —_FE_—FAA+—H

September 2022. Pursuant to the Company’s
2012 Share Option Scheme, his legal personal
representative shall be entitled within the period of
12 months from the date of his death to exercise the
share option.

All interests stated above represent long positions.
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EEERE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EERERETHRAERER®G 48
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN BROREEBCEZRAR &)
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND

DEBENTURES (continued)

(b) Interests in the underlying shares of the (b) MAELQXTHBRP 2R (E)
Company (continued)

The above options were granted under the 2012 T EBRRETRE —F — — FBRER
Share Option Scheme. SR -

The Directors’ interests in the Company’s share BERARQRIBIRE 2 EENIBRE
options are disclosed in Note 31 to the financial FsF3 1P 5 -

statements.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, BREXFEEEN RZE_=F=H
none of the Directors nor chief executive of the =+t—H BMEALRTEZER&ESTH
Company had interests or short positions in any AERAR RS ETREHEE (T
securities of the Company or any of its associated RS MEEEFIEXVEL) 2 E10 % 5
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the REE @) RIEZESMHEENEXY
SFO) which are required (a) to be notified to the EBET K85 BB A AN B M Bt A BT 2 A
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to H=AR (BREBEEFERBEEN
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including EHAGEXREEEXR BEHEARS 2R
interests or short positions which he/she is taken kB ) Sib) BREBEESFRBERDE
or deemed to have under such provisions of the 352G B AT RRMAZERZI AR
SFO); or (b) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to k(o) RIEIRETRIZBAE RN E MR
be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) Tz sk R o

pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT FR 32 4 89 1 o

Other than the share option scheme of the Company as BT E 2 A AR 2 BT EISN - RARFE
disclosed, no equity-linked agreements that will or may EASNARFEELERE  AQaEIT 7T
result in the Company issuing shares or that require the TEEMRER B R EE SR ERRNA T
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may TRMD - R EARRF R AS AT AR
result in the Company issuing shares were entered into by NEVBITRG 2 EAHE -

the Company during the Year or subsisted at the end of

the Year.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &t EARA A ANNUAL REPORT 2023 “F [ 3



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’
and chief executive’s interests and short positions in
shares, underlying shares and debentures” of this chapter
and in the share option scheme disclosures in Note 31
to the financial statements, at no time during the Year
were there any rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in the Company granted to any
Directors or their respective spouses or minor children,
or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the
Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries
and fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other
body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the Company’s share option schemes are
disclosed in Note 31 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Connected
Transaction” below, none of the Directors nor their
respective associates had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to the business of the Group
to which the Company, or any of its holding companies,
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries was a party during the
Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts (as defined in Section 543 of the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622)) relating to the management and/or
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or subsisted
during the Year.
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EEEHG

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS, DISPOSALS
AND SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

On 20 March 2023, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, Penta Blesses Enterprises Limited (for itself
and on behalf of its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Shixing
Newway Industries Company Limited and Shaoguan Turbo
Electronic Technology Company Limited) (collectively,
“Penta Blesses”) entered into the Lands Resumption
Agreement with Shixing County Bureau of Natural
Resources (“SXBNR”), pursuant to which SXBNR agreed
to resume, Penta Blesses agreed to surrender, the land
use rights of the lands (comprise three parcels of land
situated at Huang Hua Yuan Industrial Area, Tai Ping
Town, Shixing County, Shaoguan City, Guangdong
Province, the PRC (the “Lands”) and the erection,
construction, machinery, and other relevant assets (the
“Relevant Assets”) thereon (collectively, the “Target
Assets”) and entered into the cooperation agreement
with a property developer at consideration by way of a
cash compensation of approximately RMB107,300,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$123,395,000) in total
comprising the compensation for the Target Assets and
other related compensation according to the relevant rules
and regulations in the PRC including but not limited to
the policy pertaining to the Three-old Renovation, subject
to the successful bidding of the land use rights of the
Lands as redesignated through the Public Auction (the
“Transactions”). Under the Lands Resumption Agreement,
the Group would receive the payment of the compensation
for the land use rights of the Lands of approximately
RMB29,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$33,350,000) from SXBNR whilst the remaining
compensation amount of approximately RMB78,300,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$90,045,000) would be
paid by the said property developer should the project
company controlled by it be the successful bidder of the
land use rights of the Lands as redesignated in the Public
Auction.

The Public Auction took place from 12 April 2023 to 24
April 2023, the Lands as redesignated were sold to the
highest bidder of the land use rights of the Lands as
designated in the Public Auction.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS, DISPOSALS
AND SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT (continued)

Further details in relation to the Transactions are set out
in the announcements of the Company dated 24 March
2023, 29 March 2023, 19 April 2023, and 25 April 2023
and the circular of the Company dated 31 May 2023.

Save as disclosed above, during the Year, the Group was
neither involved in any significant investment, nor any
material acquisition or disposal of any subsidiary.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

As reported in our annual reports for the years 2019/2020,
2020/2021 and 2021/2022, on 1 April 2020, a leasing
agreement (the “Existing Tenancy Agreement”) was
entered into between Unicon Investments Limited
(“Unicon” or the “Landlord”) and Kin Yat Industrial
Company Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company (the “Tenant”), concerning the leaseback
of the property located at 7/F., Galaxy Factory Building,
25-27 Luk Hop Street, San Po Kong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong (the “Property”), as the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong, for a term of three years
commencing from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2023,
with a monthly lease rental of HK$124,800 (inclusive
of government rent, rates and management fee). The
transactions contemplated under the Existing Tenancy
Agreement are subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements but are exempt from the circular (including
independent financial advice) and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

Upon expiry of the Existing Tenancy Agreement, the
Tenant, on 31 March 2023, entered into a renewal
tenancy agreement (the “Renewal Tenancy Agreement”)
with the Landlord, to renew the Existing Tenancy
Agreement in respect of the leasing the Property for
the ensuing three years for a monthly lease rental of
HK$124,800 (inclusive of government rent, rates and
management fee). Details of the transactions were set out
in the announcement of the Company dated 31 March
2023.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION (continued)

As Unicon is wholly owned by Mr. Cheng Chor Kit (“Mr.
Cheng”), an executive Director, the chairman and chief
executive officer of the Company and the controlling
shareholder of the Company (as defined under the
Listing Rules). Thus, each of Mr. Cheng and Unicon
is a connected person of the Company. Accordingly,
the entering into the Renewal Tenancy Agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder constitute a
one-off connected transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As the applicable
percentage ratios in respect of the right-of-use assets to
be recognised under the Renewal Tenancy Agreement
exceed more than 0.1% but are less than 5%, the
transactions contemplated thereunder are subject to the
reporting and announcement requirements but exempt
from the circular (including independent financial advice)
and independent shareholders’ approval requirement
under Rule 14A of the Listing Rules.

Apart from described above, under the Listing Rules,
the Company did not have any other disclosable non-
exempted connected transaction during the Year and up
to the date of this annual report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2023, so far as is known to any Director
or chief executive of the Company, the following persons
had an interest or short position in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO, were as follows:

FTERRRHEMATIRE®D A

BRORERERE2ED

RZE_=ZF=ZA=+—H " BARQRATM
BEEYRSTHRABRA U FATRAR
AR ~ ABRER D R EE BT A AR

&5 R B G EXVERE2 M3

7 BB [R AR

REKE - RIRIBEF M HE P55 336{FAC
ARRBIFENECMOESRIOREMT

Number of Approximate Number of
ordinary share percentage of share option
Name of substantial held shareholding held
shareholder Nature of interest and capacity FEgER BEA 15 R A Fri%
TERRER BB EEHERSH RGHEE MWEAL BREZA
(Note 1) (f1:£1)
Resplendent Global Beneficial owner 252,920,000 57.62% -
Limited EmlEAA (Note 2)
(Kratz)
Padora Global Inc Interests in controlling 252,920,000 57.62% -
corporation (Note 2)
NS L (Kiatz)
Mdm. Tsang Yuk Wan Interests in controlling 252,920,000 57.62% -
(“Mdm. Tsang”) corporation (Note 2)
BEELT T N B (A EE2)
([G&+])
Personal interests 3,700,000 0.84% -
(EPNG: $a
Interests of spouse (Note 3) 26,634,000 6.06% —

Fo B as (A1423)

All interests stated above represent long positions.

LA RES BIFR -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (continued)

Notes:

(1)  The approximate percentage of shareholding is calculated
based on 438,960,000 shares, being the total number of
issued ordinary shares of the Company as at 31 March
2023.

(2) 252,920,000 shares of the Company are held by
Resplendent, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Padora, relating
to the same block of shareholding of Mr. Cheng Chor Kit
(“Mr. Cheng”) disclosed in the section headed “Directors’
and chief executive’s interests and short positions in
shares, underlying shares and debentures” above. By virtue
of the SFO, Mr. Cheng and his spouse, Mdm. Tsang, are
deemed to be interested in all the shares of the Company
held by Resplendent.

(3) 26,634,000 shares of the Company are held by Mr. Cheng
in a personal capacity. By virtue of the SFO, Mdm. Tsang is
deemed to be interested in all the shares of the Company
held by Mr. Cheng.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 20283, the
Directors or chief executive of the Company were not
aware of any person who had an interest or short position
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN
COMPETING INTERESTS

The Directors are not aware of any business or interest
of the Directors, the controlling shareholder and their
respective associates (as defined under the Listing Rules)
of the Company that compete or may compete with the
business of the Group and any other conflict of interest
which any such person has or may have with the Group
during the Year.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities during the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance practices. Information corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set
out in the chapter of “Corporate Governance Report” on
pages 51 to 78 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained the prescribed public float under
the Listing Rules during the Year and up to the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Material
Acquisitions, Disposals and Significant Investment”, there
is no significant event after the reporting period that
should be notified to shareholders of the Company.
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AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers will retire and a resolution for
their re-appointment as auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Cheng Chor Kit
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Kin Yat convinces that the long-term business and
sustainable growth of the Group are built on the corporate
culture. The Board acts as the core of the Company’s
corporate culture and upholds the values and principles
of integrity, accountability, and transparency throughout
the Group. This belief of our corporate culture is not only
supported and practised by the Board, but also by all our
employees of the Group, who commit to upholding the
highest standard of integrity and honesty in every aspect
of our business. By taking these, we believe that the
shareholder value will be maximised in the long-term as
well as the accountability to all stakeholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Board regularly reviews the guidelines and reports
the latest development in corporate governance to the
chairman of the Board. In the opinion of the Board, the
Company has complied with the code provisions as set
out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules throughout
the Year except for the deviation described in the section
“Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” in this Corporate
Governance Report (the “CG Report”).

The Board has also reviewed the CG Report and is
satisfied that the Company has been in full compliance
with all the requirements stipulated in the CG Report in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, apart from the above
described deviation.
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DIRECTORS’ AND RELEVANT
EMPLOYEES’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its
own code on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code regarding securities
transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiry of the Directors, all the
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code throughout
the Year. All relevant employees of the Group who,
because of their office in the Group, are likely to be in
possession of unpublished price sensitive information have
been requested to comply with the provisions of the Model
Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Role and functions of the Board

The Company’s overall management is vested in its
Board, which accepts that it is ultimately accountable
and responsible to shareholders for the decision and
performance of the Group. The Board’s role is to
provide entrepreneurial leadership, led by the chairman
of the Board, set the Company’s strategic aims and the
Company’s values and standards, and ensure that its
obligations to its stakeholders and others are understood
and met.

The Board has established a schedule of matters reserved
for its approval, the specific responsibilities reserved
for the Board include (1) setting the Group’s strategies
and dividend policy, (2) approving budgets, reviewing
operational and financial performance, (3) approving
significant investments and divestments, (4) reviewing risk
management and internal control system of the Group,
(5) ensuring appropriate management development and
succession plans in place, (6) approving appointments
of Directors and other senior executives, (7) approving
corporate social responsibility policies, (8) ensuring
effective communication with shareholders and (9) other
significant operational and financial matters.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition

As of the date of this annual report, the Board currently
consists of a total of eight members, including four
Directors with executive functions, four non-executive
Directors of whom three are independent.

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report,
the Directors were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Cheng Chor Kit
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Liu Tat Luen
Mr. Cheng Tsz To
Mr. Cheng Tsz Hang
Mr. Lee Kim Wa, Winston*

Non-executive Director
Dr. Fung Wah Cheong, Vincent

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Chi Wai

Dr. Sun Kwai Yu, Vivian

Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul**

Mr. Cheung Wang Ip

* Mr. Lee Kim Wa, Winston resigned as an executive Director
on 2 December 2022.

o Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul deceased on 12 September
2022.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition (continued)

Mr. Cheng Tsz Hang and Mr. Cheng Tsz To are the
sons of Mr. Cheng Chor Kit, the executive Director and
the controlling shareholder (as defined under the Listing
Rules) of the Company. Save as disclosed above, none of
the Directors has any financial, business, family or other
material or relevant relationships among the Directors.

Our non-executive and independent non-executive
Directors possess diverse academic and professional
qualifications, financial and management expertise and
bring a wide range of business and financial experience
to the Board, and their views carry the same weight as
executive Directors.

All the Directors, since appointed, have disclosed to
the Company the nature of offices held in other public
companies or organisations and other significant
commitments, and promised to notify the Company of any
change of such information as soon as practicable. Each
Director confirmed that he/she had given sufficient time
and attention to the affairs of the Company for the Year.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises
Directors of different genders with diverse backgrounds
and expertise in the Group’s businesses. The nomination
committee of the Board (the “Nomination Committee”)
reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy annually to ensure it remains compliant
with the regulatory requirements as well as effective and
appropriate for the Company.

The Board considers the current Board composition has
provided the Company with a good balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the requirement of its business. With the balanced
composition of executive and non-executive Directors
with vital independent elements, which can effectively
make insightful discussions on critical issues and exercise
judgement with an independent mind. The Board will
continue to regularly review its composition taking into
consideration board diversity for the needs and benefits of
the Company’s business.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition (continued)

The Directors’ biographical details are set out in
“Biographical details of the Directors” on 26 to 29 of
this annual report. All Directors, including non-executive
Director and independent non-executive Directors,
have been identified in all corporate communications,
including this annual report, that disclose the name of
each Director. Further, an updated “List of Directors and
their Roles and Functions” is maintained and available on
the respective websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

Board Independence

The independent non-executive Directors do not
merely review and scrutinise the Company’s financial
performance. In addition, based on the experience with
various professionals, the non-executive Director and
the independent non-executive Directors bring a wide
range of skills and business experience in exercising an
independent and sound judgment on issues related to
strategy, policy, and key appointments to the Company.
Furthermore, they play a significant monitoring role in any
matter related to the conflict of interests. The Directors
believe that the present structure of the Board with the
diversity of composition can ensure the independence and
objectivity of the Board that maintains good corporate
governance practices to safeguard the interests of
the shareholders and the Company and enhance the
performance of the Group.

After the sudden passed away of Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin,
Paul, the independent non-executive Director of the
Company, in September 2022, the number of Independent
non-executive Directors still complies with Rule 3.10 and
Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Independence (continued)

The Board has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, the written confirmation of their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Taking into consideration of three independent non-
executive Directors’ independent scope of work in the
past years, the Nomination Committee and the Board
considers all of them to continue to demonstrate the
attributes of an independent non-executive Director by
providing independent views and advice as well as the
abilities to exercise independent judgment and provide
and balance and objective view in relation to the Group’s
affairs. With their background, all the independent non-
executive Directors are fully aware of the responsibilities
and expected amount of time dedicated to the Company.
Based on the foregoing, the Board believes that there
is no evidence that their tenure has had any impact on
their independence. The continuous appointment of the
current independent non-executive Directors will bring
considerable stability to the Board and the Company has
significantly benefited from the presence of all of them.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Appointment, Re-election and Removal
Each of the Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a specific term and is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at an annual general
meeting at least once every three years in accordance
with the Bye-laws. Whether any director appointed by
the Board to fill a causal vacancy in the Board shall hold
office until the first general meeting of the Company after
his/her appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting.

The Board recognised that it is important that all Directors
should be able to dedicate sufficient time to the Company
to discharge their responsibilities. As described above, all
Directors have confirmed to the Company that they have
given sufficient time and attention to the Company’s affair
during the Year.

As the date of this report, two independent non-
executive Directors (Mr. Wong Chi Wai and Dr. Sun Kwai
Yu, Vivian (“Dr. Sun”)) have served the Board for more
than nine years since 2004, while Mr. Cheung Wang Ip
(“Mr. Cheung”) has appointed as the independent non-
executive Director for almost 9 years. Both Dr. Sun and
Mr. Cheung will retire by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company (the “2023 AGM”).
An independent non-executive director who serves on the
Board more than 9 years is long-serving independent non-
executive director under the CG Code. Under provision
B.2.3 of the CG Code, any further re-appointment of
an independent non-executive Director who has served
the Board for more than nine years will be subject to
a separate resolution to be approved by shareholders.
A separate resolution will be proposed for each of the
retiring long-serving independent non-executive directors
who will stand for re-election at the 2023 AGM.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Delegation of Authority

The Board has delegated the authorities and day-to-day
responsibilities to the management and clearly requires
the management to execute the objectives and strategies
established by the Board and circumstances in which
the management should report back. The Board also
exercises a separate and independent assessment of the
performance of the management on a periodically basis
to ensure the delegation is appropriate to the Company’s
needs.

The management is responsible for running the
Company’s businesses and for proposing the
development of the Group’s strategies and overall
commercial objectives in consultation with the Board.
The management is also responsible for implementing
decisions of the Board and its committees, developing
main policies and reviewing the business organisational
structure and operational performance. Furthermore, the
management is obligated to supply relevant, adequate,
clear and timely information and report to the Board and
its committees in a consistent format. The Board, where
necessary, can make further enquiries to the management
on any matters they are concerned.

Board Meeting

For the Board discharges their responsibilities, the
Directors are required to meet in person regularly. The
schedule of the Board meetings for the coming year is
determined and informed to all Directors in the fourth
quarter meeting annually. To ensure the discussions
attains the consensus of the Board, the chairman of the
Board enheartens for Directors to express their opinion
during the Board discussion actively.

In practice, prior to each meeting of the Board, as
delegated by the chairman of the Board, the company
secretary of the Company prepares and despatches the
notice of meeting to all Directors for at least 14 days.
The management supplies the relevant documents and
information to the Board and each committee in a timely
manner to ensure that all the participants are given
adequate time to review and prepare the matter discussed
for making informed decisions in the meeting.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Meeting (continued)

Where any Director requires more information than
provided by management, that Director can make further
enquiries during the discussion and/or invite the relevant
personnel to provide further explanation, where necessary.

In view of the pandemic continued throughout the whole
year during the Year, the Management arranged video
conferences for all Board meetings (including the meetings
of each Board Committee) to ensure all the meetings
could be carried out as scheduled and, by different
modes, each Director and attendees could attend all the
meetings in person. The Board met six times during the
Year and meeting attendance records are set out on page
78 of this annual report.

The minutes of the Board and its committees’ meetings
are prepared by the company secretary of the Company
whom the Board delegates. The draft minutes are
circulated to all members of the Board and each
Committee for their commentary. The final minutes are
open for inspection by all members of the Board at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer shall be separated
and should not be performed by the same individual and
the division of responsibilities between the chairman and
chief executive officer should be clearly established and
set out in writing.

The roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer
of the Company are not separated and are performed
by the same individual, Mr. Cheng Chor Kit. The balance
of power and authority is ensured by the operations of
the Board which comprises experienced and high calibre
individuals, with a highly independent element in the Board
where the Board members meet regularly to discuss
issues affecting the operations of the Company. The
Board believes that this structure is conducive to strong
and consistent leadership, enabling the Company to make
and implement decisions promptly and efficiently.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Diversity Policy

To enhance the effectiveness and the balanced
development of the Board, the Board commits to
promoting diversity among the composition of its Board
members. The Board Diversity Policy provides a process
and guideline which the Company will implement to
achieve its diversity and ensures the Board has the
appropriate mix of skills, experience and diversity
perspectives required for the Company’s businesses.
The following charts indicate the diversity of the Board
members in terms of gender, age, length of services and
professional experience.

BEES %)

EEeRESTLBE
ARSETENRERRLERE BEETEH
ARRBHEESSRBARNZ T - E5S
BB % TR AN A A IS B1TIR 7 M35
BINERESEeNES T REESER
BAAREGMAREEFRERDT  CHE
SNBSS WTEXBIEEEREN Y
Bl FR IHREECHR TS ECHIE
jR °

Gender Male
5 E:
Age Group 51-60 61-70 >70
FRE 51-605% 61-705% =705}
Length of Services 11-15 years 15-20 years > 20 years
88 11-155F 15-205F L2205
Erofe;sional Legal & Accounting Real Estate  Manufacturing
é‘p%ezggge EERER FibE A

L 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 J

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

The Group also values the diverse talents and experiences
of its employees across all levels of the Group. The Group
has put in place appropriate recruitment and selection
practices such that a diverse range of candidates are
considered, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, qualification,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Diversity Policy (continued)

As at 31 March 2023, 12.5% of the Director is female
and 73.0% of our total workforce is female. The Board
considers sufficiently diversified total workforce exists
and views that it is not necessary to set numerical
targets and timelines for the gender diversity of the Board
and the workforce for the time being. The Nomination
Committee has not set any measurable objectives for
the implementation of the Diversity Policy in relation to
the Board members and the workforce of the Group
(including gender diversity). However, we will continue with
our endeavour to increase female representation on the
Board.

The Nomination Committee reviews the Board Diversity
Policy annually to ensure its continued effectiveness
and appropriateness for the Company. The Board and
the Nomination Committee reviewed the Board Diversity
Policy and its implementation and confirmed its continued
effectiveness during the Year.

Directors’ Training

Every Director should keep himself or herself abreast
of the responsibilities as a Director and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company.
Each new incoming Director receives an induction
package covering the introduction of the Group’s
businesses and real-life overview of the Company,
induction of their roles and responsibilities, the practical
procedure duties and the compliance of laws and
regulations.

All Directors are encouraged to pursue an ongoing
development and refreshment of their knowledge and
skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
relevant and productive.

On 29 November 2022, a tailor-made seminar
was organised to Directors in related to the recent
development of corporate governance. All Directors on
that date participated in this seminar.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

TEERBRE

EE® )

EEEREZILBE(E)
HE-_Z-_==A=+—0 BFEP12.5%
BRTHES MEBTREM73.0% ALIEE
T -ZBEERAETHEE RS Z L I
REAREFHRESEREINUAZ T
REHBTEERFBAX EERZEULER
WITHETENERAEEETIFEENZ T
LB (BIEMRZ L) REEMAIEHEE
B R ROBEEZ NIENMESSTHNL
MREK -

o

RAZEEEFRIEFEKREZ TILR
R UBRESEBMIERARARA &
FELRERZBECEHNEFEXESZ LI
BERERHEBRIER  LHEIAENAFEFE
B e

\

BT
BREFHRATHRUFREFTZRALBR
ARAZEBLREA - BRMEEFHESR
—EABER  ATBRAEBEEBRAR
AERMRAEN KEZABRBERS -
ERRERE SETARER -

ARBBAABEERIFEERRENE
MBAMZXEE  AERNEFHEST G ZERR
R M EBRR -

R-TE-—_—F+—A=-+hB AESEH
EAFEMRNATE AR ITHCE
BEARAEE -ZH REFTHEXMATE -

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &#&EE AR A a]



62

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

AR N
1 E%/tliﬁ%%

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Training (continued)
The training of each individual Director for the Year is set

out below:

EEE )

BEEEI(E)

BEEFNAFREZEIHINNT

Types of training

Name of Director BEEHE EAER
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Cheng Chor Kit B & A/B
Mr. Liu Tat Luen BEELYE A/B
Mr. Cheng Tsz To L e e A/B
Mr. Cheng Tsz Hang BT & A/B
Mr. Lee Kim Wa, Winston* I S A A/B
Non-executive Director FHITES

Dr. Fung Wah Cheong, Vincent HEEE L A/B
Independent non-executive Directors BIFHITESE

Mr. Wong Chi Wai =M A A/B
Dr. Sun Kwai Yu, Vivian BREmiE+ A/B
Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul** B B 57 P A N/A 38 A
Mr. Cheung Wang Ip RAFERE A/B
A Attending briefings/seminars/conference/forums A YEENE Wie &% Hig

B Reading/studying training or other materials

on 2 December 2022.

*k

2022.

Mr. Lee Kim Wa, Winston resigned as an executive Director

Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul deceased on 12 September

>k
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Conflict of interest

If a Director has a material interest in a manner of
significant nature to be considered by the Board, a
physical meeting or meeting by video conference will be
held to discuss such matter instead of seeking Directors’
written consent by way of circulation of written resolutions.
Pursuant to the Bye-laws, such Director who is considered
to be materially interested in the matter shall abstain from
voting and not be counted in the quorum.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance
coverage on directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of
any legal actions taken against the Directors and senior
management of the Company arising out of corporate
activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an
annual basis.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the following Board
committees, all chaired by independent non-executive
Directors, with clearly defined terms of reference, which
are on no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG
Code of the Listing Rules:

- Remuneration Committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”);

- Nomination Committee; and

- Audit Committee (the “Audit Committee”)

The roles and responsibilities of each Board committee
are set out by the Board with clearly defined written
terms of reference, and this document is available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. Under
the written terms of reference, each Committee reports
directly to the Board on its decisions or recommendations
after their discussion.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Pursuant to the written terms of reference, each
Board committee has the authority to engage outside
consultants or experts as it considers necessary to
discharge the committee’s responsibilities. Minutes
of all Board committees meetings are circulated to all
Board members. To further reinforce independence
and effectiveness, all Audit Committee members being
appointed are independent non-executive Directors, and
the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
have been structured with a majority of independent
non-executive Directors being the Board committees’
members. During the Year and up to the date of this
annual report, each Board Committee’s members include:

BEZE= 2

BEEERESE ABTEEEY &I -
EEC R TS EEeAREHRATERE
BAMERNKER  FEEEeR T 258
CERERYX SR EETGREEN - Ak
—SMABIERERY  FEEEIYE
REBEMENABYENTES MEM
EECRIEREEE I REH BT IERT
EEAT RAFEAREEAFHRAE -
EEeRTREBENRERE

Remuneration Nomination Audit
Committee Committee Committee
FHEES REZE® ENZEE
Mr. Cheng Chor Kit Executive Director Member % & Member X & N/A T iE A
RS HITES
Dr. Fung Wah Cheong, Vincent ~ Non-executive Director Member % & Member f% & N/A T E R
BEERL FHTES
Mr. Wong Chi Wai Independent non-executive Director Member % & Chairman F & Member 7 &
ik s BUFHTES
Dr. Sun Kwai Yu, Vivian Independent non-executive Director Member % 8 Member i\ &  Chairperson £ /&
HENEL BUEHTES
Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul* Independent non-executive Director Chairman £ & Member A 8 Member A &
BE% % BUFHTES
Mr. Cheung Wang Ip** Independent non-executive Director Chairman £ /& Member i & Member A &
REERE" BUFNITES
* Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul deceased on 12 September * R EER —FE - —FNH+ - HE -

2022, the chairmanship of the Remuneration Committee
has been vacant immediately following the passing away of
the late Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul.

- Mr. Cheung Wang Ip has been appointed as the chairman **
of the Remuneration Committee on 20 September 2022.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration packages offered by the Company
should be able to attract and motivate the Directors and
senior management of the Company for their sufficient
quality, whilst at the same time taking into account
the shareholders’ interests as well. The main roles
and responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee is
aimed to assist the Board to develop and administer
fair and transparent procedures for setting policy on
the remuneration of Directors and senior management
of the Company and to ensure no individual Director
or any of his/her associates can determine his/her own
remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee reviews and determines,
with delegated responsibility, the remuneration
packages, including but not limited to basic salaries,
deferred compensation, stock options and any benefits
in kind, pension rights, incentive payments and any
other compensation payments, of individual executive
Directors and senior management of the Company with
reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives,
responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere
within the Group and in the market. The Remuneration
Committee also independently reviews and approves the
compensation and related arrangements for executive
Directors and senior management of the Company in
respect of any loss or termination of office or appointment.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting
during the Year to review and approve the Directors’
remuneration packages. Meeting attendance records of
the Remuneration Committee are set out on page 78 of
this annual report.

Information relating to remuneration of each Director for
the Year is set out in Note 10 to the financial statements.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee

The primary responsibility of the Nomination Committee,
follow the Company’s Nomination Policy and Diversity
Policy, reviews the structure, size and composition of
the Board from time to time and advises to the Board
on the candidates, conditions, selection standards and
procedures of the proposed appointment of Directors and
senior management of the Company.

The Nomination Committee is also responsible for
recommending the individuals suitably qualified to become
board members or senior management to the Board. The
Nomination Committee considers the past performance,
qualifications and diversity of such candidates in selecting
suitable candidates for directorship and management.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the
Year to review the structure of the Board, discuss the
current target for gender diversity on the Board, assess
the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and make recommendations to the Board on the
re-election of Directors. Meeting attendance records of
the Nomination Committee are set out on page 78 of this
annual report.

Audit Committee

The Company has not deliberately established a risk
committee and a corporate governance committee,
the prominent roles and responsibilities of the Audit
Committee are to assist the Board in (1) maintaining
effective risk management and a system of internal control
and compliance with the Company’s obligations (including
external financial reporting obligations) under the Listing
Rules as modified from time to time and applicable laws
and regulations is in place; (2) overseeing the integrity
of the financial statements of the Company; and (3) on
behalf of the Board, (i) selecting the Company’s external
auditor and approving their remuneration (including non-
audit services), (ii) assessing the independence and
qualifications of the external auditors, and (i) overseeing
the performance of the Company’s internal audit function.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

During the Year, the Audit Committee has reviewed with
the management the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group and financial reporting matters,
including the review of the audited financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2022 as well as the interim
report for the six months ended 30 September 2022.
During the Year, the Audit Committee also reviewed the
Group’s financial controls, risk management and internal
control systems, discussed with the internal auditor to
ensure the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit
function, conducted discussions with the external auditor
on financial reporting, compliance, the effectiveness of
the audit process, and reported all relevant matters to the
Board. In addition, the Audit Committee has met twice
with the external auditor of the Company and reviewed the
financial results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2023, including the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group.

None of the Audit Committee members is a former
or existing auditor of the Company within two years
immediately prior to their respective appointments.

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the Year
(including the two separate meetings with the external
auditor). Meeting attendance records of the Audit
Committee are set out on page 78 of this annual report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Corporate Governance Function

The Board delegated its responsibilities to the Audit
Committee with clearly defined written terms of reference,
for performing the corporate governance functions:

1. to develop and review the policies and practices of
the Company on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management of the Company;

3. to review and monitor the policies and practices
of the Company on compliance with legal and
regulatory;

4, to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual applicable to the Directors
and employees of the Group; and

5.  to review the compliance by the Company with the
CG Code and the disclosure requirements for the CG
Report.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and External Auditor’s Financial Reporting
Responsibility

The management has timely and frequently provided
a balanced and understandable assessment of the
Company’s performance to the Board. The Board is
responsible for preparing the financial statements which
give a true and fair view of the Group’s state of affairs and
the results together with the cash flows situation for the
Year. In preparing the financial statements, the generally
accepted accounting standards in Hong Kong have been
adopted; appropriate accounting policies have been used
and applied consistently, and reasonable and prudent
judgments and estimates have been made.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Directors’ and External Auditor’s Financial Reporting
Responsibility (continued)

Other than the discussion in respect of the financial
conditions, liquidity and financial resources in the chapter
of “Management Discussion and Analysis”, the Board
is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Accordingly, the Board has continued to adopt the going
concern basis in preparing the financial statements of the
Group.

The Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 81 to 92 of
this annual report has set out the reporting responsibilities
of the external auditor of the Company.

Auditor’s Remuneration
The auditor’s remuneration and the fee for non-audit
services for the Year are as below:

Nature of services REMHE
Audit services ZH RS
Non-audit services FEZ EUR 75

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems and financial
control and reviewing their effectiveness. The Group is
committed to set up and maintain a sound and effective
internal control system that is designed to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate
the risks of failure in operational system and achievement
of the Group’s objectives.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (continued)

The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management
approach to identify, access and manage different
types of risks. As the first line of defence, operational
management are responsible for identifying, assessing
and monitoring risk associated with each business
activities or transaction. The management, as the second
line of defence, defines rules sets and models, provides
technical support, develops new system and oversees
project management. It ensures that risks are within the
acceptable range and that the first line of defence is
effective. As the final line of defence, an internal control
advisor assists the Audit Committee to review the first and
second lines of defence.

During 2023, an internal control advisor was appointed
by the Company to assist the Group to conduct yearly
review on the internal controls system according to the
internal audit plan agreed by the management and Audit
Committee. The internal control advisor reported the
internal audit findings and recommendations to both the
management of the Group and Audit Committee. The
management of the Group agreed on the internal audit
findings and adopted the recommendations accordingly.

Based on the risk management mechanism and internal
audit review activities, the management of the Group had
provided a confirmation to the Board that the Group had
maintained an effective risk management mechanism and
internal control systems during the year ended 31 March
2023.
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INSIDE INFORMATION

Kin Yat, as a listed corporation, must, as soon as
reasonably practicable after any inside information has
come to its knowledge, disclose the inside information
to the public, unless the information falls with any of
the “Safe Harbours” as provided in SFO. Every Director
must take all reasonable measures from time to time to
ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach
of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Company.
In addition, as included in our staff handbook, a strict
prohibition to all Directors and relevant employees on
the unauthorised disclosure or use of confidential and
inside information as well as deal in the securities of the
Company when they are in possession of undisclosed
inside information.

To fulfil the disclosure obligation, during the Year, the
Company has disclosed inside information to the market
as a whole by way of the electronic publication system
operated by the Stock Exchange and other means in
accordance with the Listing Rules so that all participants
of the market have equal and simultaneous access to the
same information.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is to support the
Board that there is good information flow and responsible
for advising the Board on governance matters as well as
facilitating the induction and professional development of
Directors.

Mr. Hung Kam Wing, Timmy (“Mr. Hung”) joined the
Group in August 2021 as the Group Financial Controller.
Currently, he is a fellow member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in English and Wales and an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.

Mr. Hung confirmed that he complied with all the required

qualifications, experience and training requirements under
the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS
Shareholders’ Rights

1.

Rights to convene Special General Meeting
Pursuant to the Bye-Laws, any one or more
registered shareholders holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than 10% of the
paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at the general meetings of the Company shall
at all times have the right, by a written requisition,
to require a special general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall
be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition.

The written requisition must state the purpose of
the meeting, signed by the requisitionist(s) and be
delivered to the Board or the company secretary of
the Company at the Company’s principal place of
business at 7/F., Galaxy Factory Building, 25-27 Luk
Hop Street, San Po Kong, Kowloon, Hong Kong, and
such may consist of several documents in like form,
each signed by one or more requisitionist(s).

If within twenty-one days of such deposit, the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionists themselves or any of them
represented more than one half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may convene a meeting in
accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of
the Companies Act of Bermuda.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

Shareholders’ Rights (continued)

2.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

Any one or more registered shareholders, at the
date of submission of written requisition, represents
either (a) not less than 5% of the total voting rights
of all shareholders; or (b) not less than one hundred
shareholders, entitled to submit a written requisition
for putting forward proposals at the general meeting.

The written requisition duly signed by the registered
shareholders, must state the purpose of the written
requisition, together with a statement of not more
than one thousand words with respect to the matter
referred to in the proposed resolution must be
deposited at the principal place of business in Hong
Kong, not less than six weeks before the general
meeting in case of a requisition requiring notice of a
resolution; or not less than one week in case of other
requisition.

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to
the Board

The Board understands that in-depth communication
with shareholders is an important way to understand
the thinking of shareholders. Shareholders may at
any time send their enquiries to the Board in writing
through the company secretary of the Company
whose contact details are as follows:

7/F., Galaxy Factory Building, 25-27 Luk Hop Street,
San Po Kong, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Fax: (852)-2351-1867
Email: webmaster@kinyat.com.hk
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

Investor Relations

1.

Shareholders’ communication

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining
clear, timely and effective communications
with shareholders. Annual and interim reports
are published to provide shareholders with
comprehensive information of the Company’s
operational and financial performances. The
Company practices timely dissemination
of information and makes sure its website
(www.kinyat.com.hk) contains the most current
information, including annual reports, interim reports,
announcements, monthly returns and press releases,
and is updated in a timely manner to ensure
transparency.

The Board endeavour to maintain ongoing and
transparent communications with all shareholders
and, in particular, use the general meeting as a
platform for shareholders to state and exchange
views with the Board directly and encourage their
participation. The Directors are available to answer
questions from shareholders throughout an annual
general meeting. The external auditor is also
available at an annual general meeting to address
shareholders’ queries in accordance with the
requirements of applicable Listing Rules.

The annual general meeting for the year of 2022
of the Company (the “2022 AGM”) was held on 19
August 2022 and all the members of the Board and
the Chairman/Chairperson of each Board Committee
together with the external auditor presented in the
2022 AGM. Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing
Rules, any vote of shareholders on all resolutions
at general meetings must be taken by poll. The poll
results in respect of the resolutions proposed at the
2022 AGM were published on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company on 19 August
2022.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

Investor Relations (continued)

1.
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Shareholders’ communication (continued)

The 2023 AGM will be held on Monday, 28 August
2023, for details of the information on the 2023
AGM, please refer to this annual report and its
accompanying Explanatory Statement. The Board
continues to maintain regular dialogue with financial
analysts and institutional investors as appropriate
to keep them informed the Group’s strategies,
operations, management and plans. In order to
strengthen the bi-directional communications
between the Company, shareholders and investors,
an email contact (webmaster@kinyat.com.hk)
responded by senior management of the Company
are available to shareholders and investors.

Sufficient and timely information

The Board recognises the significance of providing
information to shareholders to enable each
shareholder to make an informed assessment for
the purposes of voting on each of the matters put
before shareholders at the general meeting. Copies
of the annual report, financial statements and related
documents are despatched to shareholders in
accordance with the statutory requirements.

Significant constitutional documents
There was no change in the Company’s
constitutional document for the Year.

As announced in the Company’s announcement
dated 23 March 2023, the Company proposed to
amend the Company’s current Bye-laws by adopting
the amended and restated bye-laws (the “New Bye-
laws”) in order to update and bring the current
Bye-laws in line with the latest legal and regulatory
requirements. The New Bye-laws are subject to
consideration and approval by the shareholders
of the Company by way of a special resolution at
the 2023 AGM. A circular containing, among other
things, particulars relating to the New Bye-laws will
be despatched to the shareholders of the Company
in due course.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

Investor Relations (continued)

4.

Dividend Policy

Our goal is to share the fruit of our effort and provide
a stable and sustainable return to our shareholders.
The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy
(the “Dividend Policy”) which is a guideline on the
distribution of dividends to shareholders of the
Company.

In considering the payment of dividends, there
shall be a balance between maintaining sufficient
capital for expanding the Group’s business as well
as rewarding the shareholders of the Company.
The Board shall also take into account, among
other things, when considering the declaration and
payments of dividends:

- the actual and expected financial performance
of the Group;

- the capital and debt level of the Group;

- the general market conditions;

- any working capital and capital expenditure
requirement;

- any future development plans of the Group;

- retained earnings and distributable reserves of
the Company and each of the members of the
Group;

- the liquidity position of the Group;

- any restrictions on dividend payouts imposed
by any of the Group’s lenders;

- the statutory and regulatory restrictions which
the Group is subject to from time to time; and

= any other relevant factors that the Board may
deem appropriate.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

Investor Relations (continued)

4.

Dividend Policy (continued)

Under our Dividend Policy, the recommendation
of the payment of any dividend is subject to the
absolute discretion of the Board as well as any
restrictions under the law’s requirements of Bermuda
and Hong Kong, the Listing Rules and the Bye-Laws
of the Company. The declaration of final dividend will
be subject to the approval of the shareholders.

The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute
a legally binding commitment by the Company
in respect of its future dividend. In addition, any
dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert
to the Company in accordance with the Bye-laws of
the Company.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION OF
DIRECTORS UNDER RULE 13.51B(1) OF
THE LISTING RULES

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, there is
no changes in information of the Directors subsequent to
the date of the 2022/2028 interim report of the Company.
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THE ATTENDANCE RECORD OF EACH
MEMBER OF THE BOARD IN 2022/2023
The number of Annual General Meeting, Board and its
Committees meetings attended by each Director for the
Year.

S /S EEEeLR
HREHEERT#E

REAEEAN BUEEAEREZRFBAFRX
2 EEENEFZTECERRH-

Annual
General Full Remuneration Nomination Audit
Meeting Board Committee = Committee = Committee
RREFAE 2BEZE ¥MzES REZEE ERZES

Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Cheng Chor Kit ORGRE 111 6/6 1 11 N/A TR
Mr. Liu Tat Luen BEELE il 6/6 N/A TEH N/A TEH N/A T
Mr. Cheng Tsz To BrEts 11 6/6 N/A TR N/A T8 R N/A TER
Mr. Cheng Tsz Hang ik 111 5/6 N/A TR N/A TR N/A TR
Mr. Lee Kim Wa, Winston* FREEE 11 2/3 N/A TE A N/A TEH N/A i
Non-executive Director FHTES
Dr. Fung Wah Cheong, Vincent BREEET 1/1 5/6 1 11 N/A TR
Independent non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Wong Chi Wai EWELE 1/1 6/6 1/1 1/1 474
Dr. Sun Kwai Yu, Vivian BEmEt il 6/6 il 11 4/4
Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul™ BEg L 1 11 1/1 1/1 1/1
Mr. Cheung Wang Ip REELE 1/1 6/6 1/1 1/1 444
* Mr. Lee Kim Wa, Winston resigned as an executive Director * FRIZFH AR -_F - —F+ - H - HETH

on 2 December 2022.

o Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul deceased on 12 September
2022.
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OTHER CORPORATE INFORMATION

DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULE
13.21 OF THE LISTING RULES

Banking facilities with covenants in relation to the specific
performance of the controlling shareholder (as defined
under the Listing Rules) of the Company:

In November 2021, the Company as borrower entered
into a banking facility agreement with Bank A relating to a
term loan in the amount of HK$70,000,000 (the “Facility
11/2021”). The Facility 11/2021 carrying a term of 36
months was to replace, substitute and refinance the
outstanding loan balances drawn under its then-existing
bank facility entered into in May 2020.

In September 2021, the Company and its indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary (“Subsidiary A’), as borrowers, were
each offered a new term loan facility by Bank B. The
two new term loan facilities agreements carrying terms
of 36 months were executed in October 2021. The
new term loan facility in aggregate amounts of up to
HK$175,566,000 offered to the Company encompassed
term loans in a tally of HK$115,566,000 to refinance the
outstanding loan balances indebted to Bank B drawn
under the then-existing banking facility entered into in
February 2020 (the “Facility 02/2020”) and a new term
loan of HK$60,000,000 to refinance the Company’s
capital expenditure. The new term loan facility offered to
Subsidiary A was in the amount of up to HK$33,000,000,
which was to replace, substitute and refinance the
outstanding term loans drawn under the then-existing
banking facility entered into in January 2019 (the “Facility
01/2019%).

The foregoing Facility 01/2019 and Facility 02/2020
became lapsed after the acceptance and execution of the
two new term loan facility agreements made available to
the Company and Subsidiary A, respectively, in October
2021.
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DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULE
13.21 OF THE LISTING RULES (continued)

In May 2023, the Company received a new term loans
facility in an aggregate amount of HK$35,000,000 offered
by Bank B to refinance existing and finance new CAPEX
expenditure of the Group (the “Facility 05/2023”). The
Facility 05/2023 is expected to be executed in June 2023.
The new term loans shall be repayable in 24 months in 8
quarterly instalments.

An indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(“Subsidiary B”) as a borrower, entered into new General
Banking Facilities with Bank C in May 2022 (“the Facility
05/2022”), which were to replace and substitute the
then-existing General Banking Facilities comprising
term loan and trade-line facilities entered into in May
2021. The Facility 05/2022 comprised a new term loan
designated for profits tax payment repayable in 24 months
from the date of drawdown and the outstanding loan
balance drawn under the then-existing banking facility
amounting to approximately HK$33,700,000 in tally and
a trade-line facility up to an aggregate maximum limit of
HK$62,000,000.

In addition to general terms and conditions, each of
the above facility agreements imposes, inter alias, a
condition that Mr. Cheng Chor Kit (“Mr. Cheng”) and his
direct family member(s) collectively shall beneficially or
directly or indirectly maintain a shareholding of not less
than 50% of the issued share capital of the Company.
Mr. Cheng shall continue to be Chairman of the Board
under the facility agreement entered into with Bank C.
These conditions collectively constituted the specific
performance of the Company’s controlling shareholder
(the “Specific Performance Obligations”). A breach of
the Specific Performance Obligations will constitute an
event of default under the relevant facility letter. Upon
the occurrence of such an event, each of the loans shall
become immediately due and repayable on demand.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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To the Shareholders of Kin Yat Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Kin Yat Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”),
which are set out on pages 93 to 239, comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2023;

° the consolidated income statement for the year
then ended;
° the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income for the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for
the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
which include significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2023, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised
as follows:

° Impairment assessments of non-financial assets of
the Electrical and Electronic cash generating unit
(the “E&E CGU”) and Motors cash generating unit
(the “Motors CGU”)

° Assessment of net realisable values of properties
under development (“PUD”) and completed
properties held for sale (“PHS”)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
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BRETEEH @

Key Audit Matter
BRESSE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RN ESNMEEERETER

Impairment assessments of non-financial assets of the Electrical and Electronic cash generating
unit (the “E&E CGU”) and Motors cash generating unit (the “Motors CGU”)
e R EFER RS EAEN ((EFERRSEAEN ) RERERFEELEN((ERERREE

SEMDNFSRMEERMET G

Refer to notes 4.1(d), 15, 17 and 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.
F2HGE U BmRMFT4.1(d) 15 17Kk18 °

As at 31 March 20283, the Group had non-
financial assets totalled HK$783,063,000 in its
E&E and Motors CGUs, comprising of property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, and
goodwill with carrying amounts of approximately
HK$749,316,000, HK$29,097,000, and
HK$4,650,000, respectively.
RZEBE-_=ZF=ZA=+—"H  BEEERETERR
@EEE@&%%E%E@EEE&Z#&@%E
#A%E /3783,063,0008 7T - BIEME - MFEKEFE
EREEEKMBNREED BIA/R749,316,00078
JT ~ 29,097,000% 7T 2 4,650,000/ It °

The Group performed impairment assessment for
goodwill allocated to each of the E&E CGU and
Motors CGU annually. During the year ended
31 March 2023, as a result of the unfavourable
performance of the E&E CGU, management
considered that impairment indicator exists for the
non-financial assets of the E&E CGU. Impairment
assessments of non-financial assets are performed
by estimating the recoverable amounts of the CGUs
which were determined based on higher of fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use.
E%lii%“%%%%%ﬁﬁ%?iﬁﬁ&%%
EnReEABUNHEETREN G REE

7f_¢ H= + Eﬁir m %%Emﬁi
EAXBEMNNRBENE EEERAETERRESE
HFENNIFEREEFTEREREZE FeREED

AT 1 T5 IR T 0 2 A B 7 0 T M 0 B M 2
DA TR 25 S A T 5 P B 0 o
i -

We performed the following procedures to address
this key audit matter:

HAS L BEREF FEETATIER

° Obtained an understanding of management’s
internal control and assessment in identifying
the indicators of potential impairment and
estimating the recoverable amounts of the E&E
and Motors CGUSs, and assessed the inherent
risk of material misstatements by considering
the degree of estimation uncertainty,
complexity, subjectivity and other inherent risk
factors;
TREEBESBMNNEEREEEZIEAEFER
RERERREEFEBEMAKESENAILE

Rt WEREATRERZNEE &
ﬁ& FEUERAEMANERRREZ  UFFEE
K $8 5R PR 69 N 1E R B

o Compared the current year’s actual results
with the forecast made last year to evaluate
the reliability and historical accuracy of
management’s budgeting process;

HAFENERGEREEZFNBANGERETL
B UHEEEERERMBENATEERESL

T

o Assessed the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuer
engaged by management;
EEREMZEBVINIEAEMNERE 827
NEHM
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

FARETTEE#)

Key Audit Matter
BAEENSE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNESA NN EEERENSE

The value in use calculation used cash flow
projections based on management approved
financial budget covering a five-year period and
projected the cash flow beyond the period covered
by the budget with a terminal growth rate. Certain
key assumptions used by the management in the
value in use calculation include revenue growth
rate, gross profit margin, discount rate and terminal
growth rate. Management also performed sensitivity
analysis on the recoverable amount of the CGUs.
For the year ended 31 March 2023, impairment loss
amounted to HK$20,283,000 of the E&E CGU was
recognised based on management’s assessment.
FTREBENGEERTENEREEZEN L F M
IS TEE /IR £ R TER - WA K A X K R 388 BT iR
EHEzeNReR EREBAENEFEAEARRE
AMELARREEFEWALRE  ERE - BRE
RAKABER BEREEEUZERELEUNA
WEHETTHEREST BHE_ZT_=F=H
=t+—HLFE BREEEENTEH BEFERRE
7 HE B B SRR (B 5 1820,283,000/8 T ©

In addition, during the year ended 31 March
2023, the Group decided to scale down one of its
production plants of the Motors CGU which resulted
in a provision for impairment of the relevant non-
financial assets totalling HK$36,714,000.

o REZEZZE-_=F=-A=+—HLFE " &S
EATHEAE—HERERR e ELEUNEERE
AR - BBUERE3E S B & B R E R # $£36,714,000
BT °

We considered the impairment assessment of non-
financial assets of E&E CGU and Motors CGU is a
key audit matter because it involved management’s
significant judgements and estimates.
HREFERBRSESAENNERERESELEN
e RMEERNREN Y REIERENERHE G
i BRFIR AR —HERETEE -

° Assessed the appropriateness of the
methodology used in determining the
recoverable amounts;

AP EEE FIUR El  BERS FTER AR DT ERE E 1L

° Assessed the reasonableness of the key

assumptions used such as revenue growth
rate, gross profit margin, terminal growth
rate, and discount rate by comparing them to
approved budget, historical results, market
data or industry research;
FRECHETRE BERE  MHSBEBRRITE
HIEITH R - FHEATEAN T ERR (WA
BEXR  EMNE  RERIERELERE) N5
1

o Compared the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal with value in use;
NATFEREESEKRAEGBERE
HEm®

1T LR

° Evaluated the sensitivity analysis prepared by
management on the key assumptions used in
the valuation in use assessment to understand
the impact of reasonable changes in key
assumptions on the estimated recoverable
amounts of the E&E and Motors CGUs; and
EREEBNERAEENHPABRRER
LNGFRREDITETS - LA T RRERBRENE E
g{b%‘fﬁﬁ1ﬁaﬂ'm %%EDD&%&EEDD@%E&E%
BAAIEIN S E R
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BY ZBEHRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) BAREETEE &)
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BERESSE EMNESTONEEERENSE

° For the impairment loss resulting from the
scale down of a production plant of the
Motor CGU, we also checked to the Motors
CGU’s board of directors meeting minutes for
decision of scaling down of a Motors CGU’s
production plant.

R HERERRSELEUNEERE
H IR &R R E BT 1R - TP TR EIR TE 4R
EREMRSELBULERENRRHNER
EnReELBUEFEERLE -

Based on the above, we considered that the
management’s judgements and assumptions used
in the impairment assessment are supported by the
evidence obtained from the procedures performed.
RIE XAt - AR ARBER PR EEE R 2
BT R RIS EEITIE P R UG )RR P 3% -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

FARETTEE#)

Key Audit Matter
BEENSE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNESONEEERENSE

Assessment of net realisable values of properties under development (“PUD”) and completed

properties held for sale (“PHS”)
BRPMERBELEZR T YETER FEMNTM

Refer to notes 4.1(e), 19 and 20 to the consolidated
financial statements.
BRMREVBHREMTEL () - 19520 -

As at 31 March 2023, the PUD and PHS of
the Group amounted to HK$310,620,000 and
HK$79,128,000 respectively. In September 2022,
the Group decided to shelve and cease further
development of a real estate development project
(the “shelved project”). The carrying amounts of
PUD and PHS are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value (“NRV’). During the
year ended 31 March 2023, impairment loss of
HK$191,304,000 and HK$48,774,000 were made
in the consolidated income statement to write down
the PUD including the construction cost of the
shelved project and PHS to their NRV, respectively.
RZEZ=F=ZA=+—H  BE5ENEE+SY
ERFEHE 2RI Y% 5 /R310,620,000/8 7T K&
79,128,000 T - R—ZE-—F NP> BEBEERTE
BEREFL—(EAFMEMRZFER ((MEER]) ME
—HHE  BRPYERFELEZRIMEZRE
CHEBRKARA BT FE([ATERFE]) FREE
MR - HEZE-_=F=A=T—RHIEFE K&K
& o Bl EFR191,304,0007%8 T % 48,774,0005% 7T
RBEEE  UAEEETFVE(BFEHEEEB IFE
HEZRTITYMEZERKA) MOREHAT# IR FE -

We performed the following procedures to address
this key audit matter:
B L RAREA FHETUATIERF

° Obtained an understanding of management’s
internal control and assessment of net
realisable values of PUD and PHS and
assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainly, complexity, subjectivity
and other inherent risk factors;
TREBEBENGERTYWERMELEZRT
VP E IR R ER N BB RAT G - W E G
THREEREZNEE BN FHEUEREMAE
R A - AR E R RBR A E N

° Assessed the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuer
engaged by management;

B EEMZRABIINIEERMNERE - 82
PAPSER 5k

° Assessed the methodologies used in
determining the NRV; and
B A A R R TR % ¢ R
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
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FARETTEE#)

Key Audit Matter
BEENSE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNESONEEERENSE

Determination of NRV of PUD and PHS involved
critical accounting estimates on the selling price,
variable selling expenses and, for PUD, the costs
to completion. The judgements and estimations are
subject to high degree of uncertainty. The inherent
risk in relation to the assessment of NRV of PUD
and PHS is considered relatively higher due to
uncertainty of significant assumptions used.

ETERTOERFELEZRIMENAIZRF
BEFREHEER AZEEERUARERFTYE
W LA R G 2S5 RETAAS
BEMNTEEE ARAEANESZRINTETE
M BERPYERFEHEZCRIMENAIZE
FEMEEENANERBRERAEEERS -

We considered this is a key audit matter because
the estimation of NRV involved significant degree of
management’s judgements and assumptions.

MR A BB FEMN G L EIRE S E X E R
®HEMRBB/E—BARETEER-

° Assessed the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used such as selling price,
variable selling expenses, and, for PUD, the
costs to completion;
FHMEATEANEERR (WEE  ATFHEERX
R (EBERPYEMS) RIKAR) HEBME

Regarding the impairment loss resulting from the
shelved project, we also performed the following
procedures:

HRWEBBEENREER  HMATRITTUT
BT

° Checked the approval of shelving and
cessation of the project to the board of
directors’ resolution; and
EHEESFSENBEERFILIERRE -

° Reviewed legal opinion from external legal
counsel to understand their analysis and view
on the recoverable amount of the land portion
of the shelved project in consideration of the
PRC’s laws and regulations.
EHIMNDEERBERBERER - ATHRKRE
BHRENEREMEREHREER L5
WEIEBHDITRER

s
on|

Based on above, we considered that the
management’s judgements and assumptions used
in the NRV assessment are supported by the
evidence obtained from the procedures performed.
RIE EXFt - BRMRARATERFETEMAERE
B 8 I R RAS B EIT R R BUS R REB T3 ©
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises all of
the information included in the Annual Report (but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon) and the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

18 M % BED RS

EERBERZEENGEEUBR
REAARENERE

BERREFAAARBE GG RM
ECE BT R E A RBECRRHERRD B
BEAETHRBEEMTENGEEMBEHRE
VTHERBREEAVBRROBEIFE
AR ERMEBNEARBRRAFFF
MAEEHI AR

EREFEAVBRRE EF88TH &
SEFBBELEMRE N LHEERABRTHRE
RSELEAMNER  URERKELE
SEFEN RIFEFAEN EXEER
HFLLEE  SHBEMBERNRBE IR -

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &#&EE AR A a]

89



90

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

18 M % BLED ]

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° ldentify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors'
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit
Committee, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Ms. Lai Pui Ling, Sandra.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit before impairment

Cost of sales — Impairment loss on
property, plant and equipment

Cost of sales — Impairment of
properties under development and
completed properties held for sale

Gross (loss)/profit after impairment

Other income and gains, net
Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses
Impairment loss on goodwill
Reversal of impairment
losses/(impairment losses)
on financial assets

Operating (loss)/profit

Finance income
Finance costs

Finance costs, net

(Loss)/profit before income tax

Income tax credit/(expense)

(Loss)/profit for the year
attributable to equity holders
of the Company

iy 2
i & B A

BB 2 ER

HEKRAKR-ME - BFE &

R RIERE

HEXRK -ZERTIMER

FEREZ®RT
MERE

RE%R2 (E8) /EF

H AR s - F 5

HERDHEFX

TR X

e ZREREE

TREEZRERE
o CREEsR)

e (B18R) T

B H5 A
M5 E R

MBER - 8

BRETGBLAT (B518) %R

PriSBiE R,/ (F)

ARTEESE AEMS
Fr(BE) EF

The above consolidated income statement should be read
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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i

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BEZT-=Ff=-A=+t—"HLFE

2023 2022
—E—-= —F-=

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
ioga FAETT FET
5 1,209,602 2,316,315
8 (1,082,937) (2,070,783)
126,665 245,532

8 (50,790) -
8 (240,078) -
(164,203) 245,532

6 36,579 67,030
8 (38,185) (64,916)
8 (119,183) (162,847)
8 (6,207) -
5,139 (1,786)

(286,060) 83,013

7 1,599 1,101
7 (13,262) (9,707)
7 (11,663) (8,606)
(297,723) 74,407
11 3,554 (17,549)
(294,169) 56,858

AR W e 2% B SE (R BB BT B 5 — PR BIAE -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

AeZHEWEKR

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE—_Z-_=F=-A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—EC-=F —EC-CF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt F#ET FHET
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EFR) SRR (294,169) 56,858
Other comprehensive income arisen REFELEEEK 2
from continuing operations: Hith2mE W EH :
ltems that may be reclassified to AEF BRI K2
the income statement: EH :
Exchange translation reserve on REBINEBEEZ
translation of foreign operations b X R (156,631) 51,929
(56631 51929
Other comprehensive (loss)/income REEBETEEF D
not to be reclassified to the income Bifar k2 B EE
statement in subsequent periods: (EE), Weas -
Deficit on revaluation of T REF
land and buildings B A 15 (43,527) (23,859)
Deferred tax credited to REEEMGFEBETA
asset revaluation reserve ZIEFERIIR 29 9,102 5,486
(34,425) (18,373)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income F£REMEHE (FiE)
for the year, net of tax Wz 0 MBRBIE (191,056) 33,556
Total comprehensive (loss)/income AR FEFIZFE A
for the year attributable to equity EhEnzmE (BE),
holders of the Company Wik 5 (485,225) 90,414
(Loss)/earnings per share KATERFEA
attributable to equity holders EhEESR (5R) BF
of the Company
Basic and diluted EXLEE 13 HK(67.01) centsifll  HK12.95 centsi#
The above consolidated statement of comprehensive Fitsr s 2w ES 3 E E [ BE MY P AT — GE
income should be read in conjunction with the i o

accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e IR R

As at 31 March 2023
R-—ZBE-_=%=H=+—H

2023 2022
—Eg=-= —EF- -
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
&t FET FHEIT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENMKRE 15 781,529 983,239
Investment properties WA 16 54,016 65,280
Right-of-use assets FTREEE 17 29,484 34,652
Properties under development BEREAPYE 19 103,216 42,217
Intangible assets BEEE 18 4,650 10,857
Financial assets at fair value through BBBREAFTEYERZ
profit or loss BREE 24 - 12,684
Prepayments and deposits BRFERES 23 24,571 85,843
Deferred tax assets RIETRIEA = 29 4,145 5,745
Total non-current assets FnBEELE 1,001,611 1,240,517
Current assets REBEE
Properties under development BRPUE 19 207,404 411,898
Completed properties held for sale BEEREZRTIME 20 79,128 143,954
Inventories PENSY 21 195,559 286,886
Accounts receivable JE U BR 3R 22 210,742 289,319
Prepayments, deposits and FERFIE ek
other receivables H b fE Y 3B 23 114,333 236,397
Financial assets at fair value through FBERERAFEYEY
profit or loss TREE 24 27,408 14,508
Tax recoverable GRS qEIk 7R 4,457 11,339
Pledged deposits [EE YR 25 - 12,326
Time deposits EHIfE R 25 10,006 13,355
Restricted bank deposits SR SR ITIF R 25 1,093 650
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReERY 25 203,372 256,934
1,053,502 1,677,566
Assets classified as held for sale DEABIELNEERE 26 41,100 -
Total current assets MEEERE 1,094,602 1,677,566
Total assets BHEE 2,096,213 2,918,083
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MR R &

As at 31 March 2023
R-ZE-_=F=AH=+—H

EQUITY

Equity attributable to equity holders of
the Company

Share capital

Reserves

Total equity

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities

Deferred income and other payables
Bank borrowings

Lease liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Current liabilities

Accounts and bills payable,
other payables and provisions

Contract liabilities

Bank borrowings

Lease liabilities

Tax payable

Total current liabilities
Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

The above consolidated statement of financial position
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying

notes.

These consolidated financial statements on pages 93
to 239 have been approved for issue by the Board of
Directors on 29 June 2023 and were signed on its behalf.

Cheng Chor Kit
BREE {5

Director

EF

R

AR A tF B A
JE1 s

[EEN

&1

ERAH

&8E

FRBEE

A FE A B E At A SRR
RITEE

HERRE

ELERRAE

FRBAERE

REBAE
ENERARZE

B & SRR K A
BHAaRE
RITIEE
HE&RE
FE B IR

MEN AR B

wmaE

HEZKAE

=]
§

o

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &5 E AR A A

Notes
k=3

30
32

27
28
17
29

27

5(d)
28
17

2023 2022
—E=-= —=E-
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAET
43,896 43,896
1,060,789 1,546,014
1,104,685 1,589,910
36,767 17,515
82,200 111,800
6,477 6,941
29,387 40,075
________ 154,831 176,331
346,325 478,742
158,958 180,761
269,065 417,347
5,596 5,979
56,753 69,013
836,697 1,151,842
991,528 1,328,173
2,096,213 2,918,083

AR A B 75 AR 0 3% 8 A2 () B B B o — 91 B3

o

FOBEA LK EREMBRRCHES
ER T =FRNAZ T ABRBAEREITIA
TIESRERE -

Liu Tat Luen

BER

Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
M\é?ﬁ£%§§%§%§§

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE - =F=-A=+—HItFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

ARARERAARL
Reserves
e
Share-
Share based Asset  Exchange Capital
Share  premium  payment revaluation translation redemption Contributed Other  Retained Total Total
capital  account reserve reserve reserve reserve surplus reserve profits  reserves equity
HR B
RERN KE Ex

ke REEER ARBE  EHRE  EXRR  RERE  AABR  ERBE  REEAW  BREE  BR4R
HK$'000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSOO0  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000
FEr  TEr AT FET FEL 7T T FET FET AT AT

At 1 April 2022 W-2--ERA-R 4389 156,015 670 159,481 71,919 14 6,150 (11,2300 1,162,995 1,546,014 1,589,910
Revaluation deficit (Note 15) - - - (43,521) - - - - - (43,527) (43,527)
Deferred tax credited to asset revaluation reserve
(Note 29) - - - 9,102 - - - - - 9,102 9,102
Exchange translation on translation
of foreign operations - - - - (138,489 - - - - (138489) (138489
Release of exchange translation reserve upon
deregistration of a subsidiary (Note 6) - - - - (18,142) - - - - (18,142) (18,142)
Loss for the year - - - - - - - - (294169)  (204169)  (294,169)
Total comprehensive loss for the year EREAEREE - - - (34429 (156,61) - - - (94169 (485205  (485,225)
At 31 March 2023 WZE-Z§=f=1-A 4389 156,015 670 125,056 (84,712 14 6,150 (11,230 868,826 1,060,789 1,104,685
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
AARREREARL
Reserves
e
Share-
Share based Asset  Exchange Capital
Share  premium  payment revaluation translation redemption Contributed Other  Retained Total Total
capital  account reserve reserve reserve reserve surplus reserve profits  reserves equity
HRH
RERH 1] -0
ka ROEER  ARRE  EMEE  ENRE  RERE  SARR  REBE  REEY  BRER  RRER
HK§'000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKS000  HKBOOD  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000  HKS(000
AT TEr TET TET TET FET FET FEAT FET AT AT
At 1 April 2021 R-E--¥BA-A 438% 156,015 670 177,854 19990 14 6,150 (11,230) 1,106,187 1455600  1,499.496
Revaluation deficit (Note 15) - - - (23,859) - - - - - (23859 (23,859
Deferred tax credited to assef revaluation reserve g
(Note 29) i 129) - - - 5,486 - - - - - 5,486 5,486
Exchange translation on ranglation RERNERIEREE
of foreign operations - - - - 51,929 - - - - 51,929 51,929
Profit for the year FRET = 5 S - - - - 56,858 56,858 56,858
Total comprehensive income for the year FREENEEE = - - (18313 51829 - - - 56,858 90,414 90,414
At 31 March 2022 RZB--%=f=1-A 438% 156,015 670 159,481 71,919 14 6,150 (11,2300 116299 1546014  1,589910
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AN o~ —1
GmEBHERER
For the year ended 31 March 2023
BHE - =F=-A=+—BHItFE

Cash flows from operating activities
(Loss)/profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Finance income
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, net
Fair value loss on investment properties
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary
Gain on termination of lease
Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment
Impairment loss on goodwill
(Reversal of impairment losses)/impairment
losses on financial assets
Provision for impairment of inventories, net
Impairment of properties under development
Impairment of completed properties
held for sale
Deferred government subsidies income

Decrease in completed properties held for sale

Increase in properties under development

Decrease in inventories

Decrease in accounts receivable

Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables

Decrease in accounts and bills payable,
other payables and provisions

(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities

Increase in deferred income

Increase in restricted bank deposits

Cash generated from operations
Interest received

Interest paid

Hong Kong profits refunded/(paid)
Overseas income refunded/(paid)

Net cash inflow from operating activities

REZHLRERE

BBAT (B8R),/ & H

BATREEHAE
HBER

A
BRRRRATEIRZ R
BEAVENE F8
RENEZATEZER
HENE  BERREL
BE/ (k&)
HE—-FMERR W&
RIEHE 2 Wk

— (e P /2 ) R A e M
nE BERRENE
EREEENE

nE - BERREZ
HEE R

HERESR
eRMEECHEBRER),/
B E R
FEREREFE
BRPMEZRE
FIELEZRINMEZHE

I X T 7 B A

REELEZRTHRRD
BRPMEEM

FERE D

TR R
BNF0R - 1E RERRER
R,/ ()
ENERLRE  AUENHEA
KBRS
AnaBEORD) /Em

EREWALZ
RBHRTHETIEM
REXBMELRE
EHHE

ERME

£@/(BR)EEHEH
£@/(BR)BIMEH

RERYLRERAFE

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &5 E AR A A

2023 2022

—EC=f —E-CfF

Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
k3 FET FET
(297,723) 74,407

7 13,262 9,707
7 (1,599) (1,101)
6 (274) (4,155)
6 9,906 2,601
6 613 (34)
6 - (605)
6 (21) -
6 (18,142) -
8 119,452 129,588
8 6,726 5,213
50,790 -

6,207 -

(5,139) 1,786

8 5,801 4,583
8 191,304 -
8 48,774 -
27 (9,158) (39,895)
120,779 182,095

6,226 4,002
(9,894) (61,257)

61,996 77,674

73,202 82,539
33,953 (275)
(126,209) (275,457)

(21,803) 54,206

4,767 4,399
(520) (95)

142,497 67,831

1,599 1,101
(20,356) (17,644)
5,078 (30,296)
332 (913)

129,150 20,079
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2023
HE-_Z-_=F=-A=+—HLHFE

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Decrease/(increase) in short-term bank deposits
Proceeds from disposal of property,

plant and equipment
Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash received

Net cash outflow from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from bank borrowings
Repayment of bank borrowings
Proceeds from other financing
Repayment of lease liabilities

Decrease in pledged deposits

Net cash outflow from financing activities

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at

the beginning of year
Effect of exchange rate changes on

cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

REEDZRERE
BEDZ BERK
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HENE - BE RREMER
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BIIEEEECHABHE
EERTER
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EEAETHD

REETH HATRLFE
RERREERN IR RE
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T“@ﬂﬁ%&ﬁﬁﬁﬂwz
;488

5’\/5

ERZRERAEERY

2023 2022

—E-=F —EoCF

Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
k3 FET FET
(57,286) (22,551)

2,663 (172)

34(a) 5,288 90
= (3,912)

(49,335) (26,545)

376,133 477,186

(537,358) (613,582)

28,450 -

(6,048) (4,103)

11,783 6,078

(127,040) (134,421)

(47,225) (140,887)

256,934 390,018

(6,337) 7,803

25 203,372 256,934
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Kin Yat Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the design, manufacture and sale of
electrical and electronic products, motors and real
estate development.

The Company is a limited liability company
incorporated in Bermuda. The address of its
registered office is 7/F., Galaxy Factory Building, 25-
27 Luk Hop Street, San Po Kong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

The ordinary shares of the Company are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

The Company is a subsidiary of Resplendent Global
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands. The directors of the Company consider
Padora Global Inc., a company also incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands, to be the ultimate holding
company of the Company.

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HKD”), unless otherwise stated.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EBAR A7

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial
statements are for the Group consisting of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

2.1 Basis of preparation
(@) Compliance with HKFRS and HKCO

The consolidated financial statements
of the Group have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) and
disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622.

(b) Historical cost convention
The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a historical cost
basis, except for the following:

° certain financial assets, certain
classes of property, plant and
equipment and investment
properties, which are measured at
fair value or revalued amount, and

o assets held for sale, which are
measured at the lower of carrying
amount and fair value less costs to
sell.

B 75 ¥ 2= B AE

TEESTHEBE

AHFERERERZ TR M RRE
RANEIZRABRBE -BREHA
S REBRIRAEERFEER K
R - UBBEASARE (BARAR

EHBARIARK) RE -
21 RBEEXE
(a) BrERUEBREEAURSE
& D TR

REBGEMBHRETIZR
BT EHEER([HEY
HRE LR ]) RBEBEPIE
622F N Al & B 2 # TR E
mel o

(b) E$RAE
R A B IRER T IR IR E AR
ISEMREBL - WIS TERR N -

e ETHURAFEHEMRE
AEZEREE -FT
BEZME  BFEAR
BARREME &

o UNURHEEHEANFERD
ERAZEBEEFEZ
FIFLEEE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

21

Basis of preparation (continued)

(c)

Going concern basis

During the year ended 31 March 2023,
the Group reported a loss before income
tax of HK$297,723,000, which was
mainly attributable to the decline in
revenue by 47.8% to HK$1,209,602,000
due to the loss of a major customer, the
provision of impairment of properties
held for sales and under development
totaling to HK$240,078,000, provision
of impairment on property, plant and
equipment totaling to HK$50,790,000,
and provision of impairment of intangible
assets totaling to HK$6,207,000. As at
31 March 2023, the Group had current
and non-current bank borrowings of
HK$269,065,000 and HK$82,200,000,
respectively, while its cash and cash
equivalents was HK$203,372,000.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &5 E AR A A

2 FESHBEBRE )

2.1

mBEE(E)

(c)

BELEEE
BE_T_=F=A=+—
BIEFE  NEESSHKRA
15 7 Al &5 18297,723,0007%
T EERHREKE—RE
DR ERIRERL47.8%
%£1,209,602,000/8 7T * #
EHERBERPWERER
54 #240,078,000/8 7T *
ME - BE R ERER
& 42 %8 /550,790,000 7t
UWRkEREERBERER
%43%6,207,0008 7T A =
T -_=F=ZA=+—8"
& BB K& IER B R
715 E 9 B £269,065,000
7 7T }%.82,200,000/% 7T © 1M
ERekASERMA A
203,372,000 7T °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(c)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

Going concern basis (continued)

In view of the deteriorating financial
performance of the Group, the
competitive business environment and
the sluggish property market in Mainland
China, the directors of the Company have
given careful consideration to the future
liquidity and performance of the Group,
and its available sources of financing in
assessing whether the Group will have
sufficient financial resources to continue
as a going concern. Certain plans and
measures have been taken to mitigate
the liquidity pressure and to improve its
financial position which include, but not
limited to, the following:

(i) During the year ended 31 March
2023, the Group anticipated it
would not comply with certain
restrictive financial covenants
of its borrowings amounting to
HK$58,683,000, which may cause
the corresponding borrowings
from these relevant banks to
become immediately due and
payable. Accordingly, prior to
31 March 2023, the Group
successfully obtained waivers
for the compliance of restrictive
financial covenants from the relevant
banks. Management will continue
to monitor the Group’s compliance
with the covenant requirements
under its banking facilities. Should
the Group anticipate that it would
not be able to comply with the
relevant covenant requirements,
management will discuss and
negotiate with the respective banks
and will seek to further revise the
terms and covenant requirements or
obtain a waiver of compliance with
the covenant requirements from the
banks, if needed;

B 75 ¥ 2= B AE

2 FESHBEBE®)

21 RREEE)

(c)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

21

Basis of preparation (continued)
Going concern basis (continued)

(c)

(i

In March 2023, the Group entered
into (a) a lands resumption agreement
with the local government of the
City of Shaoguan, Guangdong
Province of Mainland China for
surrendering certain land use rights
and other relevant assets and (b)
a cooperation agreement with
a property developer which had
expressed interest in developing
the lands pursuant to the said
land resumption for a total cash
compensation of approximately
RMB107,300,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$123,395,000). In
June 2023, the Group has received
the first payment of RMB15,000,000
(equivalent to approximately
HK$16,929,000) in accordance with
the land resumption agreement.
With reference to the payment
schedule as included in the lands
resumption agreement and the
cooperation agreement, directors
of the Company expect that an
additional amount of not less than
RMB35,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$39,502,000) will
be received within 12 months from
31 March 2023;
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR EIE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
(c) Going concern basis (continued)

(i)

(iv)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

The Group maintains continuous
communications with all the banks
and the directors believe that the
Group’s existing banking facilities,
including the unutilised amount of
approximately HK$197,221,000 in
aggregate as at 31 March 2023,
will be successfully renewed when
their current terms expire and will
continue to be available to the Group
given the long standing relationships
with the relevant banks. Therefore,
the directors believe that the Group
will be able to draw down from these
facilities to finance its operations, if
needed. In addition, in May 2023,
the Group has successfully obtained
a new banking facility amounting to
HK$35,000,000;

Subsequent to the year end, some
banks have completed their annual
review of the Group’s existing
banking facilities amounted to
HK$143,880,000 and have provided
the Group with the confirmation to
continue to extend the facilities;

During the year ended 31 March
20283, the Group generated
operating cash inflow. The directors
of the Company are of the opinion
that continuous operating cash flow
of the Group will be generated in the
next twelve months resulting from
the economy rebound after the end
of the COVID-19 pandemic; and

2 FESHBEBE®)

21 RREXE(E)
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(i)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)
Going concern basis (continued)

(c)

(vi)

The Group will continue to seek
for other alternative financing
(including but not limited to disposal
of non-core assets) to finance the
settlement of its existing financial
obligations and future operating and
capital expenditure, if needed.

The directors of the Company
have reviewed the Group’s cash
flow projections prepared by
management which cover a period
of not less than twelve months from
31 March 2023. The directors of
the Company are of the opinion
that considering the anticipated
cash flows generated from the
Group’s operations taking into
account of reasonably possible
changes in operation performances
and the above-mentioned plans
and measures, the Group will have
sufficient working capital to finance
its operations and to meet its
financial obligations as and when
they fall due within twelve months
from 31 March 2023. Accordingly,
the directors are satisfied that
it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on
a going concern basis.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(d)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

Amendments to existing standards,
annual improvements and accounting
guideline adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following
amendments to existing standards,
annual improvements and accounting
guideline for the first time for their annual
reporting period commencing 1 April
2022:

Amendments to Annual
Improvements Project

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Amendments to HKFRS
3, HKAS 16 and
HKAS 37

Narrow-scope
Amendments

Amendments to
Accounting Guideline 5

Merger Accounting for
Common Gontrol
Combination

The amendments to existing standards,
annual improvements and accounting
guideline listed above did not have any
impact on the amounts recognised in
prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future
periods.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED

B 75 ¥ 2= B AE

2 FESHBEBE®)

21 RREXE(E)
(d) FEERABREEL - F
EXEREESI ZETER

AREFDHR T __FIMA
—BRBMNFREREHESE
RERTH IR A LR - F
EE R SRS ZIBFTA

FRIERR
CCHEN)

BB BR
HEAZ
Z-N\F
-
TEZ
FENE

ERUBREEL  REEBI
EI5H BHEG
K BI5E165% &

EEgiHER
E37% (BT R)
SHESIE5% HEEHT
CHES AfzA
HEE
2

EXFANHRBED  FE
BOE R BT HE S| 2 BRI A Y
BEHRHERZERLEY
& R IEMY R RS ERE
WEBBALE -

HaEEERAR

107



108

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

2 FESTHEHEBE@R

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

21

Basis of preparation (continued)

(e)

New standard and amendments to (e)
existing standards and interpretation

not yet adopted

The following new and amended
standards and interpretation have been
published but are not effective for the
financial year beginning on or after 1 April

21 RREXE(E)
AR AT ENRRE
EARBRBETE

2022 reporting periods and have not been

early adopted by the Group.

HKFRS 17
BERMBREENEITH
Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2
AESHENB IR REENBRE
RRAIEBRE B2 (BFIA)
Amendments to HKAS 8
R GHEREH (BFTX)
Amendments to HKAS 12

BEGRENE12% (BFTX)
Amendments to HKAS 1

BEGHENF R (BITX)
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(Revised)

BERBER (KEF)

Amendments to HKFRS 16
BB BREENSE16% (BIF)
Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28
BBMBREERE10% R

B GRERE28% (BFTK)

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EBAR A7

Insurance Contracts and the related Amendments

RBA A RAEBEER

Disclosure of Accounting Policies
REGUR

Definition of Accounting Estimates

It ER

Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction

HE-ZHESMEERBRABCELNE

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

BEEDBARBIGERE RIHRHER
ERBAE

Presentation of Financial Statements -
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

BBEBRENZI —ERAHHFRERER G
EHERNAHE

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

EREENEERE

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
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Effective for
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1 April 2023
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(e)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

New standard and amendments to
existing standards and interpretation
not yet adopted (continued)

The Amendments to HKAS 12 require
companies to recognise deferred tax on
transactions that, on initial recognition,
give rise to equal amounts of taxable and
deductible temporary differences. They
will typically apply to transactions such as
leases of lessees and decommissioning
obligations and will require the
recognition of additional deferred tax
assets and liabilities.

As a result, deferred taxes arising from
certain right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities in the Group are expected to be
recognised. The Group is assessing and
quantifying the impact at the moment.

Mandatory for financial years
commencing on or after 1 April 2023, at
this stage, the Group does not intend to
adopt the standard before its effective
date.

Other than the aforementioned
amendments, the new accounting
standard and other amendments to
existing standards and interpretation are
not expected to have a material impact
on the Group in the current or future
reporting periods and on foreseeable
future transactions.

B 75 ¥ 2= B AE

2 FESHBEBE®)

21 RREE(E)

(e)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting

(a)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including
structured entities) over which the Group
has control. The Group controls an
entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its
power to direct the activities of the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred to
the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting
is used to account for business
combinations by the Group. The excess
of the consideration transferred and
amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquired entity over the fair value
of the net identifiable assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill.

Intercompany transactions, balances
and unrealised gains on transactions
between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results
and equity of subsidiaries are shown
separately in the consolidated income
statement, consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of financial
position respectively.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (continued)

(b)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-
controlling interests that do not result
in a loss of control as transactions
with equity owners of the Group. A
change in ownership interest results
in an adjustment between the carrying
amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests to reflect their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount of the
adjustment to non-controlling interests
and any consideration paid or received
is recognised in “Other reserves” within
equity attributable to owners of the
Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate
an investment because of a loss of
control, any retained interest in the entity
is remeasured to its fair value with the
change in carrying amount recognised in
profit or loss. This fair value becomes the
initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint
venture or financial asset. In addition, any
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. This may mean that
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified or
permitted by applicable HKFRSs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2 FESHBEBRE )

2.3 Separate financial statements
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving a
dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the
subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared
or if the carrying amount of the investment in
the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.

2.4 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a
manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to the chief operating decision maker
(“*CODM”), comprising the Board of Directors of
the Company.

2.5 Foreign currency translation

(a)

Functional and presentation currency
ltems included in the financial statements
of each of the Group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional

currency”).

The consolidated financial

statements are presented in HKD,
which is the Company’s functional and

presentation currency.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(b)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are
translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions or valuation where
items are re-measured. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and
from the translation of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at year end exchange rates are
generally recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that
relate to borrowings are presented in the
consolidated income statement, within
“Finance costs, net”. All other foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented
in the consolidated income statement
on a net basis within “Other income and
gains, net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured
at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was determined.
Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported
as part of the fair value gain or loss. For
example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as
equities held at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised in profit or loss as
part of the fair value gain or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of
foreign operations (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency
as follows:

° assets and liabilities for each
statement of financial position
presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that
statement of financial position;

o income and expenses for each
income statement and statement
of comprehensive income are
translated at average exchange
rates (unless this is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated
at the dates of the transactions);
and

° all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive
income.

On consolidation, exchange differences
arising from the translation of any
net investment in foreign entities,
and of borrowings and other financial
instruments designated as hedges of
such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold or any borrowings
forming part of the net investment
are repaid, the associated exchange
differences are reclassified to profit or
loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EBAR A7

2 FESHBEBRE )

25 SHEBRE(E)

(c)

EEETAF

N EBEHEREETR 2
BINER (BB R BRI
B BE¥) 2 EERMBHR
MBATHABRELRZRE
e

o  BEAMBHINAKRMZ
Sl BEERABEEL
BRZWMERRE

o FBlmREEENRIER
ZWA R MR P
R E (FRIFLLBEIL
ZREXZHAHER
EXRAFEZAED
2 BRIA R H
RXZAMBE) » &

s MAELAEREREME
WS AR

RmEmafkAR  BES
SNEREMREFRLETE
RREREZHWIERB 2 &
EREMER T AEEMNE
REBRHNE A 2 H W i
RoBHEBINEHLEER
BARZIREFEB DO EM
B3 HEAMERZBENE
SnEFFRR/HENI K

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z ¥



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c)

(d)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

Group companies (continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments
arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

Disposal of foreign operation and
partial disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation
(that is, a disposal of the Group’s entire
interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over
a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation or a disposal involving loss of
significant influence over an associate
that includes a foreign operation), all
of the currency translation differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the
company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that
does not result in the Group losing
control over a subsidiary that includes
a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated currency
translation differences are re-attributed
to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (that is, reductions in the
Group’s ownership interest in associates
that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange
difference is reclassified to profit or loss.

B 75 ¥ 2= B AE

2 FESTHEHEBE®R
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(c)

(d)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

2 FESTHHEHEME®)

26 YME -BERRE

Freehold land and buildings are recognised
at fair value based on annual valuations by
external independent valuers, less subsequent
depreciation for buildings. A revaluation deficit/
surplus is debited/credited to asset revaluation
reserves in shareholders’ equity.

All other property, plant and equipment are
stated at historical cost less depreciation.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of any component accounted for as a
separate asset is derecognised when replaced.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to profit or loss during the reporting period in
which they are incurred.

Changes in the carrying amounts arising on
revaluation of buildings are recognised, net
of tax, in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in reserves in shareholders’
equity. To the extent that the increase reverses
a decrease previously recognised in profit or
loss, the increase is first recognised in profit or
loss. Decreases that reverse previous increases
of the same asset are first recognised in other
comprehensive income to the extent of the
remaining surplus attributable to the asset; all
other decreases are charged to profit or loss.
Each year, the difference between depreciation
based on the revalued carrying amount of the
asset charged to profit or loss and depreciation
based on the asset’s original cost, net of tax,
is reclassified from the property, plant and
equipment revaluation surplus to retained
earnings.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR EIE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

FTESTHHERE 2

26 YME- -BERRKEE)
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Depreciation is calculated using the straight-
line method to allocate their cost or revalued
amounts, net of their residual values, over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

WENRBERETEAD K
AREMTHE - HRBEFHEREH
ZRIBEE 0T -

Freehold land Not depreciated KA FERE T TTHE

Buildings in Over the shorter of REBUAME EHRLOEHEE
Hong Kong lease terms and 4% ZHEF 4% B &

Buildings outside Over the shorter of REBUIMEE RAOFER
Hong Kong lease term and 3.3% ZHEF 3.3% B 5E

&

Moulds, tools, and ~ 10% — 20% BE - TANUNE 10%E20%

plant and machinery R Tt 8

Furniture, equipment  10% — 25%
and motor vehicles

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the
end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined
by comparing proceeds with carrying amount.
These are included in profit or loss. When
revalued assets are sold, it is the Group’s
policy to transfer any amounts included in other
reserves in respect of those assets to retained
earnings.

Construction in progress represents property,
plant and equipment under construction or
pending installation and is stated at cost
less impairment losses, if any. No provision
for depreciation is made on assets under
construction in progress until such time as the
relevant assets are completed and available
for their intended use. On completion, the
relevant assets are transferred to property,
plant and equipment at fair value or cost less
accumulated impairment losses.

R~ RIEMRE 10%E25%

BEZHNHEBRERAFHNEER
ERRGEFFHLAE (HEa) -

fisd & BE < PR & BR LU E TR HI A R
Bl & RAR - BEZRE S BRI
WHEEA K@ EEE -

HEZ W R ERTIE B M
SRRAEmMERETE - Wit AR
N WEREERDE  AEBEK
REARXSTEEMTARMER
ZAEFFRIAERERERF

ERIRELERRIAFTLER
ZUE - BER&E - LRKAR
WEBER(AE) IR BRFZ
BETHRNEREG BEEEME
EXTIHAHEBRERZE 2R - TT
B BREEERATEIKNARER
AAREBEEAYE  BFE MR
o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.7

2.8

Investment properties

Investment property, principally comprising
leasehold land and buildings, is held for long-
term rental yields or for capital appreciation or
both, and that is not occupied by the Group.
It also includes properties that are being
constructed or developed for future use as
investment properties. Investment property
is initially measured at cost, including related
transaction costs and where applicable
borrowing costs. After initial recognition,
investment properties are carried at fair values.
Changes in fair values are presented in profit or
loss as part of other gains.

Properties under development and

completed properties held for sale

Properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable
value takes into account the price ultimately
expected to be realised, less applicable
variable selling expenses and anticipated cost
to completion, or by management estimates
based on prevailing market conditions.

Development cost of property comprises mainly
construction costs, cost of land use rights,
borrowing costs, and professional fees incurred
during the development period.

Properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are classified as current
assets unless those will not be realised in one
normal operating cycle.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.9

2.10
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Intangible assets

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is
included in intangible assets. Goodwill is
not amortised but it is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that it might be
impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Gains and losses on the
disposal of an entity include the carrying amount
of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating
units (“CGU”) for the purpose of impairment
testing. The allocation is made to those CGU
or groups of CGU that are expected to benefit
from the business combination in which the
goodwill arose. The units or groups of units are
identified at the lowest level at which goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes,
being the operating segments (Note 5).

Impairment of non-financial assets
Goodwill and intangible assets that have
an indefinite useful life are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that they
might be impaired. Other assets are tested
for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at
the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other
assets or groups of assets (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at the end
of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Investment and other financial assets

(a)

(b)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in
the following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently
at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVPL”); and

° those to be measured at amortised
cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value,
gains and losses will be recorded in
profit or loss. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading,
this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the
time of initial recognition to account for
the equity investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments
when and only when its business model
for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition
Regular way purchases and sales of
financial assets are recognised on trade-
date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Investment and other financial assets
(continued)

(c)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures
a financial asset at its fair value plus, in
the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or
loss.

Financial assets with embedded
derivatives are considered in their entirety
when determining whether their cash
flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt
instruments depends on the Group’s
business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of
the asset. The Group classifies its debt
instruments as:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are
held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit
or loss and presented in “other
income and gains, net” together
with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are
presented as separate line item in
the consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Investment and other financial assets

(continued)

(c)

Measurement (continued)
Debt instruments (continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash
flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements
in the carrying amount are taken
through OCI, except for the
recognition of impairment gains
or losses, interest income and
foreign exchange gains and losses
which are recognised in profit or
loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognised in
OCI is reclassified from equity to
profit or loss and recognised in
other income and gains. Interest
income from these financial assets
is included in finance income using
the effective interest rate method.
Foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in other income and
gains and impairment expenses are
presented as separate line item in
the statement of profit or loss.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the
criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI
are measured at FVPL. A gain or
loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL
is recognised in profit or loss and
presented net within other income
and gains in the period in which it
arises.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Investment and other financial assets
(continued)

(c)

(d)
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Measurement (continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all
equity investments at fair value. Where
the Group’s management has elected
to present fair value gains and losses on
equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value
gains and losses to profit or loss following
the derecognition of the investment.
Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss
as other income when the Group’s right
to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial
assets at FVPL are recognised in other
income and gains in the consolidated
income statement as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of
impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported
separately from other changes in fair
value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-
looking basis the expected credit losses
associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The
impairment methodology applied depends
on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For accounts receivable, the Group
applies the simplified approach permitted
by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from
initial recognition of the receivables, see
Note 3.1 for further details.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

212

2.13

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and
the net amount reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on
future event and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event
of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the
company or the counterparty.

Inventories

Raw materials, work in progress and finished
goods are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost comprises direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of variable and fixed overhead
expenditure, the latter being allocated on the
basis of normal operating capacity. Costs
are determined using the weighted-average
cost method. Costs of purchased inventory
are determined after deducting rebates and
discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.14

2.15

2.16
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Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are amounts due
from customers for goods sold or services
performed in the ordinary course of business.
Accounts receivable are generally due for
settlement within 60-90 days and therefore are
all classified as current.

Accounts receivable are recognised initially
at the amount of consideration that is
unconditional unless they contain significant
financing components, when they are
recognised at fair value. The Group holds
the accounts receivable with the objective to
collect the contractual cash flows and therefore
measures them subsequently at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. See Note
3.1 for a description of the Group’s impairment
policies.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the
consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents includes cash on hand,
deposits held at call with financial institutions,
other short-term, highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that
are readily convertible to known amounts of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts.
Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in
current liabilities in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity (Note
30).

Incremental costs directly attributable to the
issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.17

2.18

Accounts and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods
and services provided to the Group prior to
the end of financial year which are unpaid.
The amounts are unsecured and are usually
paid within 60 days of recognition. Accounts
and other payables are presented as current
liabilities unless payment is not due within
12 months after the reporting period. They
are recognised initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost.
Any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption amount
is recognised in profit or loss over the period
of the borrowings using the effective interest
method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan
facilities are recognised as transaction costs
of the loan to the extent that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until
the draw down occurs. To the extent there is
no evidence that it is probable that some or
all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee
is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.18

2.19
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Borrowings (continued)

Borrowings are removed from the statement of
financial position when the obligation specified
in the contract is discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying
amount of a financial liability that has been
extinguished or transferred to another party
and the consideration paid, including any non-
cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed,
is recognised in profit or loss as other income
or finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless the Group has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the reporting period.

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of a qualifying asset
are capitalised during the period of time that
is required to complete and prepare the asset
for its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets
are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred.

B 75 ¥ 2= B AE

2 FESTHEHEBE®R

2.18

2.19

BE (&)

AT RENE LR - BURL
EmE - BEBSZREMHIRARD
Ik - CHBRRERT S —TNE
REEMNEEEEENKE (21
EEENFREEELMAED
BE)ZRANER  ERmPER
REMBAXTHEER -

BEREARDEE  EAKEHE
ﬁ R REMGERBENR S

EEREHRE G K DI12ERE
E\'Jf%cfﬁlw

BERAE

g - EREEAEREERRE
FEMEE— MRS EBERA « R
MEXREEEERBTERRAN
TRHERABTEER c HEKE
EATEZRRNMEIRERAE
REEERRZEE -

REFRRAEEREERI N
EEEFLEHRERDNKRE
WA - BRERBAREARNEERK
APIOER -

HibfEERAEREEE R -

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &#&EE AR A a]

127



128

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax

2 FESHBEBRE )

2.20 NI RIELEFTEH

The income tax expense or credit for the period
is the tax payable on the current period’s
taxable income based on the applicable income
tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences and to
unused tax losses.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except to the extent that it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

(@) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is
calculated on the basis of the tax
laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in
the countries where the Company’s
subsidiaries and associates operate and
generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulation is subject
to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax
(continued)

(b)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full,
using the liability method, on temporary
differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they
arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill. Deferred income tax is also
not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in
a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax
is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the end of the reporting
period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability
is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if
it is probable that future taxable amounts
will be available to utilise those temporary
differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences
between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign
operations where the Company is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable
that the differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 %% 2 Y =

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax
(continued)

(c)

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities
are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income taxes assets
and liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either
the taxable entity or different taxable
entities where there is an intention to
settle the balances on a net basis.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Employee benefits

(a)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

Pension obligations

Employees of the Group in Hong Kong
are required to participate in a defined
contribution scheme as defined in
mandatory provident fund scheme
(“MPF Scheme”). The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group under independently
administered funds. Contributions to
the schemes by the employers and
employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. Under the
MPF Scheme, each of the company
(the employer) and its employees make
monthly contributions to the scheme at
5% of the employees’ earnings as defined
under the Mandatory Provident Fund
legislation. The monthly contributions of
each of the employer and the employees
are subject to a cap of HK$1,500 and
thereafter contributions are voluntary.
The Group has no further obligations for
the actual payment of post-retirement
benefits beyond the contributions.

Employees of the Group in the PRC
are required to participate in defined
contribution retirement schemes
administered and operated by municipal
governments. The Group’s subsidiaries
in the PRC contribute funds to the
retirement scheme to fund the retirement
benefits of the employees which are
calculated on certain percentage of the
average employee salary as agreed by the
municipal government. Such retirement
schemes are responsible for the entire
post-retirement benefit obligations
payable to the retired employees. The
Group has no further obligations for
the actual payment of post-retirement
benefits beyond the contributions.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

(c)

Employee leaves entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave
are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave as a
result of services rendered by employees
up to the date of statement of financial
position. Employee entitlements to sick
and maternity leave are not recognised
until the time of leave.

Share-based compensation
Share-based compensation benefits are
provided to employees via the share
option scheme. Information relating to
these schemes is set out in Note 31.

Employee options

The fair value of options granted under
the share option scheme is recognised
as an employee benefits expense with
a corresponding increase in equity.
The total amount to be expensed is
determined by reference to the fair value
of the options granted:

- including any market performance
conditions (e.g. the entity’s share
price);

- excluding the impact of any service
and non-market performance
vesting conditions (e.g. profitability,
sales growth targets and remaining
an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and

- including the impact of any non-
vesting conditions (e.g. the
requirement for employees to save
or holding shares for a specific
period of time).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Employee benefits (continued)

(c)

(d)
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Share-based compensation (continued)
The total expense is recognised over
the vesting period, which is the period
over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. At the
end of each period, the entity revises its
estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-
market vesting and service conditions.
It recognises the impact of the revision
to original estimates, if any, in profit or
loss, with a corresponding adjustment to
equity.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group
before the normal retirement date,
or whenever an employee accepts
voluntary redundancy in exchange for
these benefits. The Group recognises
termination benefits when the Group is
demonstrably committed to either: (a)
terminate the employment of an employee
or group of employees before the normal
retirement date; or (b) provide termination
benefits as a result of an offer made in
order to encourage voluntary redundancy.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Provisions

2 FESHBEBRE )

2.22 B 1E

Provisions are recognised when the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events, it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, and the amount has
been reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar
obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will
be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole.
A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item
included in the same class of obligations may
be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value
of the expenditures expected to be required
to settle the obligation using a pre-tax that
reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due
to passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR EIE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.23 Revenue recognition 2.23 W= TR

2 FESTHEHEBE®R
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Revenue comprises the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, for the
sale of goods or properties in the ordinary
course of the Group’s activities. Revenue
is shown net of value-added tax (“VAT”),
estimated returns and rebates (if any) and
after eliminating sales within the Group. The
Group recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured; when it is

W BENAEEREEGRARES
HEEMAMEMBE KL ER 2
REMNATFE - W HBRIGER
(MHEE]) - HFHRERE (0
B)URHEEERNARMEER
2 c AREBRWENEREE
R SR A AT =R BNR
R ER =B A M AERER : L
ERFGEAEESEEBCFE

probable that future economic benefits will flow THERT o

to the entity; and when specific criteria have

been met for each of the Group’s activities.

A receivable is recognised when the goods FEJ%Z NE RS E N ERE

or properties are delivered as this is the point
in time that the consideration is unconditional
because only the passage of time is required
before the payment is due.

If the goods or properties delivered by the
Group exceed the payments made by the
counter parties, a contract asset is recognised.
If the payments exceed the goods or properties
delivered, a contract liability is recognised. A
contract liability is the obligation to transfer
goods to a customer for which the Group has
received a consideration (or an amount of
consideration that is due) from the customer.
If a customer pays the consideration before
the Group transfers goods to the customer,
a contract liability is recognised when the
payment is made or the payment is due
(whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract.

The following is a description of the accounting
policy for the principal revenue streams of the
Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Revenue recognition (continued)

2 FESHBEBRE )

2.23 WWFEE (&)

Sales of goods

Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised
when control of the products has transferred,
being when the products are delivered to the
customer, and there is no unfulfilled obligation
that could affect the customer’s acceptance
of the products. Delivery occurs when the
products have been shipped to the specified
location, the risks of obsolescence and loss
have been transferred to the customer, and
either the customer has accepted the products
in accordance with the sales contract, the
acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the
Group has objective evidence that all criteria for
acceptance have been satisfied.

Sales of properties

For property sales contract for which the
control of the property is transferred at a point
in time, revenue is recognised when the buyer
obtains the physical possession or the legal
title of the completed property and the Group
has present right to payment and the collection
of the consideration is probable.

The revenue is measured at the transaction
price agreed under the contract. The Group
receives payments from customers based on
payment schedule as established in contracts.
Certain payments are usually received in
advance in pre-sales arrangement. Such
proceeds from customers are recorded as
contract liabilities before the relevant sales are
recognised.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.24

2.25

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method. When a receivable
is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying
amount to its recoverable amount, being the
estimated future cash flow discounted at the
original effective interest rate of the instrument,
and continues unwinding the discount as
interest income. Interest income on impaired
loans is recognised using the original effective
interest rate.

Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset
and a corresponding liability at the date at
which the leased asset is available for use by
the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are
initially measured on a present value basis.
Lease liabilities include the net present value
of the fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable.

The lease payments are discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that
rate cannot be readily determined, which is
generally the case for leases in the Group, the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to
obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-
use asset in a similar economic environment
with similar terms, security and conditions.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.25 Leases (continued)

2 FESHBEBRE )

2.25 HE (&)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate,
the Group, where possible, uses recent third-
party financing received by the individual
lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third
party financing was received, and makes
adjustments specific to the lease.

Lease payments are allocated between
principal and finance cost. The finance cost is
charged to profit or loss over the lease period
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability
for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost
comprising the following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of
lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease
incentives received; and

° any initial direct cost.

Subsequent to initial recognition, right-of-
use assets are stated at historical cost less
depreciation. They are generally depreciated
over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and
the lease term on a straight-line basis. If
the Group is reasonably certain to exercise
a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful
life.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.25

2.26

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

Leases (continued)

Payments associated with short-term leases
of properties, equipment and vehicles and all
leases of low-value assets are recognised on
a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or
loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less.

Rental income from operating leases where the
Group is a lessor is recognised in income on
a straight-line basis over the lease term. The
respective leased assets are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position
based on their nature.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised
at their fair values when there is a reasonable
assurance that the grants will be received
and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are
deferred and recognised within “Other income
and gains, net” in the consolidated income
statement over the period necessary to match
them with the costs that they are intended
to compensate. Government grant related to
property, plant and equipment are recognised
as deferred income and is recognised in the
consolidated income statement on a systematic
basis over the expected useful lives of the
related assets.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

2 FESTHEHEBE@R

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.27 Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for
sale if their carrying amount will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather
than through continuing use and a sale is
considered highly probable. They are measured
at the lower of their carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell, except for assets
such as deferred tax assets, assets arising
from employee benefits, financial assets and
investment property that are carried at fair
value and contractual rights under insurance
contracts, which are specifically exempt from
this requirement.

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial
or subsequent write-down of the asset to fair
value less costs to sell. A gain is recognised
for any subsequent increases in fair value less
costs to sell of an asset, but not in excess
of any cumulative impairment loss previously
recognised. A gain or loss not previously
recognised by the date of the sale of the
noncurrent asset is recognised at the date of
derecognition.

Non-current assets are not depreciated or
amortised while they are classified as held for
sale. Interest and other expenses attributable
to the liabilities of a disposal group classified as
held for sale continue to be recognised.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale
and the assets of a disposal group classified
as held for sale are presented separately
from the other assets in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The liabilities of
a disposal group classified as held for sale are
presented separately from other liabilities in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including foreign
exchange risk, interest rate risk and price
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance.
Risk management is carried out by the senior
management of the Company under policies
approved by the Board of Directors of the
Company.

(@) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk
The Group mainly operates in the
PRC and Hong Kong.

The functional currency of the
Hong Kong reporting entities is
HKD and the transactions are
mostly denominated in HKD and
United States dollar (“USD”").
As transactions or balances
denominated in USD are reasonably
stable with the HKD under the
Linked Exchange Rate System, the
directors are of the opinion that the
Company does not have significant
foreign exchange risk. The exposure
to fluctuation in exchange rates will
only arise from the translation to the
presentation currency of the Group.
Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is
performed.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(a)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)
The functional currency of the
PRC reporting entities is Renminbi
(“RMB”) and the transactions are
mostly denominated in RMB and
HKD. The conversion of RMB into
foreign currencies is subject to the
rules and regulations of the foreign
exchange control promulgated by
the PRC government.

The Group is exposed to foreign
exchange risk primarily through
financing, capital expenditure and
expenses transactions that are
denominated in a currency other
than RMB, which is the functional
currency of the major subsidiaries
of the Group. The Group manages
its exposures to foreign currency
transactions by monitoring the
level of foreign currency receipts
and payments. The Group ensures
that the net exposure to foreign
exchange risk is kept to an
acceptable level from time to time.
The Group is presently not using
any forward exchange contract to
hedge against foreign exchange
risk as management considers its
exposure is not significant.

At 31 March 2023, if HKD had
strengthened/weakened by 5%
(2022: 5%) against RMB with all other
variables held constant, loss for the
year would have been approximately
HK$10,007,000 higher/lower (2022:
profit for the year would have been
approximately HK$9,876,000 higher/
lower).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(@) Market risk (continued)

(i)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 &

Interest rate risk

The Group’s main interest rate risk
arises from borrowings with variable
rates, which expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk. The
Group’s borrowings and receivables
are carried at amortised cost.

The Group monitors closely
its interest rate exposure by
maintaining an appropriate floating
rate borrowings and considers
hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.
The position is regularly monitored
and evaluated by reference of
anticipated changes in market
interest rate.

At 31 March 2023, if interest rates
on bank and other borrowings
had been 50 basis points (2022:
50 basis points) higher/lower with
all other variables held constant,
loss for the year would have been
approximately HK$2,201,000
higher/lower (2022: profit for the
year would have been approximately
HK$2,972,000 lower/higher) mainly
as a result of higher/lower interest
expense on floating rate borrowings.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)
(@) Market risk (continued)

(i)

Price risk

The Group’s exposure to price
risk arises from investments held
by the Group and classified in the
consolidated statement of financial
position as fair value through profit
or loss (Note 24).

Loss for the year would decrease/
increase by approximately HK$1,433,000
(2022: profit for the year would
increase/decrease by approximately
HK$1,451,000) as a result of 10%
(2022: 10%) change in price on
equity securities classified as at fair
value through profit or loss.

(b) Credit risk

(i)

Risk management

Credit risk arises if a customer or
other counterparty fails to meet its
contractual obligations. The credit
risk of the Group mainly arises from
trade and other receivables and
deposits with banks and financial
institutions.

The Group has policies that limit the
amount of credit exposure to any
financial institutions. Substantially
all the deposits in banks are held
in reputable financial institutions
located in Hong Kong and the PRC,
which management believes are of
high credit quality and management
does not expect any losses arising
from non-performance by these
counterparties.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR EIE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3 BXEARER#)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 BXEREBEZEE)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) =ERB (&)
(i) Risk management (continued) () EEREE(E)
The Group also has policies in place &R B IR % B R DARE
to ensure that sales of products RAEBEBEEELE
are made to customers with an ZEPHEERM - MA
appropriate credit history. Sales to BRI G s 2 KB
large or long-established customers S RHARPIHEGEHEE
with good payment history comprise BB EEHD c K&
a significant proportion of the 1] 38 7% 4 [2] FE U BR 3R %
total sales. The Group’s historical E R INGRIR 2 A8 B
experience in collection of trade and ERBH AR -
other receivables falls within the
recorded allowances.
The Group has concentration REBEEFEERRBES -
of credit risk as the top five J?Iﬁﬁéfafzii
trade debtors accounted for A=+t—HBzhKEB5
approximately 56% of its total FEURER G & 5 B
trade debts balance as at 31 IR SRR EE 8 4956% (=
March 2023 (2022: 24%). In view T F:124%) o B
of this, management of the Group ﬁEA&t rEEERE
regularly assesses by monitoring the FHREEZE RN
individual profile of these accounts Z 8R4 E R E BT
receivable. The Group also uses o REE TN A ELER
non-recourse accounts receivable 178 36 W 1 PR AR 3R
factoring arrangements with bank to REBLZHUEHIEER
cover the credit risk. In this regard, B2 ot E - A%H
management of the Group considers ERERAEESETR
that the credit concentration risk BB RAKFERIR °
has been significantly mitigated.
W& KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #&i#%EERA A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

(b)

(i)

Impairment of accounts receivable
The accounts receivable of the
Group is subject to the expected
credit loss model. The Group
applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measure expected
credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all
accounts receivable.

To measure expected credit
losses, the Group categorises its
accounts receivable based on the
customer profiles, shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past
due.

The expected loss rates are based
on the aging profiles of accounts
receivable over a period of 12
months before 31 March 2023 or
31 March 2022 respectively and
the corresponding historical credit
losses experienced within this
period. The historical loss rates
are adjusted to reflect current
and forward-looking information
on macroeconomic factors, after
considering the expected market
conditions and economic impact
of the unprecedented COVID-19
on the countries in which major
customers operate, affecting the
ability of the customers to settle the
receivables.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

Impairment of accounts receivable
(continued)

The Group has identified the Gross
Domestic Product index of the
countries where customers mainly
operate to be the most relevant
factors, and accordingly adjust
the historical loss rate based on
expected changes in these factors.

Impairment losses on accounts
receivable are presented as net
impairment losses within operating
profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are
credited against the same line item.

The Group identifies two categories
of its accounts receivable which
reflect their credit risk as follows:

Measurement of expected credit
loss on individual basis

For accounts receivable relating
to customers which are affiliated
companies of listed entities with
satisfactory credit history or do not
have continuing business with the
Group, are assessed individually
for impairment allowance. As at 31
March 2023, the balances of such
individually assessed accounts
receivable and the corresponding
loss allowance are HK$50,309,000
(2022: HK$54,598,000) and
HK$28,000 (2022: HK$20,000),
respectively.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 ¥ 2= B AE

3 BXEARER#)

31 HERKBEZEEZ)
(b) EERRK (&)

(i)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HMHKEBRERE®
(continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 H¥EBEZR(Z)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERK (&)
(i) Impairment of accounts receivable (i) JEYW R E (&)

(continued)
Measurement of expected credit ERGTEHIEEEE
loss on collective basis
Other than accounts receivable B BB ET (2 FE U BR 7K
which were assessed on individual N - B G RBERERE R
basis, trade receivables have been BERNBAUEERR
grouped based on shared similar FRSBRREDHE -

credit risk characteristics and the
days past due.

The loss allowance as at 31 March RNR—ZZTZ=F=f

2023 was determined as follows for —t+—HBZERBIENE

accounts receivable after factoring: WERR BB EE TN
™

1-30 31-60 61-90  Over 90
days days days days
Current pastdue pastdue pastdue pastdue Total
B1Z AHNE AH61Z  BH90R
B 308 608 90H M E @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS$’000
FExr  FEx  FExr TErn  FET  TEx

At 31 March 2023 R=2==F
‘:ﬁ:+—E
Assets BE
Gross carrying amount mﬁﬁfﬁ 126,878 26,702 8,858 692 6,134 169,264
Loss allowance BRRE (2,818)  (1377)  (624)  (394)  (3,590)  (8,803)
124060 25325 8234 208 2544 160,461
Expected loss rate RHEER 22%  52%  7.0%  569%  585%  5.2%
At 31 March 2022 R-B-Z
ZA=t-R
Assets BE
Gross carrying amount %%EEE@ 152,588 38,823 34,321 5600 18297 249,719
Loss allowance BEER (1,690) (618)  (1,191) (1,603  (9,676) (14,978
150,898 38,005 83,130 4087 8621 234,741
Expected loss rate EHEHER 1.1% 2.1% 35%  282%  52.9% 6.0%
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR EIE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

Other financial assets at amortised
cost

Other financial assets at amortised
cost include deposits and other
receivables. Management considers
that the credit risk for certain
balances has increased since
initial recognition with reference
to the counterparty historical
default rate and current financial
position. The Group applies the
HKFRS 9 general approach to
measure either 12-month or
lifetime expected credit losses
for these other financial assets
based on the historical settlement
pattern and financial position of
these other financial assets and
the forward-looking recoverability
analysis of the counterparties.
As at 31 March 2023, the
corresponding loss allowance is
approximately HK$3,200,000 (2022:
HK$4,827,000).

While cash and cash equivalents,
time deposits, restricted bank
deposits and pledged deposits
are also subject to the impairment
requirements of HKFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss was
immaterial.

3 BXEARER#)

31 HERKBEZEEZ)
(b) EERRK (&)

(i)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management,
after considering the expected market
conditions and the outbreak of COVID-19,
implies maintaining sufficient cash and
the availability of funding through an
adequate amount of banking facilities.
The Group aims to maintain flexibility in
funding by keeping credit lines available
at all time.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of
the Group’s liquidity reserve on the basis
of expected cash flows. The Group’s
policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements and its
compliance with lending covenants, to
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and long term.

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 requires a
term loan that contains a clause that
gives the lender the unconditional right to
call the loan at any time shall be classified
in total by the borrower as current in
the statement of financial position.
This is irrespective of whether a default
event has occurred and notwithstanding
any other terms and maturity stated in
the loan agreement. As at 31 March
2023, borrowings of approximately
HK$28,394,000 (2022: HK$48,125,000)
was classified as current liabilities due to
this requirement.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

Liquidity risk (continued)

At the reporting date, the Group
held cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$203,372,000
(2022: HK$256,934,000) (Note
25) and accounts receivable of
approximately HK$210,742,000 (2022:
HK$289,319,000) (Note 22) that are
expected to generate cash inflows for
managing liquidity risk. In addition, the
Group held financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss of approximately
HK$27,408,000 (2022: HK$14,508,000)
(Note 24), which could be realised
to provide a further source of cash if
needed.

The table below analyses the Group’s
financial liabilities into relevant maturity
groupings based on the remaining period
at the end of the reporting period to the
contractual maturity date. The amounts
disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HMBEBERE®
(continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 BEXEREBREZEE)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) REBESEMK (&)
On demand or One to Two to
within one year two years five years Total
REXS—FR -FZWE REELE @t
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FEr A FEr FEx
2023 —BCZF
Accounts and bills payable ~ ERNEFRZE 202,402 - - 202,402
Financial liabilities included = A E- At (1 208 &2
in other payables, accrued ~ JEEEEZ
liabilities tRAER 54,256 4,986 18,703 71,945
Bank borrowings RITREE 283,434 90,978 - 374,412
Lease liabilities HERE 5,964 3,790 2,951 12,705
546,056 99,754 21,654 667,464
2022 B
Accounts and bills payable  EREEFRRE 313,403 - - 313,403
Financial liabilities included ~ 5F A K BN ZUE &
in other payables, accrued ~ [EEEEZ
liabilities tRER 56,485 - - 56,485
Bank borrowings RITRE 429,033 22,546 98,049 549,628
Lease liabilities HEER 6,222 4,954 2,155 13,331
805,143 27,500 100,204 932,847

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1
(c)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

Financial risk factors (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table summarises the
maturity analysis of bank borrowings
subject to repayment on demand based
on agreed scheduled repayments set
out in the loan agreements. The amount
includes interest payments computed
using contractual rates. Taking into
account the Group’s net assets, the
directors do not consider that it is
probable that the bank will exercise its
discretion to immediate repayment. The
directors believe that such borrowings
will be repaid in accordance with the
scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements.

3

B 75 ¥ 2= B AE

BERRERE &)
34 H¥RBREZEZ)
(c) FBELRMR (&)

TERBRBREREREZR
TTIEEMNREO N - HRE
B R 15 4 P R 2 15 E OE SRR
R ZEEBREAGOF
RABZFENK - BERE
AXAKENEEFE EF
RBBRITITEERIBEER KR
VEERNEETA -EF
BE REBEREKRER
HEAENBETERAHE

Maturity analysis - bank borrowings subject to repayment
on demand clause based on their original scheduled repayments

W2 -WEREREBRACBTEE RERCENARR

Within One to Two to Carrying

one year two years five years Total amount

-£R -FZRE MEERF ) REE

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FEr FEr TEr FEr FEr

2023 ZEC=ZF 31,906 31,426 - 63,332 58,683
2022 —ZT-CF 17,990 23,100 28,455 69,545 65,625

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &#&EE AR A a]



154

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.2 Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns
for shareholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group manages the capital structure and
makes adjustments to it in the light of changes
in economic condition. In order to maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, obtain bank borrowings, or issue
new shares.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the
gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as total
bank borrowings divided by total equity.

3 B¥EARER#)
32 BAEE

AEBZEAERBAREERRE
AEBZFHEQEREN  BRRE
HEOE - ANEFRENENER
PURAE B AR -

AEEEREANGER  URELH
RN EBEH AR - RER N
REXGE AREReABCH
BRZ B - BEURTTRRHK
BITH

AREFAEARELEERE
A o B EARITIE W RERIAR
R E -

2023 2022

—EBC-=F —EF -
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Total bank borrowings RITIEE 351,265 529,147
Total equity B 1,104,685 1,589,910
Gearing ratio BREEL 32% 33%

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EBAR A7
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation
The table below analyses the Group’s financial
instruments carried at fair value as at 31 March
20283 and 2022 by level of inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value. Such
inputs are categorised into three levels within a
fair value hierarchy as follows:

° quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
(level 1);

° inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from
prices) (level 2); and

o inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs) (level 3).

B 7% ¥R 2R Y B

3 BXEARER#)

3.3

AFEMLE
TRIZFTEAFEFMAGBEEBA
HENERHASBER -2 ==
FR-ZFE-__F=ZA=+—HZ
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o ZEWABBEAFLERERT
DEZE BHEET:

s BEREBEXABBENEED
BZHmE (RERE) (F—
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o REEXBEIVERE (AL
B%) sk M (B # (8 4% A
B)BRMAB2HABE
MAE—RANZRERIN)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HMBEBERE®
(continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 DAFEME(E)
The following table presents the Group’s TREWARZE_=FR_ZT_—
financial assets that are at fair value at 31 FZAZ+—HAEEURQRFEE
March 2023 and 2022. TECERMEE -
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
5-FE 5ZE 5ZE @it
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEr FiEr FiEr FiEz
At 31 March 2023 R=B-=#=ZA=Z+-H
Assets 8z
Financial assets at fair value & BERHA T EIIE
through profit or loss LEREE 85 14,244 13,079 27,408
At 31 March 2022 WZE-_ZF=F=1-H
Assets AE
Financial assets at fair value #EBERE A TEIE
through profit or loss LEREE 87 14,421 12,684 27,192
There were no transfers between level 1, 2 and FR - E—B -FE_RBHEE=-E
3 and no other changes in valuation techniques B L - (H{E RN EE B
during the year. &f) o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR EIE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 MEREKRERE®
(continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 DFEME(E)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets is based on quoted market
prices at the statement of financial position
date. A market is regarded as active if quoted
prices are readily and regularly available
from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group or regulatory agency, and those prices
represent actual and regularly occurring market
transactions on an arm’s length basis.

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market (for example,
over-the-counter derivatives) is determined
using valuation techniques which maximise
the use of observable market data and rely as
little as possible on entity-specific estimates.
If all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is
included in level 2.

F-EBzemIA
EERMBEEZEMIAZAR
FEREVBERIRBBZMS
WEE - BRI A SR TEHNFS
RHFT - KM - 8458 - ERALT
REEERIEIEGHRE  MAER
BREEQATIRGHERFTZE
BREEEMBER PN - ZMEBER
BIERME -

F_EBzE®MIA
YIRERTSEENERTA
B R FE (P51 T A) A
REERMEE - I FEHERMNE
ENABEMSEE B8R
REERS TR - MTARFE
PIRHE2MEABARESAE
BORIAIAEZE-
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

Financial instruments in level 3

If one or more of the significant inputs is
not based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in level 3. This is the
case for key management insurance.

The fair value of insurance policy investments
that is not traded in an active market is
determined based on the cash surrender
value. The significant unobservable inputs that
determine the fair value is cash surrender value,
which is contractually agreed upon entering
into the insurance contract.

The following table presents the changes in
level 3 instruments for the years ended 31
March 2023 and 2022.

At 1 April R A

Fair value gain recognised to NE=Ee
profit or loss ~F

At 31 March R=R=

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EBAR A7
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

BERRERE &)
3.3 DAFEME(E)
E-Ere4WMIA

W—IAKZIAE N ABIEL I
RIBABRTISHE - BT AT
AFZE -  TREEERBRENIL

B e

VHNEBRTHEEEZRERE
MAFEDRERFRACEERE
T BEATENEATNITERESR
ABESERRREEE  ERFTZ

R e REHE -

TREVNF="BILARHEZ_ZT
T ZFERZE__F=ZA=1+—
BIEtFEEZEF -

2023 2022
—E_-=F —E-=

HK$’000 HK$°000

FET FET

12,684 12,283

395 401

13,079 12,684
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and

assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition seldom equal to
the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are discussed below.

(@) Fair value of freehold land and
buildings and investment properties
The Group carries its freehold land and
buildings, and investment properties
at fair value with changes in the fair
value recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income
and consolidated income statement,
respectively. It obtains independent
valuations at least annually. At the end of
each reporting period, the management
updates their assessment of the fair value
of each property, taking into account
the most recent independent valuations.
Refer to Notes 15 and 16 for the
assumptions, valuation technigues and
fair value measurement.

B 75 ¥ 2= B AE

4 ERgEHhEH R A&

et R A & WEF AR - LB EL
BRLREMREZ (BRENEBBERTHEE
RABZREEMH 2R MIEH -

4.1

EXRGR AT RER

REBZ A%KBRED BT ANE
® o ARE A AR - MEDH
ERERERET - BHERRE
SIARTEHRFEHEER
EEMNREDABEEENAZRNMG
RRFEFWT o

(@) KAEELIHREFURE
EMEZAFE
AEBED NG E2ERE
ZEEERERIERATER
m%ﬂ%%iﬁ&@?%
MEEWMERAFEE
AEBEELEBFHR ﬁﬁiﬁﬂ
BE-REREHKR BHE
BHEEHEMELTFEZ
Al EHRET RBRIHNE
VihE- BEBE - HER
TTT&Q?@&TE =]
1516 °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING

ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

4.1

Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions (continued)

(b)

(c)

Provision for inventories

The Group’s management reviews the
inventory aging analysis periodically and
makes allowance for obsolete and slow-
moving inventory items identified that
are no longer suitable for sales. The
Group carries out an inventory review
on a product-by-product basis at the
end of each reporting period and makes
allowance for obsolete and slow-moving
items through management’s estimation
of the net realisable value for such
obsolete and slow-moving items based
primarily on the latest invoice prices and
current market conditions.

Provision for impairment of financial
assets

The impairment for financial assets is
based on assumptions about risk of
default and expected loss rates. The
Company uses judgement in making
these assumptions and selecting the
inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s past history,
existing market conditions as well as
forward-looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period, including the
consideration of the global health issues.
Details of the key assumptions and inputs
used and the impact of changes to these
assumptions are disclosed in Note 3.1(b).

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EBAR A7

4

B ARG EE R HE e

4.1

EREFHEFTRER(E)

(b)

(c)

FERE

AEBEZEEETERENT
EZRESN  XRERR
THEAHEE ZBE &TIH
FERBFEHEE - NER
TR ARBREBEER
EHEFERN  LBEBER
BXEREROERERR
B % F Bk &
HEZ AR FEMGT R
B b SR B (F B o

TRHEERMERS

TREERNMENRELYE
WEREEHERXNR
R ARABMEHZEFRR
FOERBREENBABE
B ITEHIE - B EREBEARE
BB  HE MR R
A& S B R B AT IE 1
H(BREEEINERELER
B) cFrEANEZRE

BWABBNEBARZER
REE R BN FESA1 (D)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR EIE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

4 EBEAREFEETRHAE 2

EREFHEFTRER(E)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and 4.1

assumptions (continued)

(d)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

Impairment of goodwill, property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets

Assets are tested for impairment in
accordance with the accounting policy
disclosed in Note 2.10. The recoverable
amounts of non-financial assets have
been determined based on the higher
of value-in-use calculations or fair value
less costs of disposal. These calculations
require the use of judgements and
estimates. Management judgement is
required in the area of asset impairment,
including the consideration of the
expected market conditions, in assessing:
() whether an event has occurred that
may indicate that the related asset values

(d)

BE WX BMERKEMN
REREEENRE

BERBHI210FREZ
SEBCRAETTRER R - 3F
EMEENAKRESRIR
BEABEAEXIQFER
HEKRAKME ZBRSE
METE - ZFTEFETE
H B R AEET - REERET
o EIRERE LA
BREBEMTIZMAR - A
AHE () BABERERR
HEAEEEEEEEKE
E’J$1¢ (i) EERREERE

BREIAKE BN
TH&Z@@%EEH’AﬁTEEﬁZtHE

. AN ELR RN SR ERFIE
may not be recoverable; (ii) whether (B (AR 18 WA 2 75 o 4 4 {5 A
the carrying value of an asset can be EEMETHE) MEY

supported by the recoverable amount,
being the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and net present value of future
cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset in
the business; and (iii) the appropriate
key assumptions to be applied in
preparing cash flow projections including
whether these cash flow projections are
discounted using an appropriate rate.
Changing the assumptions selected by
management in assessing impairment,
including the discount rates or the
growth rate assumptions in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect
the net present value used in the
impairment test and as a result affect the
Group’s financial condition and results of
operations.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &% 5%

EERAA]

MEEE ki) RRBAS
= TE ORI E R E B RO R iR
B BiEZEReENER
BlREERES L EETA
W BREEERTERE
FEZENRE BREBAENN
TR YRR AL K4
K& BrlaeERE RS+
CRANFREEKNERY
B EMTEREENITE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING

ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

4.1

Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions (continued)

(e)

Impairment of properties under
development and completed
properties held for sale

The Group assesses the carrying
amounts of properties under development
and completed properties held for
sale according to their net realisable
values based on the realisability of
these properties and consideration of
the potential impact on selling price
resulting from the COVID-19 outbreak.
Net realisable value for properties under
development is determined by reference
to management’s estimates of the
selling price based on prevailing market
conditions, less applicable variable
selling expenses and the anticipated
costs to completion. Net realisable
value for completed properties held
for sale is determined by reference
to management’s estimates of the
selling price based on prevailing market
conditions, less applicable variable selling
expenses. Based on management’s
best estimates, there were impairment
of HK$191,304,000 and HK$48,774,000
respectively for properties under
development and completed properties
held for sale as at date of statement of
financial position.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EBAR A7

4

B ARG RHE e

4.1

EREFHEFTRER(E)

(e)

BRRTPUERFFELEZR
TH¥RE

AEBRBEBERPMERT
ERE 2R TYE 2 &I
FEERZEMEZNE
IR & & R RI2019% #L &
MAEERNEBEEHERE
BHEESE)FHEER
B-BRPYE AR F
BNSEEEBRERT
MREFZEE REBEH
A BEERT KRB
TITRRAMETE - BIELEZ
WIWE AR FED
2EERERBERITMMR
MEt e &E  WEERA 2T
BHERSIMERT - REE
BENREM  EEDY
ERBEHEZETIWE
R MR REK BB ZBE
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48,774,000/ 7T °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR EIE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING 4 EBEAREFEETRHAE 2

ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions (continued)

EREFHEFTRER(E)

(f) Current and deferred income tax ) EHREZEREH
The Group is subject to taxes in Hong REBFEEFTELRFEHY

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

Kong and the PRC. Significant judgement
is required in determining the provision
for various kinds of taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities
for anticipated tax audit issues based
on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the consolidated
income statement in the period in which
such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain
temporary differences and tax losses are
recognised when management considers
it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised.
Where the expectation is different from
the original estimates, such difference
will impact the recognition of deferred tax
assets and income tax in the period in
which such estimates are changed.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &#&EE AR A a]

A - EEERERIAR
ik FEELERHAL -
B REEERBRRRZ
RPREFE - AKEREY
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION

Chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) has been
identified as the Board of Directors of the Company
(the “Directors”). CODM reviews the Group’s internal
reports in order to assess performance, allocate
resources and determine the operating segments.

For management purposes, the Group is organised
into business units based on their products and
services and has three reportable operating
segments as follows:

(@) the electrical and electronic products
segment consists of the manufacture and
sale of robotics, juvenile products, baby care
products, 0T, smart home products and
healthcare products;

(b) the motors segment consists of the
development, design, manufacture and sale of

electric motor drives and related products; and

(c) the real estate development segment.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EBAR A7

TEER

ARRER([EE) EHRERTES
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Management monitors the operating results of the
Group’s business units separately for the purpose
of making decisions about resources allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on operating profit or loss which in
certain respects, as explained in the table below, is
measured differently from operating profit or loss in
the consolidated financial statements.

Group financing (including finance costs and finance
income) and income taxes are managed on a group
basis and are not allocated to operating segments.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to
the third parties at the then prevailing market prices.

Segment assets exclude unallocated assets as these
assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude unallocated liabilities as
these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &% 5%
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 nEER#)
(a) Operating segments (a) ¥¥KoHE
The following tables present revenue, results TREZNAEBEREBEE-_ZT =
and certain asset, liability and expenditure FRZFZ_F=A=+—HL1t
information for the Group’s operating segments FE - EBE BN ¥ERA
for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. TEE BERIHER -
31 March 2023 —E-=5=HA=+—H
Electrical and
electronic Real estate
products Motors development Others Eliminations Consolidated
EER
BETER B EHERR Hito He &4
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT
Segment revenue NENE
Revenue from external customers — RESNRE S MK
Timing of revenue recognition Ut
- At a point of time - EEERREE 459,846 745,516 4,240 - - 1,209,602
Inter-segment sales ABEMEHE 19,507 1,346 - - (20,853) -
Total @it 479,353 746,862 4,240 - (20,853) 1,209,602
Cost of sales - Impairment of HEREK-M%
property, plant and equipment BERRERE (14,076) (36,714) - - - (50,790)
Cost of sales - Impairment of HERA-BER
properties under development and MR EHEHE 2
completed properties held for sale % T W% E - - (240,078) - - (240,078)
Other income and gains, net Et A R Mz
FE 35,302 10,839 (9,906) 1 - 36,236
Segment results DEEE (15,211) 322 (257,521) (1,053) - (273,463)
Unallocated gain, net KOBRME B8 343
Unallocated expenses AORBEX (12,940)
Finance costs, net i3 iR (11,663)
Loss before income tax BEEHAER (297,723)
Income tax credit FEhEs 3,554
Loss for the year EEER (294,169)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR EIE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 oEER#®
(a) Operating segments (continued) (a) (X008 (E)
31 March 2023 (continued) —BE-=F=ZA=+—-H(#

Electrical and

electronic Real estate
products Motors development Others Eliminations Consolidated
EER
ETER EB EHERE Hito e %A
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET FAT
Segment assets APEE 947,602 856,385 495,943 73,743 (525,653) 1,848,020
Unallocated assets ROEEE 248,193
Total assets aEE 2,096,213
Segment liabilities AEAR 173,263 240,255 631,196 282,597 (525,653) 801,658
Unallocated liabilities AORERE 189,870
Total liabilities aafE 991,528
Other segment information: HinpEEH :
Capital expenditure BAYH 19,523 101,749 3,904 - - 125,176
Impairment of intangible assets & EERE 6,207 - - - = 6,207
Depreciation e 56,736 67,956 119 1,367 - 126,178
(Gain)/loss on disposal of HENE BER
property, plant and equipment BpAC IV
B (11) 624 - - - 613
Deficit on revaluation of land and & R 2
buildings recognised directly in T REFZ
equity EfbE 19,331 21,629 - 2,567 - 43,527
Fair value loss on RENEZ
investment properties ATEER - - 9,906 - - 9,906
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 %% 2 Y =

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 o¥ER &)
(a) Operating segments (continued) (a) (¥ (E)
31 March 2022 —E-__F=HA=+—H

Electrical and

electronic Real estate
products Motors development Others Eliminations Consolidated
EFEM i BHEERE Hit i e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
Segment revenue R UE:
Revenue from external customers & B 5NRE FHIE
Timing of revenue recognition il eatsio!

- At a point of time —hEERRE 1,267,957 1,044,052 4,306 - - 2,316,315
Inter-segment sales AEEMREE 34,582 4,021 - - (38,608) -
Total et 1,302,539 1,048,073 4,306 - (38,603) 2,316,315
Other income/(expenses) and Hiple A/ (BX)

gains/(losses), net s/ (B8)

e 14,713 51,419 (2,370) - . 83,762
Segment results DEEE 37,648 71,350 (13,508) (3,497) - 91,008
Unallocated gain, net Fombas FB 3,268
Unallocated expenses APBAX (12,253)
Finance costs, net BKER FE (8,606)
Profit before income tax B BT 3 B4 A& A 74,407
Income tax expense FigRiR % (17,549)
Profit for the year FERF 56,858
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(@) Operating segments (continued)
31 March 2022 (continued)

Segment assets
Unallocated assets

Total assets

Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities

Total liabilities

Other segment information:

Capital expenditure

Depreciation

Gain on disposal of
property, plant and equipment

Deficit on revaluation of land and
buildings recognised directly in
equity

Fair value loss on
investment properties

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

NREE
AOERBE

BEE

£ EEH -

BAXM

FE

HENE BER
&gz s

BERNERER
T REFZ
BB

RENEZ
ATEBR

B 7% ¥R 2R Y B

yaNy 3 NN =
5 S2¥EERm®
(@) ¥EBoEE)
T F=R=+—RH(#&)
Electrical and

electronic Real estate
products Motors development Others Eliminations Consolidated

BEKX FHE
ETEM B BR Hit H e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
1,687,514 1,103,991 769,864 38,170 (1,064,859) 2,534,680
383,403
2,918,083
277,238 313,556 853,433 282,693 (1,064,859) 662,061
666,112
1,328,173
7,969 36,149 6 - - 44,124
61,903 71,122 132 1,644 - 134,801
- (34) - - - (34)
10,950 10,384 - 2,525 - 23,859
- - 2,601 - - 2,601
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 o¥EER®
(b) Geographical information (b) HIEER
United States of America Europe Asia Consolidated
EL B L) G4
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

—E-=E “T--%F ZE-ZE -“T--F ZF-ZE —FT--F ZE-ZE —F-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FAT FET FE% FET

Segment revenue: FRNE
Revenue from external customers R BN R EERME 260,571 997,524 132,082 288,741 816,949 1,030,050 1,209,602 2,316,315

The revenue information above is based on the Fat EZER IR IE R P AT

locations of the customers. Z 5 o
Hong Kong Mainland China Malaysia Consolidated
B HER BRAD &a
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
ZBC-=fE -T--f ZBCZfE T “EZ=f —Z-C “B-z=f -—ZT-—%

HK$'000 HK$'000 ~ HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 ~ HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx TET FEr TET FE7 TET FE7 TET

Other segment information: E# 2 E&H
Non-current assefs FRBEE 5,993 6206 955120 1182063 36,344 33819 907466 1,222,088

LRDBEEMZIERDEERR

The non-current assets for the above segment

information consist of property, plant and
equipment, investment properties, right-of-
use assets, properties under development,
intangible assets and prepayments, deposits
and other receivables, but exclude deferred tax
assets and financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5

(c) Information about major customers
Revenue of HK$206,122,000 (2022:
HK$622,020,000) was derived from sales of
motor products (2022: electrical and electronic
products) to a major customer, which
accounted for 17% (2022: 27%) of the Group’s
total revenue.

(d) Contract liabilities

The Group has recognised the following

liabilities:

Contract liabilities related to BHEEEER
sales of goods (Note i) BRI aE W)

Contract liabilities related to BHEEEMEY
sales of properties (Note i) BB E K

Receipt in advance TR IR

Notes:

(i) These consist of advanced payments received
from customers for goods that have not yet
been transferred to the customers.

(i) These consist of advanced payments received
from customers resulting from the properties
sales.

B 75 ¥ 2= B AE

TEER (#)

(c)

(d)

EBEXTEEF &R

I %5206,122,0008 7t (=T = —
£ : 622,020,0005 7T) J5 R & A
—HREIBZRPHEERER (=
TE_—F ERNETEM) &
EEEAEBRZEEIT% (2
T 27%) o

EHNEE
AEFECHERAATEE:
2023 2022
—E-=F —ET-=
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
6,435 42,894
140,523 137,867
12,000 -
158,958 180,761
Biat -

() WEEAEHABEREEPZEM
A 5 P 8 S W AR 2 3R

(i) WEREXSHEEMEATSEK
PANE/ S
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 %% 2 Y =

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5

(e)

Revenue recognised in relation to contract
liabilities

The following table shows how much of the
revenue recognised for the year ended 31
March 2023 and 2022 relates to carried-
forward contract liabilities:

Contract liabilities related to EHHEEED
sales of goods BHEE

Contract liabilities related to BHEEMEL
sales of properties BHAEE

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &5 E AR A A

TEER &)
e) BMANABOER> WS
TEZBREBEE_S—_=FRK =

T CHEZA=t+t—BHLFERE
HANABER WA

2023 2022
—E—_= T

HK$°000 HK$’000

FETT FET

42,894 23,592

= 120

42,894 23,712
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR EIE

6 OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 6 HttWARWE  FE
2023 2022
—E=-= —F-=
HK$°000 HK$’000
F#ET FAET
Fair value gain on financial assets at & BB 1R A FETIEZ &6/
fair value through profit or loss, net & E 2 A FEWR  F4E 274 4,155
Fair value loss on investment KEWE 2 NFEEE  F8
properties, net (Note 16) (Hit16) (9,906) (2,601)
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, HEM¥ BERBE 2
plant and equipment (E18) W= (613) 34
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HEHBA Gz K
(Note i) (H1izi) = 605
Gain on termination of lease WIEEE 2 W= 21 -
Gross rental income He W ALz 2,669 1,767
Sales of scrap materials & E R 5,320 11,257
Subsidy income (Note i) RGN ([ i) 15,556 44,970
Gain on deregistration of — [P J8 2 &) 40 5H o 1 B U 2=
a subsidiary (Note iij) (K &tiii) 18,142 -
Others Em 5,116 6,843
36,579 67,030
Notes: B

(i)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

On 25 October 2021, the Group entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with an independent third
party to dispose of the entire interest in an indirect
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, which was
principally engaged in manufacture and trading of
moulds, for a cash consideration of RMB400,000
(equivalent to HK$486,000). The transaction was
completed on the same date, resulting in a gain on
disposal of approximately HK$605,000.

Various government subsidies have been
received from the local government authorities for
subsidising the operating activities, research and
development activities, and acquisition of fixed
assets. During the year ended 31 March 2023,
subsidies income amounting to HK$15,556,000
(2022: HK$44,970,000) are recognised in profit
or loss, including the recognition of deferred
government subsidy income of HK$9,158,000 (2022:
HK$39,895,000).

(i

R-ZE-—F+A-+HH AEH
HB-EBUE=AFIVEERE N
& R EARB400,0007T (BER
486,000/ L) HEAR AR —EHEES
BEBABIMNEIRE ZABEER
REBELEREE -BHUXHER
A B 5E A 2 A & I 2 £9605,0007%
e

RATBE B E b BT #EUKER &8
T M B A B & B R &) - T3 F
BRBBETEE REBEE-ZT==
F=ZA=+—"BLFE #HHKA
& #£15,556,0008 T (ZF = — 4 -
44,970,000/ 70) ERNB=mNER - B
2 T R A IS 76 B WA 9,158,000
T (ZZT = — 4 : 39,895,000/ T) °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

6 OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 6

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii) During the year ended 31 March 2023, management
has deregistered an indirect wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company located in British Virgin Islands. Gain
amounted to HK$18,142,000 was mainly resulted
from the reclassification of cumulative exchange
difference, previously recorded in exchange reserve,
to income statement according to HKAS 21.

7 FINANCE COSTS, NET 7

Finance income

Interest expense on bank loans
Interest expense on lease liabilities
(Note 17(b))

Amount capitalised (Note)

Finance costs

Finance costs, net

Note:

B WA

BITERZFBEX
HEaEzFBEMRY
(Htit17m)

BRABEARSE (ML)

B E M

¥ ERFE

During the year ended 31 March 2023, interest expense
of HK$7,094,000 (2022: HK$7,937,000) was capitalised
under properties under development. The capitalisation rate

used to determine the amount of borrowing costs to be
capitalised is the weighted average interest rate applicable
to the entity’s borrowings during the year of 5.3% (2022:
2.8%).

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EBAR A7

HWw AR W FEE#)

wat -

(i)

(&

HE-_ZTZ-_=ZFZA=Z+—RH1tF
B EEECHEIMEARRMRE
BHEBREEN —HWE2EHRBR
Al e Wi A18,142,0008 T £ E M
RIR BB B ST ERIFE 21915 5L AT
MNINERFEORTELZEEFHE
FREERFATE o

BBER FHE

Wit -

2023 2022
—E—= =S
HK$°000 HK$000
FET FHT
1,599 1,101
(19,960) (17,294)
(396) (350)
(20,356) (17,644)
7,094 7,937
_13262) . (9,707)
(11,663) (8,606)

REE-_T-_ZF=-ZA=Z=+—BLtFE"
BRI X A7,094,0008 7 (Z T ==
7,937,000/ 70) RERFWMEBETERL -
AREEBTFTENMNERRASENER
tREBANEEBENERZMEFTHF
R BA53%(Z T - :28%) °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after

charging:

Cost of inventories sold

Cost of properties sold

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 15)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets
(Note 17(a))

Employee benefit expenses (Note 9)

Auditor’s remuneration

Legal and professional fee

Short-term lease expenses

Provision for impairment of inventories,
net (Note 21)

Impairment loss on properties, plant and
equipment (Note i)

Impairment loss on goodwill (Note 18)

Impairment of properties under
development (Note ii)

Impairment of completed properties held
for sale (Note ii)

Notes:

B 75 ¥ 2= B AE

8 PBRBiA(EE) EFl

AEEZBFR (B1B) wFE 0% T
FIH -
2023 2022
—E_=H —ET- =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
BEFEKAK 688,333 1,443,250
R/ EI N 6,226 4,002
WE BEIREETE
(Htat15) 119,452 129,588
FHEEENE
(Btat17(a) 6,726 5,213
BE®FRAXZ (A:29) 350,270 499,341
Z B AT B & 3,500 3,180
FRREEEA 8,228 7,018
MEHERX 140 233
GFERERE F8
(B az21) 5,801 4,583
WE - BEREEZ
BB EE (M) 50,790 -
R ZREEE (#1:718) 6,207 -
R ERE (A L)
191,304 -
BIEHEZ R TYERE
(/&) 48,774 -
Bt -

(i)
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During the year ended 31 March 2023, management
considered that impairment indicator existed for the
non-financial assets of the Electrical and Electronic
cash generating unit as a result of it unfavourable
performance. Based on value-in-use assessment,
impairment losses of HK$14,076,000 and
HK$6,207,000 were recognised on properties, plant
and equipment and goodwill, respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
decided to scale down one of its production plants
which resulted in a provision for impairment of the
relevant non-current assets totaling HK$36,714,000.

(i) REBEE—_TE=-_=F=-A=+—HLF
E BHREBERETERRSELS
KRBT EEEBRAERNE
FTERRCELBEMNNIECREET
EREEE BREBECHBEAEN G W
¥ BMERZEBAREESD IR
{E 51814,076,000/% 7T %.6,207,000/%
=

REBEE—_TE-_=F=-A=+—HLLHF
B AEEREHEBR—HEEIR -
BYHBERBDEENRAERES
$£36,714,0008 7T °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

8

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(if) During the year ended 31 March 2023, impairment
loss of HK$191,304,000 and HK$48,774,000
were made to write down the properties under
development, including the shelved project which the
management decided to cease further development
during the year, and completed properties held for
sale to their net realisable values, respectively.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

(@) Employee benefit expenses (including
Directors’ emoluments)

8 KHial(BHE) BN

Wiz - (&

iy HE-_Z-_ZF=ZBA=+—BItHF
g 5 Bl #191,304,000% 5t &
48,774,000/ JT #) Rk (B B3 18 - DA
BHRYE (BREEBERAFERER
IF#E— SR ZHMBER - WEREFE
HEZERIWME) MRAEETZRFE
&

9 EERAHEX
(a) EEEFNEX (BEESHH)

Wages, salaries and other employee T & - % & REMES

welfares =l
Retirement benefits costs R ARAE T AL A

(b) Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were
the highest in the Group for the year include
five (2022: five) directors whose emoluments
are reflected in the analysis shown in Note 10.

(c) During the year, no emoluments have been
paid by the Group to the directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group,
or as compensation for loss of office (2022:
Nil).

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &5 E AR A A

2023 2022
—E-=F —E=-=
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
348,746 497,896
1,524 1,445
350,270 499,341

(b) EfUBRESFHMAL
AREBAREBRMUSSHMHAL
EFRERAR (ZE__F:A%)
EE FHEBESZHMERME0
Edag il

(c) RFR AEEXERAEENE
A E RS IAREB K INAR
SEFR R RESERREREE (=
= — _fﬁ = /ﬂ%) o

=
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 %% i ak MY =

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 10 ESEFERERS (KBC(ER
DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES A T FE B (£622F) 55383
REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF HB-(2AF (WEEERNZEE
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES BRI ($£622GE) R BB
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), FHBEBEEER)

COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS
OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING

RULES)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (a) EERFETHAEHS
emoluments
The remuneration of every director and chief BHE - E-_=—FEKR-_FT-__F=
executive for the year ended 31 March 2023 A=+—HIFE SEFhFE
and 2022 is set out below: THABERMEMESI BT :
Equity-
settled Pension
Discretionary  share option scheme
Fee Salary honus expense contributions Total
RAgS &ife
fe i WERL  BRERX FiE K @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
223 FAT A7 A7 &7 23
2023 I
Executive directors and HBIESR
the chief executive BERTHAR
Cheng Chor Kit (Note J BREhE) - 5,340 - - - 5,340
Liu Tat Luen Bk - 2,280 - - 18 2,98
Cheng Tsz To g1 - 1,800 - - 18 1,818
Cheng Tsz Hang LSS | - 2,160 - - 18 2,178
Lee Kim Wa, Winston (Note i R (i) - 2,546 - - 12 2,558
Non-executive director Fd7ES
Fung Wah Cheong, Vincent (Note i BEE (i) 300 - - - - 300
Independent non-executive directors BIFHTEE
Wong Chi Wai v 300 - - - - 300
Sun Kwai Yu, Vivian BEm 300 - - - - 300
Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul (Note iv) B8 i) 150 o o - - 150
Cheung Wang Ip RLE 300 - - - - 300
1,350 14,126 - - 66 15,542
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 %% 2 Y =

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 10 EEFZRERE (RBCER
DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES A T FE B (5£622F) 55383
REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF (28 (BHEEENRE
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES B RBI) (£622GE) R E B
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622), FHBBBEER) 2

COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS
OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING
RULES) (continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (a) EERFETHAEMSE (&)
emoluments (continued)

Equity-settled Pension
Discretionary ~ share option scheme
Fee Salary bonus expense  contributions Total
RA&E RAE
e £¢  BERL  BRERx AR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tn AT AT - - -

2022 It Jiat 2
Executive directors and HTEER
the chief executive BETRAR

Cheng Chor Kit (Note J BREE) - 5,340 - - - 5,340

Liu Tat Luen BEE - 2,280 - - 18 2,298

Cheng Tsz To 813 - 1800 - - 18 1818

Cheng Tsz Hang Bt - 2,160 - - 18 2,178

Lee Kim Wa, Winston (Note i) THE (i) - 3,600 - - 18 3,618

Non-executive director FumEE

Fung Wah Cheong, Vincent (Note i BEE (i) 300 - - - - 300

Independent non-executive directors BiFHTEE

Wong Chi Wai bk 300 - - - - 300

Sun Kwai Yu, Vivian BED 300 - - - - 300

Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul (Note iv) BEE (i) 300 = = = = 300

Cheung Wang Ip RLE 300 - - - - 300
1,500 15,180 - - 72 16,752

There was no arrangement under which a REXN - WEESHZSTHRAE

director or the chief executive waived or agreed HWEXREHRETANES 2L HE

to waive any remuneration during the year (ZZBE——F :4) o

(2022: Nil).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES
REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622),
COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS
OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING
RULES) (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments (continued)
Notes:

(i)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

Mr. Cheng Chor Kit, a director of the
Company, is also the chief executive of the
Company.

Mr. Lee Kim Wa, Winston was appointed as
an executive director on 1 April 2021 and
resigned on 2 December 2022.

Dr. Fung Wah Cheong, Vincent, resigned as an
executive director and was re-designated as a
non-executive director on 1 April 2021.

Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul deceased on 12
September 2022.

Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received or will receive
any retirement benefits during the year ended
31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive
any termination benefits during the year ended
31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

B 7% ¥R 2R Y B

10 EEFRRER (RKBECEEB
A B EBI) (55622%F) 5383
(28 (BHEEENRE
B RBI) ($622GE) R E B
EFHRAFEER) &)

() EFRIBARAEMS(H)
X

() AREERHREEEETRAR
BIITIAEE -

iy FRIELEER-_ZT=_—FWMA—
HEZTANTEETTHR _-Z
T+ AZHEMF-

(i) HEEFBLR=_T=_—FWA—
BB TESL AT RIERTT
SR

(ivy BE&ZEER-_Z-_—_FhA
+ = ABt

(b) EZEAKEAN
HE-_ZT-_=F=-A=+—81F
FER  BEZEZFRINIBHREIF
ARARBH(ZTZZF : ) -

(c) EEEHEREFN
BE_ZT-_=—F=ZA=t+—HL
FEA  MEEFRIHBKEE
MEREMN(ZTE__F &) o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES
REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622),
COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS
OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING
RULES) (continued)

(d) Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the
Company did not pay consideration to any third
parties for making available directors’ services
(2022: Nil).

(e) Information about loans, quasi-loans
and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors
During the year ended 31 March 2023, there
were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing
arrangements in favour of the directors, or
controlled body corporates and connected
entities of such directors (2022: Nil).

(f) Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts
Apart from those disclosed in Note 33, no
significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company was a party and
in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

180 KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &5 E AR A A

10 EEFRZRER (RKBEEE
A B HE ) (565622%F) 5383
(28 (BHEEENRE
B RBI) (5622GE) R E B
EFHRAFEER) &)

(d)

(e)

(f)

RERUEEREMBLTE=H
K&
HE-_Z-_=ZF=ZA=+—HL
FE APRBERERMHES
REZHREFEAE=ZAH(ZZ
ZF |

AROES  SEEEZFINEAE
BrEEEfEEERELINE
RRELER  URERZZES
W H 2 5 & R

BEe_Z2-_—F#=-A=+—HIL
FE  AQAHERNES XE
EEHAIAEBREESRHEH
EEBEHERREUER Uk
BRZEATHEMRZRHZH (=
T FE) o

ESEXRS ZHIEHNTHEKR
R

BRE[TFESS FIREEEIN - MAFF
RF AR - HmEAREE
EBEMECLEERS  RHHA
%) RUAARRBA—T7  ARAR
RAEFERNHEHERFEEARN
EHE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 %% i ak MY =

11 INCOME TAX 11 FBH
2023 2022
—E-= —F--
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current - Hong Kong REFE-BE

Charge for the year FATH 1,668 6,459
Adjustment for current tax of prior years BEFEABIEAZE (6,047) 938

Current — Elsewhere REE-Hipibz
Charge for the year FAXH 212 3,555
Adjustment for current tax of prior years BEFERARIERAE - (3,856)
Deferred tax (Note 29) RIEFIE (M:29) 613 10,453
Total tax (credit)/charge for the year FRARBESR) /L HERE (3,554) 17,549
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

11

INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax (credit)/charge applicable
to (loss)/profit before tax at the statutory rates for the
locations in which the Company and the majority of
its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at
the weighted average tax rate of 24% (2022: 24%) is

11 Fr8% (&)

BARBIREAZHEHBARELZ
EEMETE 2 BARKRE R (BER)
w2 BIE (Ee) /X EiE N FE
FE2A% (Z B4 : 24%)SFE 2
HRZHEAT

as follows:

2023 2022
—E_-=5F —_EF-=

HK$°000 HK$’000

F#ET FET

(Loss)/profit before tax BrFLRT (BB & F (297,723) 74,407

Tax at the statutory tax rates WEAERRFEZFE (70,888) 15,950
Adjustments in respect of current tax of 5 F8i8 7+ ER & BN AR A% 18

previous periods A (6,047) (2,918)

Income not subject to tax BAERF 2 A (554) (6,877)

Expenses not deductible for tax ik id 53 1,899 6,957

Temporary differences not recognised M RFER 2 B = FE 63,098 1,592

Tax losses from previous periods EEABAEBRE

utilised MIAE R (1,657) (3,996)

Tax losses not recognised AERZFIBEE 10,595 7,046
Effect of different taxation rates under MEEETTRME 2

preferential tax treatment B - (209)

Tax (credit)/charge BiE(E %) X H (3,554) 17,549

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate
of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year, except
for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying
entity under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
effective from the year of assessment 2019/2020.
The first HK$2,000,000 of assessable profits of this
subsidiary is taxed at 8.25% (2022: 8.25%) and the
remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%
(2022: 16.5%).

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the applicable rates of tax prevailing in
the countries in which the Group operates. The tax
rate applicable to the subsidiaries in the PRC is 25%
(2022: 25%).

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &5 E AR A A

EBNEHRIIRFRNREBMEE Z(G
STERB HEFIR165% (- =
16.5%) 2 Bl Rt iRt - EASE —
%W%QE%W’QQEE:%—ﬂ/
TECTRBMFERERZMRF SR
EHETZAERER ZWBRARZ
B2,000,000/% JT F& 3% i ' F1) 1%8.25%
(ZTE-—F 825%)MEHH > ME
HRIERTUHEFAIZ16.5% (T ==
16.5% ) B = BF -

RE AR 2 FERR B F < BB AR AR
EEEEMEBRRBITZERAR R
B -FR PRZHBARZEARE
BO5% (= EFE =4 : 25%) o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 DIVIDENDS 12

The Board has resolved not to declare any final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022:

B 75 ¥ 2= B AE

Hﬁ/%\
EFSERRITEERBE_ZT_=F
AT BLEFEZRBEE (=%

Nil). ZF R o
13 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 13 B (FE) BF
(a) Basic (a) EX
Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by BRER(EB) B TEAR
dividing the (loss)/profit attributable to owners IS ATEAG (B518) /3 FI Bk LA
of the Company by the weighted average FAEBITEBRMNEFLITE -
number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year.
2023 2022
—E=-= e
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FET
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of ~ ZNA A A A FE(L
the Company (EB8) =7 (294,169) 56,858
Weighted average number of ordinary = 2717 & @A hn
shares in issue (thousands) T g (FhR) 438,960 438,960
Basic (loss)/earnings per share BREX(E8) /&7
(HK cents per share) (BB (67.01) 12.95
(b) Diluted (b) #58

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share for the years
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 is the same
as the basic (loss)/earnings per share as there
were no potential dilutive ordinary shares
outstanding during the years.

BB =g _ZT__F=
A=+—HLFE BHRBEBETFE
WHELBTHE SN EDETE A
B MEREE (BB & H
BREAX (BB /AFER -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

14 SUBSIDIARIES 14 B A T

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at
31 March 2023 and 2022:

TREVWNR B _=FR_T__F=
A=+t—HZXBHNBERF :

Place of incorporation/  Particulars of Ownership
establishment and issued share interest held by
Name kind of legal entity capital the Group Principal activities
HMERL R BEHR r5ERERZ
AEER EARRER BRTRAFS FEEER TEEH
2023 2022
Bz ZF-_-%
Directly held
EERE
Kin Yat Holdings (BVI) British Virgin Islands, Ordinary share 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited limited liability company US$1
BHEEE(RBEBRES) ABAARES ARRA ETRRIER REEKR
BRAT
Indirectly held
BERE
Guizhou Kin Yat Property ~ The PRC, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Property development
Company Limited limited liability company RMB10,000,000
EMZERHERRRA HE FRAF ERRARE BHERE
10,000,0007T
BINEHELREREME  The PRC, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Property development
BRAA limited liability company RMB10,000,000
hE - ARAR ERRARY BHERE
10,000,0007C
Guizhou Standard Electric  The PRC, Ordinary shares 100% 100% Manufacture and trading
Motor Company Limited limited liability company RMB124,005,400 of motors
EMEETHBRAT hE - BRAR ERRARE HERBEEH
124,005,4007C
Kin Yat (Guizhou) Robot ~ The PRC, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Manufacture and trading
Company Limited limited liability company RMB100,000,000 of electronic products
B EMNBEABRLA B BRAF ERRARE HERBEETEM
100,000,0007T
Kin Yat (Hong Kong) Hong Kong, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Trading of electrical

Corporation Limited
B (BB EEBRAT

limited liability company

BB ARQA

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED

HK$10,000
Ei#MR10,000% 7T

EEEEARAR

products

BEESEEm
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR EIE

14 SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 14 B2 =) (&)
Place of incorporation/  Particulars of Ownership
establishment and issued share interest held by
Name kind of legal entity capital the Group Principal activities
SRR/ BLBER rEEREL
ARER EAERER BRTRAFE FrEgRs TEEH
2023 2022
—E-=fF —T--F

Indirectly held (continued)

BERE (£
Kin Yat Industrial Company Hong Kong, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Trading of toys,

Limited limited liability company HK$3,200,000 electronic products,
and sourcing of
materials

BHEXARRA EE ARRA 38 3,200,000% T EENE BfEM

RATEERE

Newway Electrical Hong Kong, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Trading of electrical
Industries (Hong Kong) limited liability company HK$10,000 household appliances
Limited

MEEREX(FA) B ARRA L 3ER10,0008 T EEXE
BRAF

Penta Blesses Enterprises  Hong Kong, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Investment and property
Limited limited liability company HK$1,000,000 holding

LREEARRA &8 ARRA T3 1% 1,000,000/ 7T RERFENE

Shaoguan Turbo Electronic  The PRC, Ordinary shares 100% 100% Manufacture and trading
Technology Company limited liability company US$8,000,000 of toys and electrical
Limited appliances

RAEEETFRR hE - BRAR 3% %8,000,000% T HERBEMARESR
ERDA

Shenzhen Kin Yat Power  The PRC, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Manufacture and trading
Electronic Company limited liability company US$10,000,000 of toys and electronic
Limited products

AREEEFERLA  FE BRAF T % 10,000,000% 7T WEREEMAR

EfEM
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14 SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 14 KB 2 A (&)
Place of incorporation/  Particulars of Ownership
establishment and issued share interest held by
Name kind of legal entity capital the Group Principal activities
EMRL/ BLBER rEERERZ
ARER EAERER BRTRAFS FrEgRs TEEH
2023 2022
—E-=fF —ZT--F

Guangdong Standard The PRC, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Property holding,
Motor Technology limited liability company US$47,000,000 manufacture and
Company Limited trading of motors
(formerly known as
“Shixing Standard Motor
Co., Limited”)

EREEEHRH HE - FRAG 38 %47,000,000F T BAENE HER
BRAR (R RGE EEEH
ENUEERRAR])

Indirectly held (continued)

BERE(2)

Smart Electric Motor Hong Kong, Ordinary share 100% 100%  Trading of motors and
Company Limited limited liability company HK$1 materials

BEERARAA BE BRAR LERIET EEEHRMH

Smart Electric Motor Singapore, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Trading of motors
Singapore Pte. Limited limited liability company SG$100

M BRAR TBR1008T I T EEEH

Standard Encoder Malaysia, Ordinary shares 100% 100% Manufacture and trading

(Malaysia) Sdn Bhd limited liability company RM500,000 of encoder film
SRAED  BRAA £iB1500,0005 ¥ WEREBERBRFM

Standard Land (Malaysia) ~ Malaysia, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Property holding

Sdn Bhd limited liability company RM500,000
SRAEL  BRAF & #%500,0005 % HEME

Standard Motor Company ~ Hong Kong, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Trading of motors and
Limited limited liability company HK$40,000,000 sourcing of materials
SEMEBTER A BRAR ZiB/%40,000,000/8 7T BEESRRREDH

Standard Motor Japan Japan, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Trading of motors
Company Limited limited liability company JPY10,000,000

BAR BRAR %1% 10,000,000R E BEEEH

s
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14 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

14 ME AT #)

Place of incorporation/  Particulars of Ownership
establishment and issued share interest held by
Name kind of legal entity capital the Group Principal activities
ARMAL/ LB HR rEEREL
ARER EAERER BRITRARFE FrEgRs TEEH
2023 2022
—E-=fF —T--F
World Talent Enterprise Hong Kong, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Trading of toys
Limited limited liability company HK$1,000,000
RECEARAR BE BRRA ¥ 38iR1,000,000% 7T EEmA
BEMRESEEERAR  The PRC, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Manufacture and trading
limited liability company HK$26,500,000 of toys
HE - ARAE % %26,500,000% 7T BERBENA

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED

HaEEERAR

187



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR EIE

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND 15 Y% - BMERRE
EQUIPMENT
Moulds, tools, Furniture,
Freehold land ~ Construction and plantand equipment and
Buildings  and buildings in progress machinery  motor vehicles Total
KA%E BR-IR &R %%
B3  iHEES KEIE LEREHS kAE @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEn FEn FEn FEn FEn FEn

31 March 2023 ZE-ZEZBz+-f
Cost or valuation: RAEEMHE:
At 1 April 2022 RZE-ZEMA-H 338,427 25,446 82,349 1,354,161 434,040 2,219,423
Additions RE - - 18,667 90,923 11,689 121,219
Disposals k=3 = = (5,088) (2,281) (32) (7,401)
Transferred to assets classified ERENEA

as held for sale BENEEE (29,841) - - (12,508) (2,946) (45,295)
Transfers E 52,586 - (65,754) - 13,168 -
Deficit on revaluation ELL (40,824) (2,703) - - - (43,527)
Write-back on revaluation EEEE (12,386) (168) - - - (12,554)
Bxchange realignment EXAZ (15,412) (1,872) (4,914) (103,189) (25,776) (150,663)
At 31 March 2023 RZBZZE=fA=1-H 281,550 21,203 25,260 1,327,106 480,143 2,141,262
Accumulated depreciationand ~ EFHFEREHE:

impairment:
At 1 April 2022 RZE--EMA-H - - - 918,908 371,276 1,296,184
Provided during the year EREE 12,983 168 - 81,216 25,085 119,452
Disposals i3 - - - (1471) (29) (1,500)
Transferred to assets classified E g

as held for sale REHEEE (597) - - (5,047) (1,316) (6,960)
Impairment HE - - - 14,861 35,929 50,790
Write-back on revaluation ELEEE (12,386) (168) - - - (12,554)
Exchange realignment EiAE - - - (66,684) (18,995) (85,679)
At 31 March 2023 WZE-ZF=f=1-H - - - 941,783 417,950 1,359,733
Net book value: FEFE:
At 31 March 2023 R_E-Zf=f=1-H 281,550 21,203 25,260 385,328 62,193 781,529
31 March 2023 “E-ZFZAZT-A
An analysis of cost or valuation: RAEH{EEZ 24
At cost RAAE - - 25,260 1,327,106 480,143 1,832,500
At revaluation REME 287,550 21,208 - - - 308,753

267,550 21,203 25,260 1,321,106 480,143 2,141,262
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT (continued)

31 March 2022

Cost or valuation:

At 1 April 2021

Additions

Acquisition of a subsidiary
Disposals

Write-off

Transfers

Deficit on revaluation
Write-back on revaluation
Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2022

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment:

At 1 April 2021

Provided during the year

Disposals

Write-off

Write-back on revaluation

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2022

Net book value:
At 31 March 2022

31 March 2022

An analysis of cost or valuation:

At cost
At valuation

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

ZECCEZAZT-H

RAEEMHE:
RZEZ-EMA-A
e
WE-RHBAT
HE

ik

%

ELL S

EfREE

L

R-B--EZA=1-H

EHERAE:

RZF--FmA-A
EnifE

e

i

kDA

B AR

R-B--F=ZA=1-H

FEFE:
R-E--%=A=1-H

Z®-CEZASt-A
BARAREE LD
BmAE

REfiE

15 ¥ - BMERRE®)

Moulds, tools, Furniture,
Fresholdland  Construction  and plant and  equipment and
Buildings and buildings in progress machinery  motor vehicles Total
KA BA-IR  GW %k
BT  tHREF ERIE LERAKE kg h
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK8'000 HK8'000 HK8'000
AT AT AT AT AT AT
357,460 26,893 92,153 1,276,494 478,536 2,231,536
- - i 41,622 1,460 43,699
- - - - 518 518
- - - (17) (1,824) (1,841)
- - - (123 (3972 (4,09)
9,560 - (12,982) 3,432 - -
23,865) 6 - - - (23,859)
(14,785) (176) - - - (14,961)
5,067 (1.21) 2,461 32,858 9,322 48,426
333,421 25,446 82,349 1,354,161 484,040 2,219,423
- - - 812,547 348,615 1,161,162
14,785 176 - 86,021 28,606 129,588
- - - (17) (1,768) (1,785)
- - - (123 (3972 (4,09)
(14,785) (176) - - - (14,961)
- - - 20,480 5,795 26,275
- - - 918,908 317,216 1,296,184
333,421 25,446 82,349 435,253 106,764 983,239
- - 82,349 1,354,161 484,040 1,920,550
333,421 25,446 - - - 368,873
383,421 25,446 82,349 1,354,161 484,040 2,219,423
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT (continued)

Depreciation of approximately HK$112,641,000
(2022: HK$119,113,000) is included in cost of sales;
HK$6,811,000 (2022: HK$10,475,000) is included in
administrative expenses in the consolidated income
statement.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, management
considered that impairment indicator existed for the
non-financial assets of the E&E CGU as a result of
its unfavourable performance. Based on value-in-use
assessment, impairment losses of HK$14,076,000
(2022: Nil) were recognised on properties, plant and
equipment.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
decided to scale down one of its production plants
which resulted in a provision of impairment of the
relevant non-current assets totaling HK$36,714,000.

At 31 March 20283, the Group’s building in Hong
Kong and Mainland China were revalued based
on valuation performed by Sinoappraisal Advisory
Limited, an independent professionally qualified
valuer, at HK$2,800,000 (2022: HK$2,630,000) and
RMB252,300,000 (equivalent to HK$284,750,000)
(2022: RMB268,370,000 (equivalent to
HK$330,797,000)) respectively.

Freehold land and buildings in Malaysia were
revalued based on valuation performed by
Sinoappraisal Advisory Limited, an independent
professionally qualified valuer, at Malaysian
Ringgit (“RM”) RM12,100,000 (equivalent to
HK$21,203,000) (2022: RM13,690,000 (equivalent to
HK$25,446,000)).

Revaluation deficits of HK$43,527,000 (2022:
HK$23,859,000) resulting from the above revaluation
were debited to the asset revaluation reserve.

Each year, the Group appoints external valuers
to be responsible for the external valuations of
the Group’s properties. Selection criteria include
market knowledge, reputation, independence and
whether professional standards are maintained.
The management discusses with the valuers on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results when
the valuation is performed for financial reporting.

There has been no change from the valuation
techniques used in prior years. In estimating the fair
value of the properties, the highest and best use of
the properties is their current use.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &5 E AR A A
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156 ¥1% - BMERR®E @)

& 49112,641,0006 ¢ (ZE =
£ :119,113,0005 7T) 2 5t A 4
7N 5 6,811,000 T (=& = — 4 -
10,475,000 7T) B st AR W R
2B -

RBEE-_TE-_=F=ZA=+—HIF
B BARREXE BEEBRAESTE
mECEABMNIEEREEGTERE
BE - ARFREAETG ERME -
BB K 5% B TERR R (B E5 18114,076,00078
T(ZEZZF &) -

o | |

REE-_ZTE-_=F=ZA=+—HIF
B REBREHEBRE —HEEREDN
R BYRERERSEEIRRE
B4 #£36,714,00008 7T ©

RZEBE-_=F=A=+—H8 " ££ER
BAEANFERNM 2 EFIEER LR
ELEREEMPHETEETERB
MABERARIMETZHEMEMR A
B Bl A2,800,000 T (—ZE = —4F :
2,630,000/ 7t) & A R 252,300,000
7T (1% 284,750,000 7t) (=&
—ZF : ARM0268,370,0007T (HER
330,797,000 7T) ) °

PR 2 KA ERE L REF IR
BBUREAERGEMPHETE
EFJEBEBRARMETZEEM
Hh o ([HEA12,100,0005F % ([F# )
(FZ 721,203,000/ 70 ) (B = —4F:
13),6)390,000% B (§8 % 725,446,000
52)) o

it B A = A 2 E 1 B A143,527,0007%
T (=Z = — 4 : 23,859,000/ 7C) O E
EEHFHEENRE -

B AEEZBIBEEEMEFHA
SEZMEETINEGE - TBIZES
EmGHE B2 BUUERELHER
EXEE - ZRMBRBETHER
Zéi%@Eﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ?&&%@

BEFEABEERMLEEES - K
AMEZATER  BEVEZES
RERAZESHEBRERRR -
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The fair values of the Group’s land and buildings at
31 March 2023 are estimated by using significant
unobservable inputs and the fair value measurement
is categorised within Level 3 (2022: Same).

During the year ended 31 March 2023, there were
no transfers of fair value measurements between
Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 (2022: Nil).

Reconciliation of fair value measurements
categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

Carrying amount:

At 1 April 2022

Transfer

Transferred to assets classified as held for sale
Depreciation

Surplus/(deficit) on revaluation

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2023

At 1 April 2021

Transfer

Depreciation

Surplus/(deficit) on revaluation
Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2022

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

REE:
R-E--#MA-H
@
GREHBABIENEEE
e

EfbRH%/ (B4)
ERAR

R-E-=Z£=ZA=1-H

W-Z-—FENA-H
R

ne&

BiERG/ (B4)

5 A%
W_E-_—#=f=1+-H

B 75 ¥ 2= B AE

M- BENRE®)

AT EEH
R-Z-=F=ZA=+—H £KEZ
T REF L AFETIRAERTATE
RRABB G RAFEFEDERE
BT (ZFZ=F - M8R) -

RBEZF-_=F=-A=+T—HLHF
B BEIAAFEAEEE B F
TEES-BHEE (ZFZF
&) -

ESERATEEBE=ENZATE
HEZHE:

Freehold
Buildings in land and
Building in Mainland  buildings in
Hong Kong China Malaysia
(Industrial) ~ (Industrial)  (Industrial) Total
RERA D
RERE  ReERE  ZKARE
BT BT IhRET
(I%) (I%) (I%) @
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET TET TET
2,630 330,797 25,446 358,873
- 52,586 - 52,586
- (29,244) - (29,244)
(97) (12,886) (168) (13,151)
267 (41,091) (2,703) (43,527)
- (15,412) (1,372) (16,784)
2,800 284,750 21,203 308,753
2,310 355,150 26,893 384,353
= 9,550 = 9,560
92) (14,693) (176) (14,961)
412 (24,277) 6 (23,859)
= 5,067 (1,277) 3,790
2,630 330,797 25,446 358,873
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used
and the key inputs to the valuation of properties:

Class of properties

ES V]

Hong Kong
£
- Buildings
BF
- Industrial
I%
- Level 3
E=F

Mainland China

R A
- Buildings
BF
- Industrial
T%
- Level 3
E

Malaysia
SRAD
- Buildings
BT
- Industrial
T%
- Level 3
o

As at 31 March 2023, had the Group’s buildings
stated at valuation been carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation, they would have been
included in the financial statements at approximately

Valuation techniques

EER

Market comparable method
5B

Direct replacement cost method

EREERANL

Direct replacement cost method
BEESERAE

HK$49,677,000 (2022: HK$51,390,000).

192

15 ¥ - BMERRE#®)

DV ERB(E)

MEBERRBZAETEZREIZEH AR

BEHEWT

Significant
unobservable inputs

EXTUERBARE

Gross unit rate per square foot
BEHARAENER

Gross unit rate per square foot
B ARAENLER

Gross unit rate per square foot
BEARBENEE

Range of unobservable inputs
(weighted average)

P
N —= —

TABEGAYEE
(INREFET)

2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-CF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
538 506
52 to 137 63 to 148
522137 63%£148
404 459

—F=ZA=1+—8 " HAEH
DEESREZEFURANRBRETE
STEEEE  IWAMBRRP ZERE
18 #) /49,677,000 T (ZE ==

51,390,000/ JT)

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EBAR A7
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16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

B 75 ¥ 2= B AE

16 REWH

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

2023 2022
-2 = Tz

HK$’000 HK$’000

F#ET FHEIT

Carrying amount at the beginning of year F ¥R EE 65,280 66,028

Additions H#n 3,897 -

Loss from fair value adjustment (Note 6) KB AV EFAEZ

B8 (A i26) (9,906) (2,601)

Exchange realignment bE 56 58 B (5,255) 1,853

Carrying amount at the end of year FRIEEE 54,016 65,280
Notes: Baz

()  The balance included the commercial building in The (i) EHREFEEMNENBER 2 mER

Royale Cambridge Residences, residential units and

FoEEELRERES UEBEH

car park, and a commercial leasehold land in Guizhou St
Province.
(i)  As at 31 March 2022, the commercial leasehold land iy W-ZZTE-_—_F=A=+—H @mHA

of RMB44,000,000 (equivalent to HK$54,236,000 was
pledged to the bank to secure a bank facility (Note
28).

The Group’s investment properties were revalued
on 31 March 2023 based on valuations performed
by Sinoappraisal Advisory Limited (2022: Assets
Appraisal Limited), independent professionally
qualified valuers, at RMB47,860,000 (2022:
RMB52,960,000) (equivalent to HK$54,016,000
(2022: HK$65,280,000)).

Each year, the Group appoints an external valuer
to be responsible for the external valuations of
the Group’s properties. Selection criteria include
market knowledge, reputation, independence and
whether professional standards are maintained.
The management discusses with the valuer on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results when
the valuation is performed for financial reporting.

There has been no change from the valuation
techniques used in prior years. In estimating the fair
value of the properties, the highest and best use of
the properties is their current use.

&+ i A R #44,000,0007T (48 5 7
54,236,000/ 7T ) B K F iR 1T LARUS
R1TREE (BizE28)

MZZB_=F=A=+—H0 K&EEH>
WEYERBEB I EELERGERMT
hEETEESFERENER AR (ZE
T oF hHEERETERMERAR)
EITZHEEN A ARK4L7,860,000
T(ZE=——%F : AR¥52,960,0007T)
(FE 54,016,000 T (Z T = — 4 :
65,280,000/ 7T)) °

BF  AKERBIBEEMAEHA
SEZYMERETINEMGE - BTESR
BmsHE B2 BUUELRRESHR
EXRE - ZRMBRBETHER
EEEgEMGEMNREERRLGEE
R o

RBEFERAZEERALEZLE) -
WEFTMEZ AFER  BENEZR
EhREREAERRAE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties
at 31 March 2023 are estimated by using significant
unobservable inputs and the fair value measurement
is categorised within Level 3 (2022: Same).

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2022: Nil).

Reconciliation of fair value measurements
categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

Carrying amount: BREME

At 1 April 2022 RZEBE-__FMWA—H
Additions #Zm

Loss from fair value adjustment X FEFHEESE 7 BE
Exchange realignment b 5 AR

At 31 March 2023 R-ZE-_=F=F=+—H
At 1 April 2021 R-ZE-—FWMA—A
Loss from fair value adjustment A EFBEE+ 7 BB
Exchange realignment fE 5 A%

At 31 March 2022 RZZEZ—_F=A=+—H

16 REWE &)
AFEEE
RoE-—=#=A=+—01 KE@E

EMENRNFEDERER AR
ABBEFRATEAERHEEZEE=E
(ZF==%F MR -
RAREE  BEEAATEAEES —
BHE_E o HAEY  TESASEDY
FEZB(ZZT-_fF ) o
BREEATERBE-EATETE
HERWT
Land in Building in
Mainland Mainland
China China
(Commercial) (Commercial) Total
FA B A i R E R
21 ZETF
(B (B%) #mat
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET
54,236 11,044 65,280
3,897 - 3,897
(8,610) (1,296) (9,906)
(4,378) (877) (5,255)
45,145 8,871 54,016
55,123 10,905 66,028
(2,431) (170) (2,601)
1,544 309 1,853
54,236 11,044 65,280

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &5 E AR A A
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DR EIE

16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 16 REWHE &)

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used REYEMBEFRBZHEERZREESH
and the key inputs to the valuation of investment ASBEBMRAT -
properties:
Significant Range of unobservable inputs
Class of properties Valuation techniques unobservable inputs (weighted average)
FTUBERAHEEE
LE S Y] HEF % BEAFTTEHERABE (fn#E¥)
2023 2022
—Eg-= —EF-=
HK$ HK$
B BT
Leasehold land in Market comparable Gross unit rate 22 26
Mainland China method per square foot*
RPBEN s BEL WHELEEE Y AREBELER
Commercial properties in - Income method Gross unit rate 412 512
Mainland China per square foot*
REBEA 2 EEDNE KWL BEAREELBR
# The higher the gross unit rate per square foot, the # FEAREEBEMERAS  NFEER

o

higher the fair value.

i
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17 LEASES

(a)

17 HE
Right-of-use assets (a) HFEHEEE
Prepaid Office
land lease Leasehold and other
payments land properties
(Note (i) (Note (ii))  (Note (iii)) Total
Bt BAER
e HELT Hei % wEt
(BEEG)  (MPEEG)) (BREGE)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET
At 1 April 2022 R-E--FWMA—H 22,093 194 12,365 34,652
Inception of lease contracts A 475 14 - - 6,984 6,984
Transfer to asset classified & ZE D4 A
as held for sale BIEHEEE (2,765) - - (2,765)
Depreciation (Note (iv)) & (M) (642) (8) (6,076) (6,726)
Termination of lease RIERE - - (996) (996)
Exchange realignment [E 5 (1,000) - (665) (1,665)
At 31 March 2023 R-ZEZ=
=A=+—-H 17,686 186 11,612 29,484
At 1 April 2021 R-ZE-—-FWMA—H 22,406 202 3,726 26,334
Inception of lease contracts A 47514 - - 13,182 13,182
Depreciation (Note (iv)) & (i) (653) 8) (4,552) (5,213)
Exchange realignment 0E 5 8 340 - 9 349
At 31 March 2022 R-ZE--&
=A=+-—H 22,093 194 12,365 34,652

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &5 E AR A A
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17 LEASES (continued)

(a)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

Right-of-use assets (continued)
Notes:

(i)

(i)

(ii)

(iv)

The Group obtains the land use rights through
lease contracts with local governments in the
PRC with 50 years term.

The Group’s interest in leasehold land is on
medium term lease of 50 years located in Hong
Kong.

The Group obtains right to control the use
of office and other properties for a period
of time through lease arrangements. Lease
arrangements are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions including lease payments
and lease terms ranging from 1 to 3 years.

The Group’s lease expenses (Note 8) are
primarily for short-term leases.

Depreciation of approximately HK$614,000
(2022: HK$624,000) is included in “Cost of
sales” and HK$6,112,000 (2022: HK$4,589,000)
is included in “Administrative expenses” in the
consolidated income statement.

B 7% ¥R 2R Y B

17 & »)

FRAEEE (&)
Bt -

(a)

(i)

(i

(ii)

(iv)

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &#&EE AR A a]

7R (B35 38 22 rp B3 7 U AT 52
REBOFM ARG L ER
7 -

REMEZIHE T nEREAH50
FZHHEEREURLRE
7 e

AEEFBEELHFIEN B
B AEHRAERE MY E
FIERORERN - ME LR RE
TR - BESETRGR R
o BEEENRRNTF1E34F
Z T -

AEHZHEMX (HiEs) T2
KEMHMEE -

#r & #9614,0008 T (=T = =
F 1 624,0007% JT) k6,112,000
WL (ZF = — 4 : 4,589,000
BIT) B A RIFT AR B WE KD
[EERA] RITERAX] -
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17 LEASES (continued)

Lease liabilities

At 1 April

Inception of lease contracts

Termination of lease

Interest expenses on lease liabilities
(Note 7)

Payment for lease liabilities
(including interest)

Exchange realignment

At 31 March

Amount due for settlement
within 12 months

Amount due for settlement
after 12 months

ROEA—A
MR
RIEAE

(Baz7)
TNHEERE

(BIEF L)
N A%

R=RA=+-—H

17

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

M2 R A BEE 2

IR

12 A RBIMEE 2

A

The total cash outflows for leases for the year
were HK$6,584,000 (2022: HK$4,686,000).

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is

disclosed in Note 3.1(c).

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED

BasREERAR

HE @)
(b) HEEE
2023 2022
—E_-=F —E-=
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAET
12,920 3,772
6,984 13,182
(1,017) -
396 350
(6,444) (4,453)
(766) 69
12,073 12,920
5,596 5,979
6,477 6,941
12,073 12,920

6,584,000 L (=& = — F
4,686,000/ 7T) °

FE R (&2 B ES TR I 3E8.1(0)
W -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 ¥ 2= B AE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS BIEE
Goodwill
me
HK$°000
FETT
At 31 March 2022 and RZTEZZF=A=+—AK
1 April 2022 —E-_FPUA—H
Cost and net book value AR X BR TEDFE 10,857
Opening net book value FYREFE 10,857
Impairment E (6,207)
Closing net book value at RZE_=F=A=+—H2
31 March 2023 FRIEMFE 4,650
At 31 March 2021 and RZEZ—F=A=+—A0K
1 April 2021 —E-—F1A—H
Cost and net book value BN N BR TR E 7,873
Opening net book value FUREFE 7,873
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note) W& —RIM B R 7 (A15) 2,984
Closing net book value at R-ZEBE__F=A=+—H2
31 March 2022 FRE@FE 10,857

Note:

On 1 December 2021, Kin Yat International Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into a sales
and purchase agreement with a third party to acquire
100% equity interest in Attoude Technology (Shanghai)
Company Limited (“Attoude”) at a total cash consideration
of RMB3,550,000 (equivalent to HK$4,314,000). As at the
acquisition, Attoude had fair values of plant and equipment
of HK$518,000, cash and cash equivalents of HK$402,000
and prepayments, deposits and other receivables of
HK$410,000, resulting in recognition of goodwill amounting
to HK$2,984,000. Attoude contributed net loss of
HK$1,884,000 to the Group for the period from 1 December
2021 to 31 March 2022. If the acquisition had occurred on
1 April 2021, consolidated profit of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2022 would have been HK$54,079,000.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &% 5%

Bt -

RZZT-—F+-A—8 XEENZEN
BRARERIRKARARE—ZE =L
B & W& LWERSREARES,550,0007T
(FEE 74,314,000/ 7T ) WEEHE AN 1B BE L
(E8)BRAR (MHEMRE]) H100%H% # -
REBE - EME2MEREBZAFE
#518,000% 7T - e kR&ERM 2 A FE
£402,000/87C * A RIEMFRIE ~ e REM
FEUR TR IE 2 A F{E A410,0008 7 © EEHFER
22,984,000 L RZE-Z—F+=H—
HE-Z-—S=ZA=1+—BHMH  HBHne=
M [E & BUF B 181,884,000 7T © i 5 UK
BEHER-_ZT-_—FWMA—HET XS
EEE-_Z-_—F-A=+—RIEFEZH
&4 F 45 554,079,000 7T ©

EERAA]

199



200

18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment test for goodwill
Management reviews the business performance
based on type of business as follows:

Electrical and electronic products ERENETE
Motors ESR:
At 31 March R=A=+—8H

In accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”,
the recoverable amount of a CGU is determined
based on the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal or value in use calculations. The Group has
calculated the recoverable amounts of the Motors
CGU and made reference to the valuation report
issued by an independent valuer for the calculation
of the recoverable amount of the E&E CGUs. These
calculations use pre-tax cash flow forecast covering
a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year
period are extrapolated using the terminal growth
rate stated below.

Inherent in the development of the present value
of future cash flow forecast are assumptions and
estimates derived from a review of the expected
revenue growth rates, gross profit margins,
terminal growth rate and discount rate. Changes
in assumptions or estimates could materially affect
the determination of the recoverable amount of
a CGU, and therefore could eliminate the excess
of recoverable amount over carrying value of a
CGU entirely and, in some cases, could result in
impairment.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &5 E AR A A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

BEEE®)

7 2 (R
CHERENTERENRHELE
I8 -

2023 2022
—E_=F —E-=

HK$’000 HK$°000

FET FAET

- 6,207

4,650 4,650

4,650 10,857

RIBEFBSTEREI6H [ EERME]
ReELBEMNA RO RIRERF
BRHERAERIERBEREE
(AEBmmERE)ETE - AKBECFHEE
BERASELEUNA DY SRE I
SEBIAEMEHOBERS - A
BETEMRSELEMNAIKE S
B RS ERALFHBRTABESR
EFRAETT - AFHRNADREN A
THKABREHE -

AEAKRBESRERANBEL NRE
EMFAHWARRER - EFEX - KA
RREAREOMRLMAF - Bk
AANEBHRIHRESELEM KOS
MEBEEKRERTZE YA REELEEH
HHR S E A B M AT IR E & 5EE HARE
EMER  £F THER TR EEZUR
8-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 ¥ 2= B AE

18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 18 BILEE (&)

BERERN (F)
EREENEETANEERRREHK
M

Impairment test for goodwill (continued)
The key assumptions and parameters used for value
in use calculations are as follows.

Average revenue growth (Note i) Fi g R ()
Average gross profit margin (Note i) T EFR (B i)
Terminal growth rate (Note i) KAYE R R ([ itii)
Discount rate (Note i) B3R & (Hf 2tiii)
Notes:

(i) Average revenue growth rate and average gross

margin covers the five-year forecast period. It is
based on the past performance and management’s
expectations on market development.

(if) The terminal growth rates do not exceed the long-
term average growth rate of the business in which
the CGUs operate.

(i)  Pre-tax discount rate applied to the pre-tax cash flow
forecast.
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [& ¥ KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED

Wi -

(ii

(i)

2023
—EBC-=F

Electrical and

electronic
products Motors

EEXER
BEfEM B
18.3% 10.42%
18.1% 13.5%
2.0% 2.0%
14.8% 14.4%

FHWHEERR L FHEMNETRED
FHEAY DABERRLEEEY
M5 ERNBHBEE -

RENEBORPTFHERE -

PR B B4 A IR 0 7 B B B B AT
BRI o

HaEEERAR
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18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment test for goodwill (continued)

These assumptions and parameters have been
used for the analysis of each CGU within the
operating segment. Management determined the
financial forecast based on past performance and
its expectations for the market development. The
discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific
risks relating to the relevant segments.

In the Electrical and Electronic CGU, the recoverable
amount calculated based on value in use was lower
than the carrying amount by HK$20,283,000 and
such shortfall led to HK$20,283,000 impairment
recognised.

In the Motors CGU, the recoverable amount
calculated based on value in use exceeded the
carrying amount by HK$89,835,000 and no
impairment was recognised. A fall in annual revenue
growth rate to 7.5%, a fall in gross margin to
12.5%, a fall in long-term growth rate to -2% or a
rise in discount rate to 16.9%, all changes taken in
isolation, would remove the remaining headroom.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EBAR A7

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

18 B EE &)

BEREYRE)
ZEBRLZ2EERROTRENEAR
ERSELEN BEEERBEERAR
HEmGRROBHEEV B - Ff
ERMRERBRBATL R - I BRI
HARSBEENSERR

REEMBETERRSELSN - 12
AEEENITREERERSHEK
20,283,000/ 7T + AR Z =R RE
20,283,000/ 7T °

NEWRSEASMN  REHAESHEFEZ
9 AT 4 [B] & 58 A ) BR £ %889,835,000
B B ERRRE -  FREERE
TBZE7.5% EFETH®KE125% -
RHBERTRE 2% R A2
16.9% (FTEE BB E) BIKEAT
Z¥E o
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At 1 April
Additions

Impairment (Note 8)
Exchange realignment

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19 PROPERTIES UNDER
DEVELOPMENT

At 31 March (Note)
Current portion

Non-current portion

B 75 ¥ 2= B AE

19 EHPYE

2023 2022

—E_-=F —E-=
HK$°000 HK$’000

FE T FET
RMmA—H 454,115 357,830
NE 78,192 85,679
B (HaE8) (191,304) =
PE 7 82 (30,383) 10,606
R=ZA=+—H(#i) 310,620 454,115
BOER R &> (207,404) (411,898)
FERNEREB 103,216 42,217

Impairment for the year ended 31 March 2023
amounting to HK$191,304,000 (2022: Nil) comprises
(i) an impairment loss of HK$123,556,000 to
write down the carrying value of a shelved project
which the management decide to cease further

development during the vyear,

and (i) impairment

loss of HK$67,748,000 to write down the carrying
value of properties under development to their net
realisable value due to the decline in market price.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

HE-_T-_ZFZAZ=Z+—HBIFE
HRES%191,304,00008 T (Z 2= —

FE)

B ¥ (i) R B 85 $8123,556,000

BT AR B BEERAFERTELE

E—SHREZHEEBZEREE X
()R 1B E51867,748,000/ 7T * LB #EE
FYEMNREEBARTE TRMBRE
HA] R FE -

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &#&EE AR A a]
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

19 PROPERTIES UNDER
DEVELOPMENT (continued)

19 EHYE (»)

Note: W
Properties under development comprise: ERPMEBRSE
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E=-_=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Construction costs and BEKRRREREZH
capitalised expenditures 331,054 287,186
Interests capitalised FME &R 42,871 35,949
Land use rights T R R 124,413 135,878
Impairment VEREN (187,718) (4,898)
310,620 454,115
20 COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD 20 HEHEZRIME
FOR SALE
2023 2022
—EC-=F g
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
At 1 April R H—H 143,954 143,905
Properties sold 2EEME (6,226) (4,002)
Impairment (Note 8) WAE (f1:E8) (48,774) -
Exchange realignment b 3, 58 2 (9,826) 4,051
At 31 March R=HA=+—H 79,128 143,954

Impairment for the year ended 31 March 2023
amounting to HK$48,774,000 (2022: Nil) were
recognised to write down the carrying value of
unsold inventory of completed properties held for
sale to their net realisable value.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &5 E AR A A

HE_Z_—F=-A=+—HULFE "
BIEHEZEIMEZLRANEETR
HEBMRZETEZR)TE  BRBE
& %8 A48,774,0008 T (Z T - = F ¢
=) o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21 INVENTORIES

Raw materials B}

Work in progress & m
Finished goods YK o

Less: Provision for impairment B R E R

The cost of inventories recognised as expense
and included in “Cost of inventories sold”
amounted to approximately HK$688,333,000
(2022: HK$1,443,250,000). Provision amounted to
HK$5,801,000 (2022: HK$4,583,000) was included
in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated income
statement during the year ended 31 March 2023.

B 75 ¥ 2= B AE

21 FE

2023 2022
—_E_-= —EFE-=
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAET
130,120 189,136
26,319 30,938
75,953 97,844
232,392 317,918
(36,833) (31,032)
195,559 286,886

EREHAIRHAIEEFTENK L]
217 & BN #) /688,333,000 7T (=
T — — £ :1,443,250,0008 7T) °
B 55,801,000 L (Z & = —4F
4,583,000 C) ERHE T -_=F=
A=+ —BLEFEFAGZAKREERDN
[HERA] -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &#&EE AR A a]
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22 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable JE Ui BR 7R
Loss allowance BB

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are
mainly on credit, except for new customers, where
cash on sale or payment in advance is normally
required. The credit period is generally for a period
of one to two months, extending up to three
months for certain well-established customers. Each
customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has imposed tightened control to
minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over its accounts receivable balances. Accounts
receivable are non-interest-bearing.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EBAR A7

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

22 FEUBRFX

2023 2022
—_E_-= —=E-=
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAET
219,573 304,317
(8,831) (14,998)
210,742 289,319

AEBERP ZEFHERABOUEE
RET  EFEP—RBEUARSHA
NEAEERI - EEH-—RR—EM
BA ETEERRARFZEFPZEER
HAAMEREZE=@A - BREFPHAE
B ER - ANS B R U Bl R IB R
BRAR R I3 B 05R 2 I LA KHE & BB B
ERE - 2REEAES TR BH
RERR o NSRBI B H B KRR R A BR
BEMERREAEMEERT - BKER
I ER ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR EIE

22 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued) 22 BEUWERR (@)
An aging analysis of the accounts receivable as at RMERR BRI ZREE DT (3%
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice BEAH)WMT

date, is as follows:

2023 2022
—E-=F =
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
0-30 days 02 30H 113,850 151,965
31-60 days 31260H 52,437 66,476
61-90 days 61£90H 24,762 43,003
Over 90 days 90R A I 28,524 42,873
219,573 304,317
Loss allowance &5 18 B (8,831) (14,998)
210,742 289,319
At 31 March 2023, the Group had certain R-ZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—H  AEET
concentrations of credit risk that may arise from EASAARRRPEEAREFENRBRK O
the exposure to the five largest customers and the MEAETEREERE  DRlGASE
largest customer which accounted for approximately EEUW R TBAERE 2 4952% (— 2 — —
52% (2022: 24%) and 17% (2022: 1%) of the 24%) MAT% (ZZEZ_F 1 1%) °

Group’s total accounts receivable, respectively.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

22 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued) 22 FEWBRFK (&)

The movements in provision for impairment of

accounts receivable are as follows:

At beginning of the year

(Reversal of impairment losses)/
impairment losses recognised
during the year

Exchange realignment

At end of the year

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach

FEAR R 2 M EBEEF T :

2023 2022
—E-=F =

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

REA 14,998 14,782
REABRZ OREERE

BE),REERE

(5,302) 50

bE 5 5 2 (865) 166

RER 8,831 14,998

to measuring expected credit losses which uses a IbtH At EBHEZE

lifetime expected loss allowance for all accounts
receivable. Note 3.1(b) provides details about the

calculation of the allowance.

The carrying amount of accounts receivable

approximate their fair values.

Denominated in:

HKD
usD
RMB
Others

a =

AEERABBYHRELERFOHE
B
WEERE R 2 R EREE -
3.10b) HBEBNTEREZFAER -

BLPT R R

JEW AR R 2 BREE B E A FEMEE -

LT E8EE :

2023 2022

—_E_= g
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
BT 13,907 26,361
ETT 131,515 181,435
AR 65,167 81,440
) 153 83
210,742 289,319
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR EIE

23 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND 23 FAMEIE - e R H i fE KR

OTHER RECEIVABLES o]

2023 2022
—EBC-=F —F -

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET

Prepayment for property, plant and Y RN EREENRE
equipment 22,610 76,206
Prepaid construction costs (Note) TR EEKAN (H ) 8,787 93,148
Prepayment for materials I RE ARG 20,742 43,299
VAT recoverables A Y [B] 3% E F 28,641 37,820
Factoring receivables from bank FEUER TR 3B 3RIE - 11,521
Utility and other deposits NHEREMRS 10,244 11,667
Staff advance BT8R 2,009 2,102
Other prepayments H b FE IR 1,738 5,549
Other receivables H b fE W sk 1B 47,333 45,755
142,104 327,067
Less: Provision for impairment R E R (3,200) (4,827)
138,904 322,240
Less: Current portion B BNEREL & (114,333) (236,397)
Non-current portion FEBNEREL 24,571 85,843

Note:

As at 31 March 2023, prepaid construction costs include
prepaid construction cost of approximately HK$7,107,000
(2022: HK$83,843,000) to certain contractors for the
property development project in Dushan County, Guizhou
Province, the PRC. The properties, upon completion, are
for selling purpose and are expected to be completed

g

within operating cycle, therefore, it is classified as current

assets.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &#&EE AR A a]

R-ZZT-_=ZF=ZA=+—H  EFEERAK
BESMAPEEMNEB LG DERREE
B FEFREEL7,107,0008 T (= F
Z Z4F 183,843,000/ C) Z B EEM A ©
ZEMERRTRIEHEER S  WEHANE
BRARNRT - Al ERDEARBEE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

23 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 general approach
to measuring expected credit losses which uses
12-month or lifetime expected loss allowance for
all deposits and other receivables which constitute
financial assets at amortised cost. Note 3.1(b)
provides for details about the determination of the
allowance.

The carrying amount of prepayments, deposits and
other receivables approximate their fair values.

Denominated in:

HKD BT
RMB AR
Others E i

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &5 E AR A A

23 NI BEREMEWK

E (4)

7 8 8 8 7 7% B 75 3 o 2 R 2509 &9
—BIRHEHEBEEEE  HERE
BURAHEZ SBAENFERER
it e ST R AR 121 B Sk 2 R
1B o 1 EE3.1(0) HR A MR R
BRI o

BNHE  ZeREMERAZERER
BEEAXFERS -

DT3ESHE :

2023 2022

—E-=F —ET-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
11,087 28,761
121,797 288,664
6,020 4,815
138,904 322,240
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR EIE

24 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 24 EBEREAFEIERz2EE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS gE

2023 2022
—E-=F —F -

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHEIT
Listed equity investment, at market value &R ARE @ RH{E 85 87
Unlisted equity investment, at fair value 3 F AR E - IR A F(E 14,244 14,421
Key management insurance, at fair value TEEEERE @ R A FE 13,079 12,684
27,408 27,192
Less: Current portion o BNEAEL 5 (27,408) (14,508)
Non-current portion JEBNEREL & - 12,684

RZFE-_=F=ZA=+t—HZ LKA
JIRFIEEE - W ERBERFHAE
By BEREEBRERATEIIR SR
BE(ZTE=-_F:R) -

The above investments at 31 March 2023 were
classified as held for trading and were, upon initial
recognition, classified by the Group as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (2022:
Same).

—EZ=Ff=ZRA=+—HB ' r—HEHH
RAER BB ZRBRFTEHZEERN
BESEAFENEZEHEE
AeRZEZ=F=H=1T—H " 8%

An insurance plan relating to the chairman of the i
Company was included in financial assets at fair PN
value through profit or loss as at 31 March 2023. 3
The total insured sum as at 31 March 2023 was
US$3,500,000 (2022: US$3,500,000) (equivalent 1R % /53,500,000 T (T = =

to HK$27,361,000 (2022: HK$27,225,000)). If the 3,500,000% 7t) (48 % 727,361,000/
Group withdrew from the insurance policies, the ) (ZE = — 4 : 27,225,000 L) °

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

account value, net of surrender charges, would be
refunded to the Group. The insurance plan was
classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss as their contractual cash flows are not
solely for payments of principal and interest. The
insurance plan is expected to be withdrawn within
the year ending 31 March 2024.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &% 5%

WAEBRR  AEBEAERERSE
B RERER) - ARESHRESR
EVHEARIHARES EFE - BURK
el EAFRERKEATEYEZS
BEE - ZRBETEIEFBREEE
“HF=ZRAR=+—HIEFERHE -

=EBRAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 %% 2 Y =

25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,

TIME DEPOSITS, RESTRICTED

25

BeRkReERAY EHF
o ZREFBTERREEA

BANK DEPOSITS AND PLEDGED F=
DEPOSITS
2023 2022
—EBC-=F —EF-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FiET
Pledged deposits (Note (i) BB FR A EE))) = 12,326
Time deposits — original maturity of EHFESR - REIEAE
more than three months BB =1EA 10,006 13,355
Restricted bank deposits (Note (i) PR B 8R1T 17 3R (M (i) 1,093 650
Cash and cash equivalents e kReERY 203,372 256,934
214,471 283,265
Denominated in: LT3 E%SHE :
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
HKD BT 41,776 37,669
USD ETT 96,712 131,923
RMB AR 62,328 96,247
Others Hh 13,655 17,426
214,471 283,265
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,

TIME DEPOSITS, RESTRICTED
BANK DEPOSITS AND PLEDGED
DEPOSITS (continued)

Notes:

(i) As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s pledge deposits
were denominated in RMB and placed in a bank to
secure a bank facility (Note 28).

(if) Included in restricted bank deposits as at 31 March
2023 are RMB968,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,093,000) (2022: RMB527,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$650,000)) placed in a bank for
trade financing.

As at 31 March 2023, the cash and cash
equivalents, time deposits, restricted bank deposits
and pledged deposits of the Group denominated
in RMB amounted to HK$62,328,000 (2022:
HK$96,247,000). RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies; however, under Mainland
China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates. Time deposits are made
for varying periods of between four months and one
year (2022: Same) depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group and earn interest at the
respective time deposit rates.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED

B 75 ¥ 2= B AE

25 RekAEEEAY EHF

> ZREBITERRESIEF
FR#)

i) RKR-ZE-—F=ZA=+—8 4£5H
HEERFRAARBFELF AR
THERRITRENER (F28) -

iy R-TT-_=F=A=+—HBzZR
FIRITEREEAEIBEMT A
R 1T 2 AR #968,0007T (FHE R4
1,093,000 7T) (ZE-—F : ARK
527,000t (A5 7 49650,0007% 7T ) ) °

M-TZ-=F=ZA=+—H AKEHI
ARBFE R ERASERY &
HE R R ZEGIRITERANE &I
73 562,328,000 T (—Z T = =
96,247,000 7C) ° ARBENTA B B 4
BAEEMER A BREMPEAR
HANE NG B IR ) R (A5 - EER
NEEBEHATE)  ANEEBELRITR
THARE LB AEME B EITINE
E X

RITRSRE HIFBRITIF A R ERE
ME - AEBEZRANKRSHTE - FEN
FHEAAZE—F(ZT=_F: {HR)H
A2 EHIER - MR EHERA KRR
BUALE »

HaEEERAR
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26 ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR

SALE

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
entered into the Lands Resumption Agreement
with Shixing County Bureau of Natural Resources
(“SXBNR”), pursuant to which SXBNR agreed to
resume, the Group agreed to surrender, the land use
rights of the three parcels of land situated at Huang
Hua Yuan Industrial Area, Tai Ping Town, Shi Xing
County, Shaoguan City, Guangdong Province, the
PRC and certain assets thereon and entered into a
cooperation agreement with a property developer
at a consideration by way of cash compensation
of approximately RMB107,300,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$123,395,000) according to the
relevant rules and regulations in the PRC including
but not limited to the policy pertaining to the Three-
old Renovation, subject to the successful bidding
through public auction. Agreement has already
been signed before the year-end and management
considered the completion of the transaction is
unconditional and highly probable. As a result, the
relevant property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets of approximately HK$38,335,000 and
HK$2,765,000, respectively, have been presented as
assets held for sale as at 31 March 2023.

In accordance with HKFRS 5, the assets classified
as held for sale are measured at lower of their
carrying amount immediately prior to being
classified as held for sale and fair value less cost
to sell. At the date of initial classification as held
for sale, the carrying amount of the assets were
lower than the fair value less cost to sell as at that
date. Accordingly, no loss was recognised due to
remeasurement at the initial classification.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &5 E AR A A
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26 PEARABFLHEEE

HE-_Z-_=—F=—fA=1+—HIEE"
AEBEHPBBAZAALRRD ([15 M
BREBRB]) T TR E W% - 5
It B B AERBRIET AR
Bl R0) BREETBERE-ENER
BrzBE RAEKRERAEERERE
R RERERETREZEKFHE
BEAEIER =B LA HE S
ERETEE TH-RMWEZRE]
VAEERE  REARSHENARYE
107,300,0007T (18 & M #9123,395,000
BIL) c MASXBRRNEBRAARBEEX
MR - MR RTLERIEE] - ME R
BRAEBBXIMNEXNILEMESE B
TREERR - EHilt - RZTEZ=%F=
A=+—H {E@E9%E - BELAIEX
A ¥ & = 5 5 438,335,000/ 7T &
2,765,000/ L 25 B ELEEE -

REBEMBHRELENFESR  DER
FIFLEEERER DB RAFIIFLER
MEAEEQXFERLEXNARE Z
RIEEFE - R0 BARKIEHEZ
B BEZKREEERZBZAFER
HERA o Bt - RV 5 R I & A
B EMERESE -
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27 ACCOUNTS AND BILLS PAYABLE, 27 EREZREE - LiuELS

OTHER PAYABLES AND HREBE
PROVISIONS
2023 2022
—E—= —F-=
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FHEL
Accounts and bills payable (Note i) R ER (K i) 202,402 313,403
Accrued expenses X 19,390 24,695
Other borrowings (Note i) H AR (AT a2i) 27,882 -
Other payables H b e FRIR 20,756 22,883
Payable for construction work BETEZENNKIA 7,314 8,907
Financial liabilities TRBE 277,744 369,888
Accrued employee benefit expenses EstEERFIF X 59,246 73,763
VAT and other tax payable EE T E b FE S B IR 26,869 27,007
Deferred income (Note iii) IEIE A (1 72iii) 19,233 25,599
Total trade and other payables JE T BR SR % EL M B S ROR
FEEL] 383,092 496,257
Less: Non-current portion of IR A 2 FERIHAER (D
deferred income (Note ii) (H&ii) (14,553) (17,515)
Non-current portion of Hfib & 32 2 JERNERER 1
other borrowings (22,214) -
Current portion Bl ER & 10 346,325 478,742
Denominated in: LLTRHEREEHE -
2023 2022
—E_= g
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET Fi&T
HKD BT 45,885 123,348
RMB AR 309,559 355,638
Others Hib 27,648 17,271
383,092 496,257

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &#&EE AR A a]

215



216

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 %% 2 Y =

27 ACCOUNTS AND BILLS PAYABLE,
OTHER PAYABLES AND
PROVISIONS (continued)

Notes:

(i)

The accounts and bills payable are non-interest-
bearing and are normally settled within credit terms
of two months, extending up to three months.

The carrying amounts of accounts and bills payables
are considered to be the same as their fair values,
due to their short term nature.

At 31 March 2023, the aging analysis of the accounts
payable based on invoice date are as follows:

0 — 30 days 0Z&30H

31 - 60 days 31£260H
61 — 90 days 61290H
Over 90 days 90H A I

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &5 E AR A A

27 ENRAREE - HttEAR
B EBE e

Wiz -

(i)

ENEREZEGTRE  BFER®
BEANEERRNERN RZAEEE

=fEA -
HRENERRERAFEHEE
HpHREERRESERREAFE -

RZB-=F=R=+—0" ENK
FREBEZRAHZERITOT

2023 2022
—EgE-= T F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
57,253 100,493
43,953 50,208
37,697 62,118
63,499 100,584
202,402 313,403

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z ¥



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27 ACCOUNTS AND BILLS PAYABLE,
OTHER PAYABLES AND
PROVISIONS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(i

(i)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

As at 31 March 2023, the other borrowings comprise
(i) loan from spouse of Mr. Cheng Chor Kit, the
major shareholder of the Company, amounted to
HK$15,000,000, which is unsecured, interest bearing
and repayable in 2026, (ii) loan from an independent
third party entity, amounted to HK$9,722,000, which
is interest bearing and repayable by instalment until
2025, and secured by certain properties under
development amounting to HK$14,825,000; and
(iii) loan from an individual third party, amounted to
HK$3,160,000, interest bearing and repayable within
one year, and is secured by certain properties held
for sale amounting to HK$4,826,000.

The balance mainly represented government grants
received in respect of the subsidies from The
People’s Government of the Dushan County, Guizhou
Province (the “Dushan County Government”) for the
Group’s manufacturing company located in Dushan
County, Guizhou Province, the PRC. These grants
are held as deferred income and recognised to the
income statement on a systematic basis to match
with the costs or the assets’ useful lives that they
are intended to compensate in accordance with the
agreements with the Dushan County Government.
During the year ended 31 March 2023, subsidies
of HK$9,158,000 (2022: HK$39,895,000) had been
recognised and included in subsidy income of “Other
income and gains, net” in the consolidated income
statement.

The movements in deferred income are as follows:

At beginning of the year REH)
Additions NE

Grant recognised during the year RERNERZ AL
Exchange realignment FE N B
At end of the year RER

27 BEERE

B 75 ¥ 2= B AE

R HtbEARK

EHREE®)

Wizt - (&)

(i

(i)

RZZTZ=F=ZA=+—8 " £
REEO)AAREERREL G L LE
2 B {8 2 & 315,000,000 7T * % &
REBEEIF FERAR-ZZZARF
BE: (i HBILE=ZFARAZER
9,722,000 7T * ZER A EREAR
TR FHIHER UASER
14,825,000 L2 & TERPMEE
BER k(i BBLE=ZAZER
3,160,000 T * ZER A B RER
—FREE  WIASEE 54,826,000
TG TRELEMEERER -

HHREIZEEMNEBLUZEARKST
([BLEBRFD HsAEBEMLR
FREMNEBLEZEEEARND
WK B) - ZSWIERGFEER
WHRERCWABRUEGZEE
BRI S LG BUFET M 2 i
BrRASEENAERFH - RNE
E-E-=—F=ZA=+—BHItFE "
B 72 324 B 57189,158,000/8 7T (=&
— 4 : 39,895,000 5T) Wit ALZRAE
SR TEMRA RIS B8] &
B BE U o

BEWAZZEBT -
2023 2022
—_E-= T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEIT
25,599 59,890
4,767 4,399
(9,158) (39,895)
(1,975) 1,205
19,233 25,599
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28 BANK BORROWINGS 28
Unsecured A
Current portion BN EREf
Non-current portion JEBDERER
Secured BHEF
Current portion BN ER R &

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s banking facilities
are secured by the corporate guarantees (2022:
corporate guarantees, investment property (Note 16)
and bank deposits (Note 25)) given by the Company
and certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Bank borrowings mature until 2025 and bear
average interest at 5.3% (2022: 2.8%) per annum.

At 31 March 2023, based on the contractual
repayment terms including repayable on demand
clause, the Group’s bank borrowings maturity
analysis would be as follows:

Within 1 year or on demand R—FARILZEK
Between 1 and 2 years BR—FETBAME
Between 2 and 5 years BAMFEETBBASF

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &5 E AR A A

RITEE

2023 2022

—_E_-= —=E-=
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAET
269,065 412,071
82,200 111,800
351,265 523,871
- 5,276

R-ZE-_=F=A=+—8 A£EZ
RITRMEBEUARRAG RARNGBETHEA
AR ZRARER(ZEZZF : 2
AR - 1R EWE (WiE16) RRITHFR
(Fi5E25)) B -

RITEER-_ZE-_AFIH > WIKFY
FRE53%(ZE-—HF:28%):tE o

EA TZZ=F=A=+—H  &A&] ’J)(%
RHFE (B IERESREEEK) -
lZﬁEfﬂ%EﬂJ/ﬁH SATEAT ¢

2023 2022
—_=E_= —=E-

HK$°000 HK$’000

FETT FAET

269,065 417,347

82,200 21,350

- 90,450

351,265 529,147
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

The following table summarises the maturity
analysis of the bank borrowings which are subject
to repayment on demand based on scheduled
repayment dates:

B 75 ¥ 2= B AE

28 WRITBE @)
TR A R ERERIERZRITE
EMIESN - DIRBREERB R
gl .

2023 2022
—EgE=-= —F-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Within 1 year R—FR 30,289 17,500
Between 1 and 2 years HEiE— FE N EBRME 28,394 21,875
Between 2 and 5 years BEMEETBBRE - 26,250
58,683 65,625
The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank AEERTEEZREEREEQAFER
borrowings approximate their fair value. o
Denominated in: LT3 ESHE :
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
HKD BT 172,649 293,613
ushD ETT 8,359 26,152
RMB AR 170,257 209,382
351,265 529,147

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has uncommitted
undrawn bank facilities amounting to HK$197,221,000
(2022: HK$165,512,000).

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
anticipated it would not comply with certain restrictive
financial covenants of its borrowings amounting to
HK$58,683,000. Accordingly, prior to 31 March
2023, the Group successfully obtained waivers for the
compliance of restrictive financial covenants from the
relevant banks. As at 31 March 2022, the Group was in
compliance with all bank borrowing covenants.

R-EBE-_=ZF#=ZA=+—8 ' A&£E>
RIZEUIEAFHIRITREE A197,221,000
BT (ZE =~ 165,512,000/ 1) °

BHE-_ZT-_="€#=A=+—HIEE -
AEBBHEICETERESE S
58,683,000/ T 8 B 2 & TR #l 14
Ry A R=ZZT=Z=F=A
=+—HZA  AEEKNESEBR
THESTEERHIETBRONEAE
RZZE-_—_F=A=+—H ~&£EBEE
BT ARITEERR -

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &#&EE AR A a]

219



220

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

29 DEFERRED TAX

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current income tax assets against current income tax

29 IEFEH A

E B A E A B 1T N A A% B B P AS Y
BEANMMEHAGIMRENE &
SEFTS B R [F — M BUKE R R Eﬂ—fﬂﬁ

liabilities and when the deferred income taxes related REMGHEEHRGEEREH - L8
to the same fiscal authority. The balances shown in *“ﬁﬁfﬁ & BFEEUMBARRKRIIRE ﬁ%ﬁﬂ
the consolidated statement of financial position, after T
appropriate offsetting, are as follows:
2023 2022
—EC-=F —TEC-CF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Deferred income tax assets BIEFTISTEE 4,145 5,745
Deferred income tax liabilities BIEMEMRAR (29,387) (40,075)
Net deferred income tax liabilities RIEFTISMAEFRE (25,242) (34,330)
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets BLEMEAELREERFRNZEBHN
during the year are as follows: Nk
Gross deferred tax liabilities EEBEEEHEE
Depreciation
allowance
in excess
of related
depreciation Others Total
WERE
BB
WENSHE Hth #et
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET FETT
At 1 April 2021 RZZE-_—FMA—H 44,015 2,018 46,033
Deferred tax credited to FARERITAZ
equity during the year EER IR (5,486) - (5,486)
Deferred tax debited to FARWEFZIOR 2
the income statement B IE
during the year (Note 11) (K1at11) - 705 705
Exchange realignment & H A% 757 - 757
At 31 March 2022 =T
=A=+—H 39,286 2,723 42,009
Deferred tax credited to equity FRARERTAZ
during the year ERERIE (9,102) - (9,102)
Deferred tax credited to FARMERFTAZ
the income statement EETIR
during the year (Note 11) (BieE11) - (712) (712)
Exchange realignment [ 3, 3 2 (1,130) - (1,130)
At 31 March 2023 MNZE-_=4F
—A=+—H 29,054 2,011 31,065

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &5 E AR A A
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29 DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Gross deferred tax assets

At 1 April 2021

Deferred tax debited to the income
statement during the year (Note 11)

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2022

Deferred tax debited to the income
statement during the year (Note 117)

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2023

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

29 EAERIE (#)

FEERBEEHAEE
Deferred
subsidy
income Others Total
EEBERA 2ty @t
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET F#ET
R-_E-—FME—H 14,898 2,240 17,138
FRARWERNGR 2
RRERIA (Mat11) (8,798) (950) (9,748)
BEE 3¢, 38 B 300 (11) 289
RZEZZF=A=+—H 6,400 1,279 7,679
FRARBEERMBR 2
BIERE (M at11) (1,061) (264) (1,325)
B SR 2 (531) - (531)
RZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—H 4,808 1,015 5,823
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29 DEFERRED TAX (continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
HK$41,947,000 (2022: HK$28,363,000) that are
available indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses
arose.

The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland
China of HK$95,294,000 (2022: HK$75,211,000)
that will expire in one to five years for offsetting
against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised
in respect of these losses as they have arisen in
subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some
time and it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses
can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law,
a 10% (2022: 10%) withholding tax is levied on
dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in
Mainland China. The requirement is effective from
1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may
be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate is 5% (2022:
5%). The Group is therefore liable to withholding
taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings
generated since 1 January 2008.

At 31 March 2023, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be
payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject
to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in Mainland China (2022: Nil). In the
opinion of the directors, it is not probable that
these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings
in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount
of temporary differences on undistributed profit
of the subsidiaries in Mainland China for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
totalled approximately HK$796,772,000 (2022:
HK$795,387,000) at 31 March 2023.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &5 E AR A A
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ELEBLIR (&)
REBENEBEE 2 BIEEE41,947,000
BT (ZZ = — 4 : 28,363,000/ 7T) °
MERIAAREHEEEBBZARZA
PR FE R F o

KEBIBPLPREANMEEHIEB
895,294,000 t (= &2 = =
75,211,000 7T) * #§ 5 — & 7 F 2 &
RS AR R FEER B i A1) o

ERTRIREEY A5 % FEEF LR
w AREEBRELECEA —REHE
REBEMRR 2B AR - BERTUE A
# A KA BE AR R IH TR A B 1R -

RIEF B EMERE - KRB B A
VZONEARECERIEREESIR
BB BIZ10% (ZZT = —F 1 10%) &
WM - WIRTE S NF— A —
B4R WERAR -_ZZ+F+_-A
=+—REBZAEF - {4+ B A HE N
BEEZRZERRERIBET B H
Fo B EAREZENRE - giA%
Ems BAMEAE% (ZT==
5%) - At ANEBEH & EE BN
VZHZEMBARBREZEZENF—A
—HRELXZBNADIK 2R EHTE
nEi -

W-_ZT-_=F=ZA=+—H" jtéﬂi?‘dm
EERAPE R Z KB E AR
%ME?NRZ*E&EWZJEa%%m%ﬁ

FEEFB(ZE_—F E) - EH
m% ;ZSMTE,@TET%EEJ%XTK
AREDRBEBAETR -R-ZTE=_=F=A
=+t—8- ﬁ%ﬁhﬂiﬁés RIERIEE B
2B R B A R R R R 2 R
EFBES KA A796,772,0008 7T (=
T — — 4 : 795,387,000/ 7T) °
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30 SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised:
1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.10 each

Issued and fully paid:
438,960,000
(2022: 438,960,000)
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

A summary of movements in the Company’s share

capital is as follows:

At 1 April 2021, NZE-—FMA
31 March 2022 and —Z-Z%=H
31 March 2023 —E-=F=f

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

30 A&
2023 2022
—=E-= T
HK$°000 HK$’000
FETT FET
JETE ¢
1,000,000,0000% & A%
M{EO. 108 JT 2 L@ M 100,000 100,000
BEBTRHRE :
438,960,0000%
(ZE—-—
438,960,0000% ) &%
H{EC.10/8 T 2 E @R 43,896 43,896
AKRARIRAEHMEMT ¢
Number of Share
shares in Share premium
issue capital account Total
BR#T
RAEE B R B ER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
— El N
=t—BA
=+—H 438,960,000 43,896 156,015 199,911

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &#&EE AR A a]
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31 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Company
terminated the share option scheme adopted by
the Company on 20 August 2002 (the “Old Share
Option Scheme”) and adopted a new share option
scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) pursuant
to a resolution passed in the annual general meeting
dated 20 August 2012 which became effective on
the same date. The New Share Option Scheme will
remain in force for ten years commencing from the
effective date, after which period no further options
will be granted but the provisions of the New Share
Option Scheme shall remain in full force to the
extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any
option granted prior thereto or otherwise as may be
required in accordance with the provisions of the
New Share Option Scheme.

The New Share Option Scheme

The Company operates the New Share Option
Scheme for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute
to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the New Share Option Scheme
include the directors, including independent non-
executive directors, other employees of the Group,
suppliers of goods or services to the Group,
customers of the Group, any person or entity
that provides research, development or other
technological support to the Group, the Company’s
shareholders and any non-controlling interests in
the Company’s subsidiaries. The New Share Option
Scheme became effective on 20 August 2012 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain
in force for 10 years from that date.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &5 E AR A A
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BB
REEZZT—=F=A=1+—HILFE
A ARAIERERRFTRZZTZT_F
NAZ+BRMNERETS ([EEK
EE]) WIREBEBHA-Z——F)N
AZ+RAZBRBFARE LBBZRE
IR — IR RT B ([ 3B AR =T
21 ERETENZBEER - B
AR HERT B B £ H BiBET T F N4
B RzBAEETeREE—TE
At - tEFTIE AR 8 2 IR E (D A
RS - AEEF R B4R LRI
ok AT REAR IR RIS IR R T B 2 X S 1T
BHERTE 2 EMERETTEEITE -

RS B
ARBBITHEREFEEERAER
S8 E RSB PTEE R 22
KElfE - Bk aER2EER
RES (BRBIFNTES) A5HE
HitES  mAREREERIRSE 2
HER  AEEEF - $AKE R/
7 RBESEMEMEZEMALS
B ARABBRRRARAMEBARZ
EAIFE R R - FTBRER BN =F
——HENAZTHEN  BIERTEH
HEF > BRIBEAEF T FRERE
/‘—ﬂ °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The New Share Option Scheme (continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be
accepted within 28 days from the date of the offer,
upon payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in
total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share
options granted is determinable by the directors, and
commences after a certain vesting period and ends
on a date which is not later than 10 years from the
date of offer of the share options.

The New Share Option Scheme expired on 19
August 2022. No new share option was granted
during the Year before the expiry of the New Share
Option Scheme.

As at 31 March 2023, there were 1,000,000 options
(2022: 1,000,000 options) granted under the New
Share Option Scheme.

The foregoing share options shall become lapsed if
the share options remain unexercised on and before
10 years from the date the options were granted as
disclosed in the following table.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED

31

B 75 ¥ 2= B AE

BARESTE (2
FERESE (2
AEATROEEBREZZEASE
Ho+F\BRESINEEARBA £1E
TERBRER RS  BHBRES
TEREEERT  NETRBE%H
#h o WHATE R B RRAE R B AR+
7 BRI -

HBREAER T -_—FN\A+HAH
JE# o REEBER B EMAT - AFE
PR h AT A -

N_E-_=F=A=+—0 BREHE
A% =t 21 2 4% H11,000,00017 B& i (—
T~ 4 11,000,000 B REHE) ©

il 70 TR P FE 2 B AR X 1 B A X
BEERT T F Z AIRE BB RTT(E - Bt
PR g R

HaEEERAR
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31 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The following share options were outstanding under
the New Share Option Scheme during the year:

2023

Directors
iz

Wong Chi Wai
At

Sun Kwai Yu, Vivian
Kz

Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul
L)

Cheung Wang Ip
Rif

Date of share
options granted
REERERS

1112017
0t
9112018
9012018
v
9112018

9112018

BRERE (2
AR 3 R AR S BN R AT 2 B

31
RIEMT :
B =F

Number of share options

BRESR

At At
1 April 31 March
Vesting period 2022 Granted  Exercised Lapsed 2023
o ] B during during during i
from to ZEIZF theyear  theyear  theyer Z5ZZE
] E BA-B RERRY REAGR  REAKN ZAZt-8
400,000 - - - 400,000
017 12/9/2017 100,000 - - - 100,000
92018 120912018 100,000 - - - 100,000
912018 12/9/2018 100,000 - - - 100,000
100,000 - - - 100,000
100,000 - - - 100,000
912018 20/7/2018 100,000 - - - 100,000
1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED

BasREERAR

Exercise period
k4

11712017 - 6/7/2021
181912017 - 6/7/2021
131912018 - 8/7/2028
13/9/2018 - 8/7/2028

11712017 - 6/7/2021

9/712018 - 8/7/2028

21/712018 - 8/7/2028

Exercise
price

per share
SRORE
HKS

AT

2262
2262
2410
2470
2262

2470

2470

Price of the
Company's
shares
immediately
hefore the
grant date
FRARGR
3
REASH
k8

HKS

AT

2220
2220
2410
2470
2220

2470

2470

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z ¥



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 %% i ak MY =

31 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The following share options were outstanding under

the New Share Option Scheme during the year:

2022

Directors

g2
Wong Chi Wai
Ehl

Sun Kwai Yu, Vivian
Kz

Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul
k)

Cheung Wang Ip
Rif

Date of share
options granted

RtERERS

v
11017
9712018

9712018

ot
9712018

9712018
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Vesting period
5B
from fo
i 3
017 12092017
97018 121922018
g8 12192018
97018 207/2018

BRETE (2
B E R AR S BN E R R T 2 B

31
RIEMT :

Number of share options

Blegn

A At
1 Apri 31 March
2021 Granted  Exercised Lapsed 202
i during during during i
5% the year ihe year theyear —F--F
MA-B  REREE  RERAE  RERXN ZA=t-B
400,000 - - - 400000
100,000 - - - 100,000
100,000 - - - 100,000
100,000 - - - 100,000
100,000 - - - 100,000
100,000 - - - 100,000
100,000 - - - 100,000
1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &#&EE AR A a]

Exercise period

e

117112017 - 6/7/2027
130972017 - 6/7/2027
13/972018 - 8/7/2028

13/0/2018 - 8/7/2028

11112017 - 6/7/2021
9/7/2018 - 8/7/2028

211712018 - 8/7/2028

Exercise
price

per share
SRITEE
HKS

&

2262
2.262
2410

2410

2062
2470

2410

Price of the
Company's
shares
immediately
Defore the
grant date
527
Ritngk
REASH
hE
HK$

-1

220
220
2410

2410

2200
2410

2410
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

31 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 31 BIRESTE (&)
During the year ended 31 March 2023, no share BE-_ZT-_=—F=-A=+—HItFE -
options are lapsed (2022: Nil) and no share option BmEREE AN (ZE_F - |E) K
expenses were recognised during the year (2022: FRTEERERERY (2=
Nil). ") -
The following share options were outstanding under FAN - ZEFFTEETERITEAERE
the Schemes during the year: n
2023 2022
—E_=F —E-F
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number of exercise  Number of
price options price options
InREF g Jilip =2
TEE BREA TE(E BRESE
HKS$ per HK$ per
share share
ZRET FRE T
At the beginning and REG K
end of year FR 2.345 1,000,000 2.345 1,000,000
As at 31 March 2023, the Company had 1,000,000 RZE-_=F=ZA=+—H ' AAQ7
(2022: 1,000,000) share options outstanding under Rz E =2 1B % A1,000,000 (=
the Schemes. Should they be fully exercised, T = =4 : 1,000,0007 ) # AT 2 B8
the Company will receive HK$2,345,000 (2022: Rt o Mz SR MIEEREITE AR
HK$2,345,000) (before issue expenses). The AU E)2,345,0008 T (ZE =
exercise in full of these share options would, under 2,345,000/ 70) (R EEITHE)
the present capital structure of the Company, BEARNR ZIRFERZEE  BHITE
result in the issue of 1,000,000 (2022: 1,000,000) % % i IR hE S B B ER S8 171,000,000
additional ordinary shares of the Company and f% (—Z = =4 : 1,000,0000%) & A &
additional share capital of HK$100,000 (2022: T E AR N BB AN 38 A% 2K 100,00078 JT
HK$100,000) and share premium of approximately —F = — 4 : 100,000 7T) A K15
HK$2,245,000 (2022: HK$2,245,000) (before issue i B 492,245,000 T (Z T = =
expenses). 2,245,000 70) (KRB ETHL) -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32 RESERVES 32

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years
are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity of the financial statements.

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the
difference between the nominal value of the shares
of the aggregate share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the Group reorganisation on 7
April 1998 and the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued in exchange therefor.

Other reserve represents the excess of the
consideration over the share of net assets acquired
from non-controlling interests.

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33
AND BALANCES

(a) Key management compensation
Key management includes executive directors
of the Group. The compensation of key
management personnel of the Group is shown

below:

Salaries, allowances and Fre o EBNK
benefits in kind EWiEF

Pension scheme contributions RIRE B R

Total compensation paid to key ENEEEREAE
management personnel e

Note:

Further details of the directors’ and the chief
executive’s emoluments are included in Note 10 to
the financial statements.

B 75 ¥ 2= B AE

it

AEERAFERBEFE ZH#ERE
RESHHBENMBRRZGEER
HERAZT -

AEBZHABBRERBER -ANNEF
MAEtRETZESESHEMEBERER
AR 2 B EER AR B RZIAR
ZMBITROEEIERE -

H i i ER L G [ SF R s
T EEFEZHBD °

BFEBALRZ RER

(a) TEEEABEFHN
TEEBEABBERAEBNTE
E-AEBTBEIEAE ZFHMM

-

2023 2022
—E-= —E-CF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
14,126 15,180
66 72
14,192 15,252

Byt

EENRSTHRABTFMZE—THF
BEHRPBERKRM 0

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &#&EE AR A a]
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

AND BALANCES (continued)

(b)

Significant transactions with related (b)
parties

The directors of the Company are of the view

that Unicon Investments Limited and Century

Grand International Limited (Note), companies

owned by Mr. Cheng Chor Kit, are related

parties of the Group.

33 BHEBATIXRIREGRE)

HEERBALZEERS

ARBEEAR BB LER
BERRRMEREBRAARE
RBERABRDE (ME) SAKE
HABRRBA L -

Lease expense paid to a related party MABBEE A TS24

2
Unicon Investments Limited WEIEEER QA
(Note a) (B iza)
Century Grand International Limited 18 BB A R A 7
(Note a) (K iza)
Addition of right-of-use assets REGREEE
Unicon Investments Limited MWEERERRAR
(Note a) (M ita)
Century Grand International Limited B EEER AT
(Note a) (M ita)
Interest expense of lease liabilities HEBEMNSZH
Unicon Investments Limited WEEERRAR
(Note a) (Htita)
Century Grand International Limited 18 % BB AR A 7
(Note a) (Htita)
Addition on other borrowing E 2 FR A9 12 0
Spouse of Mr. Cheng Chor Kit BRIE S A 2 BB
(Note b) (Htzb)

Note a:

The lease agreement was conducted in accordance
with the terms as agreed by both parties.

Note b:
The borrowing from spouse of Mr. Cheng Chor Kit,
the major shareholder of the Company, is unsecured,

interest bearing at 4% per annum and repayable on
March 2026.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EBAR A7

2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-CF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
1,498 1,498
215 36
4,201 -

= 610

29 81

18 4
15,000 =

Kiita -

T 5 3 TR BT 00 5 05 o 2 K
17 -

Kiatb -
AAREERREE AL EZERBZ

ERREER - RFFE4%:T BXA
R-ZE-_RF=REE-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 2R Y B

34 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 34 ZREBEREXRKET
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Proceeds from disposal of property, plant (a) HEVX BERREFMEBIRE
and equipment
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, REARERERAN  LEYE -
proceeds from disposal of property, plant and MEREEREFRBERIE -
equipment comprise:
2023 2022
—EBEC-C=F —EF-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FETT
Net book amount: IREFE -
Property, plant and equipment ¥ % - iE k&
(Note 15) (H1515) 5,901 56
(Loss)/gain on disposal of LEWME  BEREEZ
property, plant and equipment  (E518) iz
(Note 6) (K1it6) (613) 34
Proceeds from disposal of HEME  BEREZHE
property, plant and equipment  FT1§5KIE 5,288 90

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &% %EEER A
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B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

34 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(continued)

(b) Net debt reconciliation

This section sets out an analysis of net debt
and the movement in net debt for each of the

periods presented:

Cash and cash equivalents
Liquid investment (Note 24)
Pledged deposits (Note 25)
Bank borrowings (Note 28)
Other financing (Note 27)
Lease liabilities (Note 17)

Net debts

Note:

RekReERY
MBEIRE (Bit24)
SHEIREFER (A at25)
RITIEE (B/6£28)
Hipg& (Hfat27)
MEREWF17)

B

Liquid investments comprise current investments that
are traded in an active market, being the Group’s
financial assets held at fair value through profit or

loss.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &5 E AR A A

34 FMERERERME ()

FEKEER
REH S HE AR FE
BRI DT AEEE
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
203,372 256,934
14,329 14,508
- 12,326
(851,265) (529,147)
(27,882) -
(12,073) (12,920)
(173,519) (258,299)
Kra -

MBERERENEEMSZER L
PRE  AKEKHERER
FEINEZEREE -

2%
1L

N

S i A

AN
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34 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR EIE

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(continued)

(b)

Net debt reconciliation (continued)

2023
Net debt as at

31 March 2022
Net cash movement
Exchange realignment
Other movements

Net debt as at
31 March 2023

2022
Net debt as at

31 March 2021
Net cash movement
Exchange realignment
Other movements

Net debt as at
31 March 2022

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

—E-CF
R-ZE--4=FH
“+-RZFEE
e EHFE
ERAE

QL)

R-Z-=£=RH
=+-RZFEE

—Z-CF

RZE=-%=R
“+-RZFEE

HeERFE

EHEE

L)

R-Z--4=H
=+-RZFEE

34 ZmEBE

(b) FEHEIRE)

==
AL E

RMEE )

Cash
and cash Liquid Pledged Bank Other Lease
equivalents  investment deposits borrowings  financing liabilities Total
ReRKE
SEYM RBHRE CEAER  RTEE  HeERE  HEAR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAT FET & TET FET AT
256,934 14,508 12,326 (529,147) - (12,920)  (258,299)
(47,225) - (11,783) 161,225 (28,450) 6,444 80,211
(6,337) - (543) 16,657 568 766 11,111
- (179) - - - (6,363) (6,542)
203,372 14,329 - (351,265) (27,882) (12,078)  (173,519)
390,018 11,715 17,975 (659,546) - 8,772 (243,610)
(140,887) - (6,078) 136,396 - 4,453 (6,116)
7,803 - 429 (5,997) - (69) 2,166
- 2,793 - - - (13,582) (10,739)
256,934 14,508 12,326 (529,147 - (12,920) (258,299)

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED

HaEEERAR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 35 HEHESZ2EMIA
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of R|EHR ST AEZEREEW
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting T
period are as follows:
2023 2022
—E-=& —E-CE
Financial Financial Financial Financial
assets at fair assets at  assets at fair assets at
value through amortised  value through amortised
profit or loss cost  profit or loss cost
RAYE R BRATE REH
iRz  BAEEZ Sk RAREZ
SREE tHEE CREAE SRAE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Financial assets SREE
Accounts receivable JE TR 3 - 210,742 - 289,319
Deposits and other receivables Be R Ef R - 56,386 - 61,990
Cash deposits BeHR = 214,471 - 283,265
Financial assets at fair value BERERRATEIR
through profit or loss LEMEE 27,408 = 27,192 -
27,408 481,599 27,192 634,574
Financial liabilities tREE
Financial liabilities at REERATEL
amortised cost: SRBE:
Accounts and bills payable BRI RERE 202,402 313,403
Financial liabilities included FTAR MR RIER
in other payables, accrued EitEfRzeRARE
liabilities 75,342 56,797
Bank borrowings BIEE 351,265 529,147
Lease liabilities HEBR 12,073 12,920
641,082 912,267
Note: Btz -
The fair values of the financial assets at amortised cost REEAAFTECEMEE 2 ATFEERR
approximate their carrying amounts. EEMEE °

234 KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION AND RESERVE

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

Statement of financial position of the Company

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Interests in subsidiaries

Financial assets at fair value through
profit and loss

Current assets

Prepayments

Financial assets at fair value through
profit and loss

Cash and cash equivalents

Tax recoverable

Total current assets
Total assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company

Share capital

Reserves (Note)

Total equity

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Accrued liabilities and other payables
Bank borrowings

Total current liabilities

Non-current liability
Bank borrowings

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

B 75 ¥ 2= B AE

36 RARZHBRARREES
B

AT 2B EARRE
2023 2022
—E:E=-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
BE
kRBEE
NG 770,070 875,570
BBEBERIEAFEYEREZ
ETHEE = 12,684
770,070 888,254
RBEE
SEENE O 4 _
BBEER AT EYEREY
EMEE 13,079 -
HEMREERY 5,504 2,486
Ay W B 7 I8 195 195
MEEELTE 18,782 2,681
wEE 788,852 890,935
%
ARTAEZEEARGES
[N 43,896 43,896
s (W az) 605,655 614,884
ERenE 649,551 658,780
=R
REaE
st aE R E AR RE 5,776 4,906
RITEE 69,475 141,849
mEAELRE 75,251 146,755
FRBEE
RITEE 64,050 85,400
weE 139,301 232,155
HEZKEE 788,852 890,935

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &#&EE AR A a]
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B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

36 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

36

RKABZHBRRARREESE
B e

(continued)
Note: Mt -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: ARRZEHEBEOT :
Share Share-based Capital
premium payment  redemption Contributed Retained
account reserve reserve surplus profits Total
R
RERZ BRARE
RGEER DES- W HABH REEH @t
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000
TET TET TEr TEr TEx T
At 1 April 2021 RZE--FNA—-H 156,015 670 14 104,750 354,619 616,068
Loss for the year FEER - - - - (1,184) (1,184)
At 31 March 2022 and W-E-—F=A=+-HK
1 April 2022 “Z--¥NA-A 156,015 670 14 104,750 353,435 614,884
Loss for the year FEER - - = = (9,229) (9,229)
At 31 March 2023 REBZ=F=A=1—H 156,015 670 14 104,750 344,206 605,655

The contributed surplus of the Company represents
the excess of the then combined net assets of
the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the same
reorganisation, over the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the
Company’s contributed surplus is available for
cash distribution and/or distribution in specie under
certain circumstances prescribed by section 54
thereof.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EBAR A7

KRB ZHABBRIERER —FAMK
BHBARERZAHEEFERD
ARBRZAXHMETRONEEZZE
%ﬁ o

REARE-NN\—FRFDE - EFE54
GRETARRRIAER THERATABAR
BIERESDIRR,/ HEYHIK
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37 OPERATING LEASE
ARRANGEMENTS

(a)

(b)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 4 [Z #is

As lessor

The Group leases its investment properties
(Note 16) under operating lease arrangements,
with leases negotiated for terms of one year.

At 31 March 2023, the Group had total
future minimum lease receivables under non-
cancellable operating leases with its tenants
falling due as follows:

Within one year —FA
In the second to fifth years,
inclusive

As lessee

The Group leases certain of its office properties
and warehouses under operating lease
arrangements. Leases for properties are
negotiated for terms ranging from one to two
years.

“FEERF
(BHREREMSF)

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED

(a)

(b)

B 75 ¥ 2= B AE

REMORH

i ==

ERHAA
AEBERELEHOLTHEHE
BEME (M16) - HAKER
MEEZHBA—5F -

RZTF-_=F=ZA=+—8 &K
BAREN TRz EAME
AZTAIHHEEEEOMEL 2

ARZERSLT|LOT

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
3,067 766
3,910 1,179
6,977 1,945
EBAEHEA

AEERBEEHNOLTHERES
TRAEYERBE - PERLOK
ERmET ZHEAN T —Z=MF -

BasEARAR
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B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

37 OPERATING LEASE
ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

(b) As lessee (continued)
At 31 March 2023, the Group had total
future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases falling due as
follows:

Within one year —F A

From 1 April 2019, the Group has recognised
right-of-use assets for these leases, except for
short-term lease commitments as disclosed

37 KEMBOZTH#)

(b) EHREBEAE)
R-ZT-_=F=A=+—H K&
ERER T 8 B 5 2 A
HEEMLOFTEN 2R R&ER

S@EMT

2023 20
=¥=== —F-=

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#7 FE7

313 468

B-ZT-AFOA—HE KRLEX
PR ER < R HATE BN - REE
ERRSHERREREEE -

above.
38 COMMITMENTS 38 HEiE

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the RERBITNEHREEZEARAZ B IA

year but not yet incurred is as follows: ™
2023 2022

—EBC-=F —F-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FHET
Property, plant and equipment W - BWEREE 32,470 69,709
Properties under development and ERPMERIEEME

investment properties 23,706 393,210

238 KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EBAR A7
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On 20 March 2023, the Group surrendered
the land use rights of three parcels of land and
certain assets in Huang Hua Yuan Industrial
Area, Tai Ping Town, Shi Xing County, Shaoguan
City, Guangdong Province, as part of the Lands
Resumption Agreement with SXBNR, for a cash
compensation of approximately RMB107,300,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$123,395,000). The
relevant property, plant and equipment, and right-
of-use assets of approximately HK$38,335,000 and
HK$2,765,000, respectively, were presented as
assets held for sale as at 31 March 2023 (Note 26).

Subsequent to the year ended 31 March 2023, the
public auction is completed, and the Group received
RMB15,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$16,929,000) from SXBNR. The Group is
currently in the process of completing the relocation
work of the land and assisting SXBNR in delivering
the land and the construction on it.

39

B 75 ¥ 2= B AE

Hi& =18

EREIFEZ B AE R/ LU
WEz—En  MN-ZEBE-_=F=A=—+
B AEEREMNRNERE RBAMHE
FATFHESEEAIER =B +LHH
THFEAERETEE  URIGASH
& #) A R #107,300,0007T (& R4
123,395,000/ 7T) < @AW E - HE &
A A R A E E 5 Al £938,335,000
BT 2,765,000 T E FEV AR =
T _=—F=-A=1+—RHELEEE
GEZE

REEZT-_=F=-A=1+—HILFE
% AFRMEBEC TR - MASEE S
F gz e AERBYEIAKR15,000,000
7T (FHE R #916,929,0008 7T ) « AEE
EESRZ I ERE TIE - WiHBE
HEARERDEZ IO RE F 2 ER
AT e
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

BB E

RESULTS

REVENUE

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME

TAX

Income tax credit/(expense)
Loss for the year from discontinued

operation

(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

(LOSS)/PROFIT

ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS

6

RGBT
(B#]) /&H

FiEBiER,/ (%)
ERIEERHZ
FRER
FR(ER) /&R
AT & EEAE
(B#])/&H:

USNIL: $2 S 5T DN
SRR ED

BERAR

FRBEE
RBEE

nEE

I Smh

N
& m

=K
if

ARE

BEFE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=t-HLFE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=f —ZT--fF ZZ--F ZZT-FTF —ZT-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
1,209,602 2,316,315 2,693,865 3,114,221 4,221,878
(297,729) 74,407 140,055 196,458 129,171
3,554 (17,549) (35,914) (22,821) (18,760)
= - (702) (8,272) -
(294,169) 56,858 103,439 165,365 110,411
(294,169) 56,858 103,626 170,049 112,384
= - (187) (4,684) (1,973)
(294,169) 56,858 103,439 165,365 110,411
As at 31 March
WR=B=+-8

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—B-=f -—T--fE -—T--% —E-EF —ZE-AfF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FETL FET FET FET
1,001,611 1,240,517 1,336,631 1,325,819 1,541,484
1,094,602 1,677,566 1,874,202 1,548,542 1,847,987
2,096,213 2,918,083 3,210,833 2,874,361 3,389,471
(836,697) (1,151,842) (1,456,316) (1,265,474) (2,040,170)
(154,831)  (176,331)  (255,021)  (382,805)  (139,375)
(991,528) (1,328,173) (1,711,337) (1,648,279) (2,179,545
1,104,685 1,589,910 1,499,496 1,226,082 1,209,926

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED Ea&BEHBR AR
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